Investigating the effects of A β 42-oligomer interacting peptide (AIP) on A β 42-induced toxicity in *Drosophila melanogaster*

Yifei (Phoebe) Zhong

Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics

McGill University

Montréal, QC February 2019

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

© Yifei (Phoebe) Zhong, 2019, All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to first take the opportunity to thank Dr. Gerhard Multhaup for his mentorship. His guidance, support, and general enthusiasm for science are a great source of motivation and really allowed me to flourish in my scientific career in his laboratory. I felt extremely privileged to have a tremendous amount of freedom and trust from Dr. Multhaup in pursuing my research projects, which was instrumental in allowing me to gain more independence, trust my own instincts, and ultimately become a better a scientist.

I would also like to thank all present and past members of the Multhaup lab whom I had the pleasure of working with. Drs. Adeola Shobo and Mark Hancock were absolutely instrumental in collaborating with me on experiments with MALDI and SPR, and helped me very much with their expert advice and suggestions. They are the ones that have truly elevated my work, and I'm extremely glad to have such great (bench) partners in science. Thanks also to Can, James, Irem, and Rob for being ridiculously awesome lab mates and friends, who really supported (and fed) me through both good times and bad – I really feel very lucky to have worked with such amazing people. Annie, Shireen, Filip, and Christian were the first ones to welcome and train me in the laboratory, and I'd like to thank them very much for their help and advice for getting my project started. Also many thanks to the various other trainees through the years – Shaon, Travis, Corvin, Nancy, Meng, Dorothea, Jana, Amandine, Alex, Nick, and Christelle for their support.

Thanks very much to Dr. Wolfgang Reintsch for his expert assistance and advice regarding the confocal microscopy work. Thank you so much for persevering with me when things were looking down and every time we hit a wall (which was often), it really encouraged and motivated me very much during some very frustrating times. Also thanks to the GCRC Histology Core – especially to Ms. Janel Daniel – for helping us to develop some very tricky protocols for processing our specimens.

Additionally, I would like to thank my committee members, Drs. Dusica Maysinger, Yong Rao, and Jean-Francois Trempe for their valuable time, advice, and helpful insights throughout my PhD project. Their input and guidance are always greatly appreciated and really allowed me to improve and push the limits of my projects. I am very thankful for all of your help.

Finally, I would like to thank my family – my mom, dad (Grog), Sandy, Simon, Sean, Jac, Violet, Matthew, all of my aunts and uncles, my cousins, and my stepsisters, who have been with me every step of the way. A lot of what got me through the tough times during my studies was the unconditional love and unwavering support from my parents, who believed in me more than I did myself. I could not have done this without you guys, and thank you so much for holding me up all this time.

Last, but certainly not least, a very big thank you to Alex, my partner in crime and life. Thanks for being the rock in my life through everything. I know you've always got my back, and I am so grateful to have you (and the pets!) in my life. I could not have done any of this without you. You're the best!

ABSTRACT

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is one of the most widespread neurodegenerative diseases in the world, and is currently estimated to affect over 35 million people globally. With the continued rise in life expectancy, the number of afflicted patients will likely double in number every 20 years. The amyloid- β (A β) peptides is likely the primary perpetrator in the pathogenesis of AD. A β peptides are produced from the amyloid precursor protein (APP) through β - and γ -secretase processing. One form of the A β peptide, which has 42 amino acid residues (A β 42), is highly aggregative and can become neurotoxic. Soluble oligomers of the A β 42 peptide composed of 42 amino acid residues (A β 42), in particular, are currently believed to be the principal effectors of synaptic dysfunction and neuronal loss in AD.

As a result, potential therapeutics that specifically targets these toxic oligomers has been a focus of drug development recently. While antibody therapies have positioned Aβ oligomers as a viable therapeutic target for AD, the high manufacturing and administration costs associated with an antibody-based therapeutic raise concerns over the general accessibility of such a treatment for patients. Alternatively, we have focused on investigating the efficacy of a small, peptidic inhibitor of toxic Aβ42-oligomers known as the Aβ42-oligomer interacting peptide (AIP). We have previously successfully demonstrated that AIP was able to specifically target Aβ42 oligomers *in vitro*, as well as ameliorate the Aβ42-induced loss of synaptic spine density and long-term potentiation (LTP) in organotypic hippocampal slices (Barucker et al. 2015).

Now, we have developed and characterized transgenic *Drosophila* models that express human A β 42 in different tissues such as the eye and neurons, essentially allowing us to generate animals that acquired significant and observable A β 42-induced deficits either in morphology and function. We hypothesized that AIP can neutralize A β 42-induced toxicity in these *in vivo* models. We subsequently evaluated the longitudinal effects of chronic AIP administration through the oral route on transgenic *Drosophila* models, and assessed the efficacy of AIP administration via both morphological and functional assays. Our studies show that the protease resistant D-AIP was overall non-toxic to the animals even when administered in longitudinal experiments. We were also able to successfully rescue the A β 42-induced morphological damages in the eyes of the flies with D-AIP supplementation, albeit only in the female animals. This sex-specific discrepancy can likely be attributed to the non-specific binding of D-AIP to a *Drosophila* male-specific sex peptide (Acp70A), which potentially sequestered and reduced the

IV

overall bioavailability of D-AIP in the male animals. In a separate transgenic model, where A β 42 is expressed in a pan-neuronal manner and impairs functional behaviour, the long-term locomotor activities of the flies were significantly rescued by D-AIP. Interestingly, the female transgenic animals with pan-neuronal A β 42 expression were not affected by the expression of neuronal-specific A β 42. Further studies showed that the heads of female transgenic flies have significantly increased insoluble A β 42 content, which may have contributed to an overall decrease in toxicity (i.e. toxicity is generally caused by the *soluble* oligomers) and thus rending them resistant to A β 42-induced changes in locomotor behaviour.

Overall, D-AIP appears to be a non-toxic, stable, and promising modulator of toxic A β 42 oligomers *in vivo*. Going forward, future studies in more advanced vertebrate systems such as transgenic mouse and rat AD models will help us to shed more light on the potential of D-AIP as a therapeutic agent. Ultimately, we strongly hope and anticipate that the highly beneficial A β 42-oligomer neutralization effects of D-AIP will be a formidable strategy for early intervention in AD.

ABRÉGÉ

La maladie d'Alzheimer (MA) est l'une des maladies neurodégénératives les plus répandues au monde. On estime actuellement qu'elle affecte plus de 35 millions de personnes dans le monde. Avec croissance continue de l'espérance de vie, le nombre de patients atteints devrait doubler tous les 20 ans. Les peptides bêta amyloïdes (A β) sont probablement les principaux responsables de la pathogenèse de la maladie d'Alzheimer. Ces peptides A β sont produits à partir du clivage séquentiel de la Protéine Précurseur de l'Amyloïde (APP) par les β - et γ -sécrétases. Une forme du peptide A β , qui possède 42 résidus d'acides aminés (A β 42), est fortement agrégative et peut devenir neurotoxique. Les oligomères solubles de cette forme du peptide A β (A β 42) sont actuellement considérés comme les principaux effecteurs du dysfonctionnement synaptique et de la perte neuronale dans la MA.

En conséquence, le développement de médicaments a récemment porté sur des thérapies potentielles ciblant spécifiquement ces oligomères toxiques. Alors que les traitements par anticorps ont positionné les oligomères Aβ en tant que cible thérapeutique viable pour la MA, les coûts de fabrication et d'administration élevés associés à un traitement à base d'anticorps soulèvent des préoccupations quant à l'accessibilité générale d'un tel traitement pour les patients. Alternativement, nous nous sommes concentrés sur la recherche de l'efficacité d'un petit inhibiteur peptidique d'oligomères toxiques de Aβ42 connu sous le nom de peptide interagissant avec les oligomères Aβ42 (AIP). Nous avons déjà démontré avec succès que l'AIP était capable de cibler *in vitro* les oligomères de Aβ42, ainsi que d'améliorer la perte de densité des épines dendritiques et la potentialisation à long terme (PLT) induites par l'Aβ42 (Barucker et al. 2015).

À travers cette étude, nous avons développé et caractérisé des modèles transgéniques de drosophile qui expriment l'Aβ42 humain dans différents tissus tels que l'œil et les neurones, ce qui nous permet essentiellement de générer des animaux qui acquièrent des déficits significatifs et observables induits par l'Aβ42, que ce soit des déficits morphologiques ou bien fonctionnels. Nous avons émis l'hypothèse que l'AIP peut neutraliser la toxicité induite par l'Aβ42 dans ces modèles *in vivo*. Nous avons ensuite évalué les effets longitudinaux de l'administration chronique d'AIP par voie orale sur des modèles de drosophiles transgéniques, et évalué l'efficacité de l'administration d'AIP par des tests à la fois morphologiques et fonctionnels. Par ailleurs, nos études montrent que le D-AIP résistant à la protéase était globalement non toxique pour les animaux, même administré longitudinalement. Nous avons

également pu sauver avec succès les dommages morphologiques induits par l'Aβ42 avec une supplémentation en D-AIP dans les yeux des mouches, même si ce n'est que chez les femelles. Cette divergence spécifique au sexe peut probablement être attribuée à la liaison non spécifique de D-AIP à un peptide spécifique de Drosophila de sexe mâle (Acp70a), qui pourrait potentiellement séquestrer et réduire la biodisponibilité globale de D-AIP chez les animaux mâles. En outre, dans un modèle transgénique séparé où Aβ42 est exprimé de manière pan-neuronale et altère le comportement fonctionnel, les activités locomotrices à long terme des mouches ont été significativement sauvées par D-AIP. Curieusement, les animaux transgéniques femelles présentant une expression pan-neuronale de Aβ42 n'étaient pas affectés par l'expression de Aβ42 dans les neurones. Des études ultérieures ont montré que les têtes de mouches transgéniques femelles présentaient une augmentation significative de la teneur en Aβ42 insoluble, ce qui aurait pu contribuer à une diminution globale de la toxicité (la toxicité étant généralement causée par les oligomères solubles), ainsi rendant les drosophiles femelles résistantes aux modifications de la locomotive induites par l'Aβ42.

Globalement, la D-AIP semble être un modulateur non toxique, stable et prometteur des oligomères toxiques de la A β 42 *in vivo*. Des futures études sur des systèmes plus avancés de vertébrés, tels que les modèles MA transgéniques de souris et de rats, nous aideront à mieux comprendre le potentiel de la D-AIP en tant qu'agent thérapeutique. En fin de compte, nous espérons vivement et anticipons que les effets extrêmement bénéfiques de la neutralisation des oligomères de l'A β 42 par D-AIP constitueront une stratégie formidable pour une intervention précoce dans la MA.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

As dictated by the McGill Thesis Guidelines, this thesis is composed of 5 chapters in a manuscriptbased format. The chapters are composed of a literature review, three original manuscripts, and a discussion. One manuscript has been submitted to be published, while the other two are in preparation for publication. I am the first author of all three manuscripts. A detailed list and description of the contribution of individual authors are listed below:

Manuscript I: The differential effects of human Aβ42-induced toxicity in the eye and central nervous system of *Drosophila melanogaster*

Yifei Zhong and Gerhard Multhaup

I designed and performed all experiments, analyzed the data, prepared and compiled the figures, and wrote the manuscript. GM led the research, designed experiments, and wrote the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of this manuscript.

Manuscript II: The D-enantiomeric peptide AIP neutralizes toxic Aβ oligomers *in vivo* and rescues rough eye defects in transgenic *Drosophila melanogaster*

Submitted to Journal of Neurochemistry

Yifei Zhong, Adeola Shobo, Mark Hancock, and Gerhard Multhaup

I designed and performed all *Drosophila* and biochemical experiments, analyzed the data, prepared and compiled the figures, and wrote the manuscript. AS performed the MALDI-MSI and mass spectrometry experiments, analyzed data, and helped to compile figures and write the manuscript. MH generated the SPR data, analyzed data, and helped to compile figures, write, and edit the manuscript. GM led the research, designed experiments, and wrote the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of this manuscript.

Manuscript III: The Aβ42-oligomer Interacting Peptide (D-AIP) attenuates amyloid-β42 induced decreases in *Drosophila melanogaster* locomotion

Yifei Zhong, Adeola Shobo, Mark Hancock, and Gerhard Multhaup

I designed and performed all *Drosophila* and biochemical experiments, analyzed the data, prepared and compiled the figures, and wrote the manuscript. AS performed the MALDI-MSI and mass spectrometry experiments, analyzed data, and helped to compile figures and write the manuscript. MH generated the SPR data, analyzed data, and helped to compile figures, write, and edit the manuscript. GM led the research, designed experiments, and wrote the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of this manuscript.

CONTRIBUTION TO ORIGINAL KNOWLEDGE

- I successfully established two temperature-controlled human Aβ42-expressing transgenic models of *Drosophila melanogaster* to analyse the effects of human Aβ42-induced toxicity *in vivo* (Manuscript I).
- **II.** Using climbing assays, I showed that human Aβ42 has minimal effects on the longevity and locomotor activity of eye-specific human Aβ42-expressing transgenic animals (Manuscript I).
- III. I demonstrated that the expression of eye-specific human Aβ42 induced the rough eye phenotype in adults, but only when the transgenic protein is expressed during larval stages of the animals (Manuscript I).
- **IV.** With this data, I proposed that the mature structure of the adult *Drosophila* eye is resistant to human Aβ42-induced toxicity (Manuscript I).
- **V.** I concluded that human Aβ42 must be expressed during developmental stages in order to induce the rough eye phenotype (Manuscript I).
- VI. I showed that human Aβ42 was generally neurotoxic and affected the longevity and locomotor activities of the transgenic animals when expressed in a neuronal-specific manner, regardless of the stage of development of the animal (Manuscript I).
- VII. I propose that *Drosophila* neurons are generally susceptible to human Aβ42-induced toxicity (Manuscript I).
- VIII. My data suggests that overall, different cells appear to have different susceptibilities to human Aβ42-induced toxicity (Manuscript I).
 - **IX.** I demonstrated that both L- and D-AIP supplementation have minimal effects on the longevity and locomotor activity of transgenic, eye-specific human Aβ42-expressing animals (Manuscript II)
 - X. Using live confocal microscopy methods, I showed that only D-AIP was able to ameliorate the human Aβ42-induced rough eye phenotype in the transgenics at day 5 post eclosion, albeit only in the female animals in a sex-specific manner (Manuscript II).
 - **XI.** Using advanced MALDI-MSI, I showed that L-AIP was rapidly degraded and undetectable in the animals, while D-AIP was stable and present at all times (Manuscript II).
- **XII.** I propose that the stability and increased *in vivo* bioavailability of D-AIP contributed to the rescue of the eye phenotype (Manuscript II).

- XIII. Comparing the MALDI-MSI data, I demonstrated that D-AIP was localized to the gut of the male transgenic animals at day 5 post eclosion, compared to the females which had D-AIP localization mainly in the thorax and head regions (Manuscript II).
- XIV. Confocal data from day 28 post eclosion showed that the rescue of the human Aβ42-induced rough eye phenotype in the female transgenics was ameliorated, indicating that the effects brought on by D-AIP supplementation were reversible (Manuscript II).
- **XV.** I found that at day 28 post eclosion, the distribution of D-AIP in the male transgenic animals have localized to the heads of the animals (Manuscript II).
- **XVI.** I found an unknown protein that co-localized with human Aβ42 in the bodies of the male transgenic animals, and proposed that it likely sequestered D-AIP in a non-specific manner and lowered its bioavailability in the male animals (Manuscript II).
- **XVII.** I identified the unknown protein to be Acp70A, a male-specific *Drosophila* sex peptide (Manuscript II).
- **XVIII.** I demonstrated that Acp70A and D-AIP co-localized in the bodies of the male animals at day 5 post eclosion, and in the heads at day 28 post eclosion using MALDI-MSI (Manuscript II).
 - XIX. From these results, I proposed that Acp70A non-specifically sequestered D-AIP in the male transgenic animals only, thus limited its bioavailability and hindered its ability to rescue human Aβ42-induced eye degeneration in the males (Manuscript II).
 - **XX.** Using the neuron-specific human $A\beta42$ -expressing strain, I showed that D-AIP supplementation was able to rescue defects in the locomotor behaviour of the transgenics, but only in the male animals in a sex specific manner (Manuscript III).
 - XXI. Comparing the climbing abilities of the female transgenics raised on non-supplemented or D-AIP supplemented food, I determined that the female neuron-specific human Aβ42-expressing animals were not susceptible to human Aβ42-induced toxicity (Manuscript III).
- **XXII.** Immunoprecipitation data from fly head and body lysates show significantly increased amounts of non-soluble human Aβ42 in only the heads of the transgenic females (Manuscript III).
- XXIII. With this data, I proposed that the increased pool of aggregated and non-toxic human Aβ42 in the heads of the female transgenic likely protected the animals from human Aβ42-induced toxicity (Manuscript III).
- XXIV. Overall, I showed that D-AIP supplementation was able to attenuate human Aβ42-induced defects in both eye morphology and behaviour, and that D-AIP is well tolerated and efficacious in our transgenic fly models.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. A selection of Aβ-targeting monoclonal antibodies and their trial status	2	0
---	---	---

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Amyloid plaque formation from Aβ aggregation	4
Figure 2. The amyloidogenic processing of APP by secretases	6
Figure 3. The Drosophila UAS/Gal4 expression system	15
Figure 4. The mechanism of action of peptidic inhibitors on amyloid aggregation	23
Figure 5. The adult <i>Drosophila</i> compound eye structure is resistant to Aβ42-induced toxicity	
Figure 6. Expression of human Aβ42 in transgenic flies is activated at 29°C	
Figure 7. Neuron-specific expression of human A β 42 negatively affects the	
locomotor behaviour of transgenic animals	41
Figure 8. Neuron-specific expression of human A β 42 has major impacts on the	
longevity of transgenic D. melanogaster	42
Figure 9. Compound eye morphology is not affected by neuron-specific	
expression of human Aβ42	
Figure 10. Neuron-specific expression levels of Aβ42 in transgenic flies	45
Figure 11. A β 42-induced "rough eye" phenotype is rescued in female transgenic	
flies at day 5 post eclosion by D-AIP supplementation	61
Figure 12. Distribution of label-free AIP in wildtype and transgenic A β 42 flies at day 5	
post eclosion, as detected by MALDI-MSI at 20µm resolution	64
Figure 13. D-AIP supplementation cannot rescue Aβ42-induced "rough eye" phenotype	
in female transgenic flies at day 28 post eclosion	66
Figure 14. Supplementation with scrambled D-AIP peptide has	
no effect on eye morphology in wildtype and Aβ42-expressing flies	68
Figure 15. D-AIP is localized to the heads of male transgenic flies by	
day 28 post eclosion, as detected by MALDI-MSI at 20µm resolution	70
Figure 16. Endogenous, male-specific Drosophila peptide co-localizes with D-AIP	71
Figure 17. Development of AIP-Trap as a novel intervention to prevent toxic	
amyloid formation during early stages of AD	73
Figure 18. D-AIP supplementation rescues Aβ42-induced locomotor deficits	
in male transgenic flies	94

Figure 19. AIP supplementation has no effect on the gross eye morphology and
survival of transgenic Aβ42 flies95
Figure 20. Neuron-specific BACE1 expression has no effect on the
climbing behaviour of transgenic flies
Figure 21. Distribution of label-free AIP in wildtype and transgenic A β 42 flies are similar at day 5
post eclosion101
Figure 22. D-AIP localizes to the body of female transgenic flies at day 28 post eclosion
Figure 23. The expression of A β 42 is similar in transgenic animals regardless
of sex or AIP treatment
Figure 24. Insoluble Aβ42 levels are increased in the heads of transgenic female flies106

Supplemental Figure 1. AIP-supplemented food does not affect survival or locomotor behaviour of	
transgenic Aβ42 flies	80
Supplemental Figure 2. Expression of human A β 42 is similar in both male and female transgenic	
flies regardless of food supplementation	82
Supplemental Figure 3. Eye-specific BACE1 expression has no effect on gross morphology	of
ommatidia in male (M) or female (F) transgenic flies	83

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	II
ABSTRACT	IV
ABRÉGÉ	VI
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	VIII
CONTRIBUTION TO ORIGINAL KNOWLEDGE	X
LIST OF TABLES	XII
LIST OF FIGURES	XIII

1
2
2
3
3
4
5
5
7
8
9
11
11
11
12
12
13
14

3.3.1 Drosophila melanogaster	14
4. Therapeutics in development for AD	17
4.1 Secretase inhibitors and modulators	17
4.2 Anti-Aβ therapies	19
4.3 Other targets of treatment	21
4.4 Peptidic inhibitors	22
4.4.1 Development of peptidic inhibitors for AD	22
4.4.2 Challenges associated with peptidic inhibitors	24
4.4.3 D-amino acids peptide therapeutics	25
5. Aim and rationale of this thesis	26
II. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION	28
1. The differential effects of human A β 42-induced toxicity in the eye and	
central nervous system of Drosophila melanogaster	29
1.1 Foreword	30
1.2 Abstract	31
1.3 Introduction	32
1.4 Materials and Methods	34
1.4.1 Transgenic Drosophila	34
1.4.2 Temperature-induced Aβ42 expression	34
1.4.3 Confocal imaging	34
1.4.4 Locomotor assay	35
1.4.5 Tissue homogenates	35
1.4.6 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot	36
1.4.7 Statistical analyses	36
1.5 Results	37
1.5.1 Adult D. melanogaster eye structure is resistant to structural defects induced by	1
human Aβ42 toxicity	37
1.5.2 Locomotor activity and survival of transgenic D. melanogaster are minimally	
affected by the eye-specific expression of human Aβ42	40

1.5.3 D. melanogaster neurons are generally sensitive to	
human Aβ42-induced toxicity	
1.5.4 Neuron-specific expression of human A β 42 in <i>D. mela</i>	nogaster
has little effect on gross eye structure	
1.6 Discussion	
1.7 Conclusion	
1.8 Acknowledgements	
2. The D-enantiomeric peptide AIP neutralizes toxic A β oligomers <i>in vi</i>	vo and rescues rough eye
defects in transgenic Drosophila melanogaster	
2.1 Foreword	51
2.2 Abstract	
2.3 Introduction	
2.4 Materials and Methods	55
2.4.1 Transgenic Drosophila	55
2.4.2 Peptides	55
2.4.3 Fly food and AIP supplementation	55
2.4.4 Stability of AIP in the feed and flies analysed by matrix	-assisted laser desorption/
ionization (MALDI) mass spectrometry	
2.4.5 Tissue homogenates	
2.4.6 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot	
2.4.7 Live confocal imaging	
2.4.8 Locomotor assay	
2.4.9 Mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI-MSI)	
2.4.10 Surface plasmon resonance (SPR)	
2.4.11 Statistical analyses	
2.5 Results	60
2.5.1 A β 42-induced toxicity is rescued by D-AIP only in	
female transgenic flies at 5 days post-eclosion	60
2.5.2 Differential localization of label-free D-AIP in male and	female
Aβ42 transgenic flies at 5 days post-eclosion	
2.5.3 Altered rescue efficacy and localization of D-AIP in $A\beta 4$	-2
transgenic flies at 28 days post-eclosion	

2.5.4 A male-specific sex peptide alters D-AIP localization and	
thereby impairs rescue of "rough eye" phenotype	71
2.6 Discussion	74
2.7 Conclusion	78
2.7 Acknowledgements	79
2.8 Supplemental figures	80
3. The D-enantiomeric Aβ42-oligomer Interacting Peptide (D-AIP) attenuates amyloid-β42 i	nduced
defects in Drosophila melanogaster locomotion	84
3.1 Foreword	85
3.2 Abstract	86
3.3 Introduction	87
3.4 Materials and Methods	89
3.4.1 Transgenic <i>Drosophila</i>	89
3.4.2 Peptides	89
3.4.3 AIP food supplementation	89
3.4.4 Live confocal imaging	90
3.4.5 Locomotor assay	90
3.4.6 Tissue homogenates	91
3.4.7 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot	91
3.4.8 Mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI-MSI)	92
3.4.9 Statistical analyses	92
3.5 Results	93
3.5.1 D-AIP administration ameliorates Aβ42-induced locomotor	
deficits only in male animals	93
3.5.2 Distribution of label-free D-AIP is similar between male and female A β 42	
transgenic flies at 5 days post eclosion	99
3.5.3 Altered localization of D-AIP in female Aβ42 transgenic animals	
at 28 days post eclosion	99
3.5.4 Insoluble deposits of A β 42 is significantly increased in the	
heads of transgenic female animals	99
3.6 Discussion	108
3.7 Conclusion	110

3.8 Acknowledgements	111
III. GENERAL DISCUSSION	112
1. Modeling Aβ42-induced toxicity <i>in vivo</i>	114
1.1 The mature structure of the compound eye is resistant to Aβ42-induced toxicity	115
1.2 Neurons have a general susceptibility to Aβ42-induced toxicity	116
1.3 Development of novel <i>in vivo</i> models with adult-onset Aβ42 production	117
1.4 Conclusion	119
2. Evaluating the efficacy of AIP on neutralizing Aβ42-induced toxicity <i>in vivo</i>	
2.1 The biostability of L- and D-AIP	
2.2 Evidence that D-AIP may have the ability to cross the invertebrate BBB	121
2.3 D-AIP neutralizes the toxic effects of Aβ42	
2.4 Rescue of Aβ42-induced toxicity by D-AIP is sex-specific	
2.5 Future validation of D-AIP in complex rodent AD models	
2.6 Conclusion	

REFERENCES	
ABBREVIATIONS	

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Alzheimer's disease

1.1 History of AD and current statistics

In the early 1900s, Alois Alzheimer first described a particular form of dementia. His observations were based on a patient named Auguste D, a 51-years-old woman who had a striking cluster of symptoms that included reduced comprehension and memory, aphasia, disorientation, and paranoia amongst others symptoms (Maurer et al., 1997). Almost 70 years would pass after Alzheimer's first characterization of the disease before it would be recognized as an incredibly common cause of dementia and a major cause of death in the aged population (Katzman, 1976). Today, AD is estimated to affect 5.7 million people in the United States alone, and this number is expected to more than double by 2050 (Hebert et al., 2013; Alzheimer's, 2018).

There are currently no curative treatments that exist for AD, and available therapeutics are mostly used symptomatically to manage the disorder. Additionally, people aged 65 and older tend to survive an average of 4 to 8 years after AD diagnoses (Ganguli et al., 2005; Tom et al., 2015) – with some living as long as 20 years with AD (Brookmeyer et al., 2002; Larson et al., 2004). These individuals will likely spend an average of 40% of this time in the most severe stage of dementia, and approximately 75% of them will be significantly incapacitated and require placement in nursing homes by age 80 (Arrighi et al., 2010). The lack of cure and the long duration of illness before death adds significant burden to both personal caretakers and national agencies, and as patient population is projected to increase in the coming years, the situation could potentially precipitate into a global public health crisis. As such, it is now of paramount importance to strongly focus on the development of therapeutics to reduce symptoms, prevalence, or slow the onset of dementia in AD.

1.2 Neuropathology of AD

It is usually upon the histological examinations of the brain specimens that a definitive diagnosis of AD can be made. Here, the major pathologies identified in the autopsied brains of AD patients are the presence of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) and senile or amyloid plaques (Ramirez-Bermudez, 2012).

1.2.1 Neurofibrillary tangles

The NFTs consist of abnormal intraneuronal accumulations of hyperphosphorylated tau protein (Mandelkow and Mandelkow, 1998; Iqbal and Grundke-Iqbal, 2002; Crews and Masliah, 2010), which is a microtubule-associated protein (MAP) that stabilize neuronal microtubules in axons during cell process development and transport (Drewes et al., 1998). Many protein kinases are involved in tau hyperphosphorylation (Wang et al., 2013). Two kinases in particular – glycogen synthase kinase- 3β (GSK- 3β) and cell division protein kinase 5 (cdk5) – have been shown to phosphorylate tau at most of the known sites associated with AD and are currently targets of interest in the developments of therapeutics (Wang et al., 1998; Godemann et al., 1999; Liu et al., 2002; Porzig et al., 2007). It is thought that the abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau (Mandelkow et al., 1995; Trojanowski and Lee, 1995; Delacourte and Buee, 1997) causes its dissociation from the microtubule, which then in turn instigates the breakdown of intracellular traffic and axonal dystrophy (Mandelkow and Mandelkow, 1998). The free, hyperphosphorylated tau can then sequester normal tau and other MAP proteins, and aggregates first into paired helical filaments (PHFs) then bundle into NFTs (Kidd, 1963, 1964; Wisniewski et al., 1976; Crowther, 1991). NFTs themselves have a stereotypic progression pattern in the brain that correlates with the severity of the cognitive decline, and its topographic staging is widely used for the pathological diagnosis of AD (i.e. Braak staging) (Braak and Braak, 1991).

1.2.2 Amyloid plaques

Amyloid or senile plaques are defined as extracellular deposits of the amyloid beta (A β) protein in the brain parenchyma (Kumar et al., 2015). They consist of a central core of A β , a small 4 kDa peptide, that is surrounded by abnormally configured neuronal processes or neurites (Perl, 2010) (**Figure 1**). There are some studies that suggest A β plaques can also enhance the formation of NFTs (Gotz et al., 2004; Seino et al., 2010). For example, Delacourte et al. suggested that there might be a synergistic interaction between A β - and tau-related pathologies despite differences in their spatiotemporal distribution where the detection of A β aggregates is linked to the appearance of tau pathology, but advanced tau pathology did not lead to the manifestation of A β aggregates (Delacourte et al., 1999; Delacourte et al., 2002).



Figure 1. Amyloid plaque formation from Aβ aggregation

Simplified schematic of the A β aggregation pathway, A β monomers can aggregate into soluble, neurotoxic low-n oligomers. The oligomeric complex then undergoes rearrangement to assemble into protofibrils, which then go on to form mature fibrils and subsequently insoluble plaques. These plaques can be visualized in brain tissue of AD patients using stains or amyloid specific antibodies (dark brown stained patches). Micrographs taken from (Perl, 2010).

2. Aβ and the amyloid precursor protein (APP)

The process by which $A\beta$ is generated has been well studied, and involves the sequential proteolytic cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP). APP is a member of a family of conserved type I membrane proteins (Coulson et al., 2000). It has several isoforms derived from alternative splicing, where peptides with 695, 751, and 770 amino acids are the major forms. Of these, APP695 is the primary species produced by neurons, whereas APP751 and APP770 are produced by cells in the periphery such as platelets and leukocytes (Li et al., 1999).

2.1 Aβ production and APP processing

Full-length APP is first cleaved by β -secretase or β -site APP cleaving enzyme (BACE1), which generates a large, secreted derivative (sAPP β) and a membrane bound fragment of 99 amino acids (β -CTF). β -CTF then undergoes a second cleavage, this time via γ -secretase (i.e. with active presenilin-1 or -2 (PSEN1/2)), to generate A β fragments and a cytosolic element, the APP intracellular domain (AICD). γ -secretase cleavage, however, is imprecise, which results in the production of A β species of various lengths. Of the A β species that are produced, the moiety with 40 amino acids (A β 40) is the most abundant, while the form with 42 amino acids (A β 42) is more hydrophobic, fibrillogenic, and is the primary species that are deposited in AD brains (**Figure 2**). Alternatively, APP can also be cleaved by α -secretase in a non-amyloidogenic fashion to produce α -CTF and sAPP α , which can then undergo γ -secretase cleavage to produce a small p3 peptide and AICD (reviewed in (Selkoe, 2001; Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Zheng and Koo, 2006; Murphy and LeVine, 2010)).



Figure 2. The amyloidogenic processing of APP by secretases

APP is sequentially cleaved first by β -secretase to produce soluble sAPP β (green) and β -CTF (orange and blue), which is subsequently cleaved by γ -secretase to generate AICD (blue) and A β species of various lengths (orange). A β 42 (red) in particular, is highly hydrophobic and prone to aggregation. Specifically, low order soluble oligomers of A β 42 have been identified as the primary cause of synaptic dysfunction and cell death.

A β is mainly produced in the brain by astrocytes and neurons; however, non-neuronal tissues such as skin, skeletal muscle, and the intestinal epithelium have also been shown to secrete A β (Puig and Combs, 2013). It is normally soluble and secreted into the extracellular space of the brain and then cleared by the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and vascular system. The most abundant isoform of A β in the human brain is A β 40 and the second most common being A β 42 (Ida et al., 1996; Mo et al., 2015). The turnover of soluble A β is rapid in experiments with transgenic mouse models, and shows that it is generally cleared from the extracellular spaces and CSF with a halflife of just 0.7-2.0 hours (Savage et al., 1998; Abramowski et al., 2008). The overall clearance of A β has been shown to be mediated in the periphery by the capillary beds of the kidneys, liver, gastrointestinal tract, and the skin (Xiang et al., 2015).

2.2 The amyloid hypothesis

The suspicion that $A\beta$ was the causative component of AD was first initiated in the early 1980s (Glenner and Wong, 1984). Since then, the amyloid hypothesis has been the dominant model of AD pathogenesis (reviewed in (Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Selkoe and Hardy, 2016)). Genetic mutations that cause familial AD (FAD) have also been discovered in three genes – APP, PSENI, and PSEN2 – which are all integrally involved in Aβ production (Bettens et al., 2013). Other genetic studies have also shown that duplication of the APP locus on chromosome 21, as well as extra copies of the chromosome itself in Down syndrome causes patients to develop Aß plaque deposits and early-onset dementia (Prasher et al., 1998; Rovelet-Lecrux et al., 2006). Some FAD mutations are known to cause accelerated accumulation of amyloid plaques and early-onset dementia (Levy et al., 1990; Goate et al., 1991; Tsubuki et al., 2003; Tomiyama et al., 2008; Bettens et al., 2013), and have been shown to either increase the level of APP processing by secretases or increase the production of the amyloidogenic A β 42 species (Citron et al., 1992; Eckman et al., 1997; Chavez-Gutierrez et al., 2012). Other APP mutations in the middle of the A β coding sequence can also increase the aggregation propensity or inhibit degradation of A β peptides (Tsubuki et al., 2003; Tomiyama et al., 2008). Furthermore, a recent mutation that was discovered in APP, which diminished amyloidogenic A^β production, appears to be protective against the development of AD (Jonsson et al., 2012). Overall, this evidence seem to largely indicate that it is A β production and aggregation that drives FAD.

While the genetics of sporadic AD – the vast majority of disease cases – are more complex, the apolipoprotein *APOE* ϵ 4 allele has been found to have the greatest increase in risk for AD (Corder et al., 1993; Chiang et al., 2010; Verghese et al., 2011). ApoE4 appears to exert a variety of effects in the brain, but it has been shown to be a strong modulator of A β pathology. For example, knockin mice expressing human ApoE4 with APP and PSEN1 FAD mutations have greatly increased A β plaque pathology and reduced A β clearance (Castellano et al., 2011;

Verghese et al., 2011), while transgenic mice expressing both human APP with FAD mutations and the protective ApoE2 protein have decreased amyloid plaque pathology (Fagan et al., 2002). Additionally, the reductions of ApoE levels have also been shown to reduce A β plaque burden in mice (Bales et al., 1997; Kim et al., 2011; Bien-Ly et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012).

The evidences from studies on both sporadic and familiar AD suggest that A β production and aggregation have strong effects on disease pathogenesis. A β is likely the key initiator of AD pathogenesis, which forms the central tenet of the amyloid hypothesis.

2.3 The role of Aβ in AD pathogenesis

While there is an undeniable linkage between A β and AD pathogenesis, the correlation is poor, both temporally and anatomically, between the deposition of A β , neuronal death, and the appearance of clinical symptoms in AD. AB deposition seems to occur first and more severely in brain regions such as the precuneus and frontal lobes, while neuronal death has generally been reported to begin and occur most readily in the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus, where there are few Aβ plaques (Braak and Braak, 1991; Serrano-Pozo et al., 2011). Tau pathology actually correlates much more closely with the pattern of neuronal loss, in both spatial and temporal manners, compared to amyloid plaque deposits (Arriagada et al., 1992b; Arriagada et al., 1992a; Gomez-Isla et al., 1997; Serrano-Pozo et al., 2011). This has led to the criticism and suggestion that perhaps AB is not the true mediator of neurodegeneration in AD. FAD cases, however, have helped to shed some light on the situation. A β is known as the main driver of disease pathology in FAD, and interestingly, the pathology in FAD closely resembles what is observed in the sporadic disease, where A β plaque deposition is anatomically disconnected from areas of severe neuronal loss (Shepherd et al., 2009; Bateman et al., 2012). While the mechanism for this disconnection between A β deposition, tau pathology, and neuron death is not yet clear, genetic data shows that it is possible for $A\beta$ to drive tau pathology and neuron loss without obvious colocalization between plaques and neurodegeneration (Musiek and Holtzman, 2015).

Interestingly, it has been shown previously that aggregated and phosphorylated tau pathology can be observed in both the brainstem and entorhinal cortex of asymptomatic people (Braak and Del

Tredici, 2011), and with age, hippocampal neurofibrillary tau pathology is almost ubiquitous in the region, but seems to be confined to limbic regions in cognitively normal and amyloid-free individuals (Price and Morris, 1999; Elobeid et al., 2012). However, tau seems to be able to spread into neocortical regions only in people with coexistent A β pathology, who will then generally go on to develop AD dementia (Price and Morris, 1999; Knopman et al., 2003). This and other studies examining the cognitively normal or AD patients suggests that A β is required for tau pathology and toxicity (West et al., 1994; Gomez-Isla et al., 1996; Petersen et al., 2006).

2.4 Soluble Aβ drives AD pathology

Soluble $A\beta$ – more specifically, the neurotoxic $A\beta42$ species – can be purified from brain regions that are subjected to intense neuronal loss such as the hippocampus (McLean et al., 1999; Tomic et al., 2009; Esparza et al., 2013). Soluble oligomers of $A\beta42$ have been identified in AD brain lysates that can exert a wide variety of pathogenic effects both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Walsh et al., 2002; Shankar et al., 2008; Mucke and Selkoe, 2012). Shankar et al. showed that amyloid plaque cores isolated from AD brains did not impair long-term potentiation (LTP) *in vitro*, but the $A\beta42$ oligomers that were released via solubilizing plaques with harsh denaturants could impair LTP (Shankar et al., 2008). As well, they found that oligomeric $A\beta42$ isolated directly from AD cortex could decrease synaptic number and function, and impair memory in healthy adult rats (Shankar et al., 2008). In studies with post-mortem human brain tissues, it was also found that nondemented brains that were plaque-rich had much lower oligomer-to-plaque ratios compared to the mildly demented plaque-rich patients (Esparza et al., 2013). These and other results demonstrating the toxicity of soluble $A\beta42$ oligomers led to the hypothesis that amyloid plaques are likely a protective response where toxic soluble oligomers are temporarily sequestered to prevent further toxicity (Hong et al., 2014).

There is also some evidence indicating that A β 42 oligomers can drive tau pathology. For example, crossing human APP expressing transgenic mice with human Tau expressing transgenic mice significantly enhanced tau deposition but did not change overall A β deposition (Lewis et al., 2001). As well, treatment with soluble A β 42 oligomers isolated from AD cortex induced neuritic dystrophy and tau hyperphosphorylation in primary rat hippocampal neurons (Jin et al., 2011).

Generally, the expression of tau seems to enable and amplify the neurotoxic downstream consequences of A β 42 (Roberson et al., 2011; Maruyama et al., 2013).

Taken as a whole, $A\beta$ peptides and specifically soluble $A\beta42$ oligomers seem to play a central role in AD pathogenesis by facilitating neuronal loss, synaptic dysfunctions, downstream tau dysfunctions, and other AD-related pathologies. As such, $A\beta42$ oligomers have become viable drug targets in the development of therapeutics for AD.

3. Animal models of AD

The progress of AD research over the past two decades have uncovered much information regarding the susceptibility and causative genes associated with AD, as well as proteins involved in the pathogenic process such as the secretases and APP (reviewed in (Van Cauwenberghe et al., 2016)). This has profoundly facilitated the development and availability of genetically altered and/or transgenic animal models. These animal models of AD have played major roles in defining disease-related mechanisms as well as in the evaluation of novel therapeutic approaches. As there are a large variety of AD animal models – both in invertebrates and vertebrates – currently used in research, selection of the model that is most appropriate and useful typically depends on the scientific questions to be answered.

3.1 Mammalian models of AD

Neurodegeneration related to specific human diseases such as AD is not a global event and usually initiates in specific brain compartments. This makes the complex brains structures of higher order mammalian vertebrates (i.e. with greater homology to human physiological processes and anatomical structures) particularly excellent *in vivo* models of human neurodegenerative diseases.

3.2 Transgenic rodent models

Mammalian rodent models are commonly used in AD studies, as they are easier and more cost effective to maintain compared to non-human primates (NHPs) and other large mammalian models. They also have relatively short life spans to facilitate long-term studies, and are amenable to transgenic techniques. Although rodents are genetically more distant to humans compared to the NHPs, their gene expression profiles have been shown to be similar to humans (Strand et al., 2007; Chan et al., 2009; Zheng-Bradley et al., 2010).

3.2.1 Mouse

Murine models are currently the most popular animal choice for modeling AD *in vivo*, as transgenic techniques are well established in the mouse and it is relatively easy to generate transgenic lines (Doyle et al., 2012). The cognitive abilities of mouse models are well characterized and have been shown to accurately emulate neurodegeneration in humans along with the associated cognitive and behavioural changes (Webster et al., 2014).

A wide variety of transgenic mouse models have been developed for AD. FAD-associated mutations (such as in *APP*, *PSEN*, and/or *MAPT* (tau)) can be introduced to the existing murine genetic background, and driven by strong neural-specific promoter such as the platelet derived growth factor-beta (PDGP) promoter (Hsia et al., 1999; Mucke et al., 2000), hamster prion promoter (PrP) (Borchelt et al., 1996; Hsiao et al., 1996; Chishti et al., 2001), or thymocyte antigen promoter (Thy1.2) (Lewis et al., 2000; Richards et al., 2003) which allows up to 30-fold overexpression of the AD associated transgene (depending on the promoter and genetic background of the strain) (Jankowsky et al., 2005). Artificial chromosome-based technologies can also allow for the induction of transgenes – which have large genomic fragments such as the *cis*-acting elements that are required to regulate gene expression – under the control of native promoter to more accurately mimic the normal expression patterns of the endogenous gene (Newman, 2017).

3.2.2 Rat

While mouse models of AD are more commonly used, much effort has also been made to establish various transgenic rat models of AD. They offer an advantage over mouse models in that they are much closer to humans in terms of genetics, physiology, and neurohistology (Jacob and Kwitek, 2002; Gibbs et al., 2004; Tesson et al., 2005). Rats are also better performers in behavioural tests compared to mice, and their larger bodies are more amenable to procedures such as surgery and neuroimaging (Tesson et al., 2005). Transgenic rats expressing human APP (with or without FAD mutations) have been developed to model A β deposition (Folkesson et al., 2005).

2007; Flood et al., 2009; Kloskowska et al., 2010; Leon et al., 2010). However, a transgenic rat model that exhibits both amyloid plaques and NFT deposition has yet to be developed.

3.2.3 Pitfalls of rodent models

While rodent models are easier and more cost effective to maintain compared to NHPs and other complex mammalian models, it can still take anywhere from months up to years for pathology to manifest depending on the model used. As such, it is generally not considered to be an appropriate model system for high-throughput screening studies of potential therapeutic compounds. It must also be noted, however, that rodents themselves are poor natural models of AD, and do not typically exhibit pathological hallmarks of the disease, due to perhaps the differences between mouse and human Aβ and tau species, as well as the aggregation propensity and states of these proteins (reviewed in (Newman, 2017)). Transgenic animals expressing multiple human FAD-associated genes are commonly used instead to study FAD related mutations in genes involved in Aβ metabolism (i.e. *APP*, *PSEN*, *MAPT* (tau)), but as there are currently no known human AD patients with multiple pathogenic FAD mutations in AD-associated genes, none of the transgenic mouse strains can truly claim to mimic the genetics of FAD to the full extent.

The relevance of these models to the much more widespread, sporadic, and late-onset AD is also unclear. Although genetic predisposition is indeed associated with sporadic AD, environmental, metabolic, as well as lifestyle risk factors are also thought to play important roles in disease pathogenesis (Stozicka et al., 2007; Piaceri et al., 2013; Chakrabarti et al., 2015). Recently, a publication by Hargis and Blalock suggested that these AD transgenic mouse models are really models of amyloid deposition only (Hargis and Blalock, 2017). They examined the concordance between brain gene expression changes in transcriptome data from humans and rodents during normal aging, as well as in human AD patients and in five distinct transgenic mouse models of AD. Their results indicate that there was very little concordance between human AD and mouse models, or even between the various mouse models themselves (Hargis and Blalock, 2017). As a result, current efforts are underway to investigate and develop better mammalian models of AD

3.3 Invertebrate models of AD

Invertebrates have become increasing popular models for human degenerative disorders in the last few decades (Alexander et al., 2014; Fernandez-Funez et al., 2015). They tend to be much more inexpensive and easy to maintain compared to the rodent models, reproduce quickly, and have a relatively short life span, which allows for the study of neurodegeneration in a timeline of weeks instead of months to years compared to even the rodent models. Additionally, a plethora of molecular and genetic techniques are available in invertebrate systems, and their development and anatomy have been well studied and described. As such, invertebrate models are often used in unbiased, large-scale genetic screens, which makes them potent tools for investigating the genetic mechanisms and pathways underlying neurodegenerative diseases such as AD (reviewed in (Newman, 2017)).

3.3.1 Drosophila melanogaster

The fruit fly *D. melanogaster* is a widely used invertebrate model for the study of neurodegenerative diseases. There is a high degree of gene conservation between humans and flies (Wangler et al., 2015), and it has a much more complex nervous system – compared to other commonly used invertebrate models such as *Caenorhabditis elegans* – that is composed of approximately 200,000 neurons (Zars et al., 2000), and organized into distinct brain regions with specific functions similar to the vertebrate brain nuclei. The fly brain also contains several types of morphologically distinguishable glial cells, including some that form an invertebrate bloodbrain barrier (BBB) (Parker and Auld, 2006; Hartenstein, 2011), which greatly facilitates the testing of drug permeability in the brain. Additionally, a wide array of learning and memory assays are available to assess neurodegeneration in both short and long term studies in the fly.

A variety of genetic tools have been developed for *Drosophila*, such as the use of P-elements, which are transposable elements that allow stable integration of foreign genes into the fly genome (Rubin and Spradling, 1982). The most widely used system for transgenic expression of proteins, however, is the binary expression system developed by Brand and Perrimon in the early 1990s, which employs the use of the yeast transcription factor Gal4 in a manner similar to the Cre/lox

system commonly used in transgenic mice (Brand and Perrimon, 1993). This method allows for the ectopic expression of human proteins in the fly in a cell- or tissue-specific manner by performing a simple genetic cross (**Figure 3**). Individual fly promoters (i.e. with expression specific to a cell type or tissue of interest) were fused to Gal4 to create the promoter or driver strains. Transgenic genes of interest such as human A β s and other AD-related proteins were cloned downstream of the upstream-activating sequence (UAS) (i.e. the yeast Gal4 binding region) to generate UAS-human transgene containing strains. The subsequent crossing of these strains can then generate transgenic F1 flies with the desired transgene expression in the tissue of interest.



Figure 3. The Drosophila UAS/Gal4 expression system

The binary *Drosophila* UAS/Gal4 system requires the generation of two strains: the cell/tissuespecific driver or enhancer-trap Gal4 strain, and the upstream-activation sequence (UAS) containing strain with transgene inserted downstream. Genetic crossing of these two strains results in the expression of the transgene in the cell or tissue of choice of the F1 offsprings, driven by the promoter linked with Gal4. Transgenic *Drosophila* have been created using the UAS/Gal4 system that express wildtype human A β 40, A β 42, and A β associated with familial forms of AD (Fossgreen et al., 1998; Gunawardena and Goldstein, 2001; Iijima et al., 2004; Crowther et al., 2005). These studies have shown that only the induction of A β 42 caused progressive degeneration and plaque formation in these animals, where A β 40 induction did not (Finelli et al., 2004; Iijima et al., 2004; Crowther et al., 2005). Other studies also showed that the *in vivo* toxicity observed in these animals correlated with the levels of soluble A β 42 oligomers (Speretta et al., 2012). Additionally, A β 42 expression in transgenic flies induced other AD-related phenotypes such as synaptic deficits (Jang and Chung, 2016; Zhang et al., 2016) and neuronal hyperactivity (Ping et al., 2015).

However, even though the fly brain is much more complex than brains of other lower order invertebrates, it still lacks the complexity found in mammalian brains. As a result, their behavioural repertoire is comparatively small and cannot mimic the complex behaviour patterns found in mammals. Flies also have open vascular systems that lack vessels, preventing the study of vascular effects of AD. However, while invertebrate systems such as *C. elegans* and *Drosophila* cannot model the full spectrum of AD pathology seen in humans, they still make excellent models of specific disease processes (i.e. $A\beta42$ -induced toxicity). Combined with their ease of use and cost effectiveness, invertebrate systems are often used as a high- to mediumthroughput and economical system for drug screening (Gunawardena and Goldstein, 2001; Greeve et al., 2004), often prior to more complex and costly studies in mammalian models.

Divergent results on gene activation, cellular processes, and neurophysiological events obtained from current AD models – particularly the transgenic rodents – have demonstrated that it may be wise to use multiple models for testing of potential therapeutics, rather than relying on a single species. For example, it may be beneficial to first screen for compound efficacy in fast but relatively reductive invertebrate models such as *Drosophila*, then subsequently further validate the resulting hits in more complex mammalian models such as rodents. The use of multiple model systems would allow for the cross validation of potential therapeutics, and hence increase the predictive therapeutic value of the compound.

4. Therapeutics in development for AD

Over the past decade, the focus of drug discovery and development effects for AD has been mostly on disease modifying therapies – therapies that aim to affect the underlying process by impacting one or more of the many brain changes characteristic of AD.

4.1 Secretase inhibitors and modulators

Amyloidogenic, APP processing secretases such as β - and γ -secretase are considered to be particular interesting AD drug targets, as they are central to the generation and modulation of A β and can be directly targeted by small compounds both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (De Strooper et al., 2010).

β -secretase

BACE1 has been postulated to be an ideal therapeutic target for AD since its inhibition should decrease all forms of A β . Indeed, Ohno et al. showed in 2007 that BACE1-deficient 5XFAD mice (with APP Swedish, London, Florida, and PS1 with two FAD mutations) do not produce A β or develop amyloid plaques and memory deficits compared to 5XFAD mice carrying wildtype BACE1 genes (Ohno et al., 2007). There are, however, some potential issues with BACE1 targeting and inhibition. Since the active site of BACE1 is quite large, compounds that target BACE1 are also quite large and as a result, have low membrane permeability and difficulties crossing the BBB (Ghosh et al., 2012). As well, BACE1 is also involved in the processing of many other substrates other than APP that may give rise to more adverse side effects if the enzyme is inhibited. While BACE1 knockout mice have abrogated A β expression, they unfortunately also display a variety of defects such as cognitive and memory problems, as well as higher mortality rates early on in life (Laird et al., 2005).

A multitude of BACE inhibitors are in development with varying results. Verubecestat, developed by Merck, was perhaps the most high profile BACE inhibitor in recent development. It
had great safety profiles in two Phase 1/2 trials, and proceeded to Phase 2/3 trial in late 2012. However, by 2017, the trial was prematurely ended after an interim analysis due to lack of efficacy (Egan et al., 2018). Interestingly, treatment with Verubecestat was found to significantly decrease the concentrations of A β 40, A β 42, and sAPP β in the CSF of patients in the treatment group compared to the placebo group, which confirms that the drug had the intended action of reducing A β production (Egan et al., 2018). This suggests that once dementia is present, AD progression may become independent of A β . Since A β deposition begins years before any clinical symptoms are present, these failed trials have fuelled the debate as to how early these BACE inhibitors would need to be given to be effective. Still, there is hope that advances in technological diagnostic tools will allow for the better identification of patients at risk of developing AD, and will enable clinical trials at preclinical stages when BACE1 inhibitors are expected to have the largest impact on disease progression (Voytyuk et al., 2018).

y-secretase

The γ -secretase has been characterized as a high molecular weight complex that consists of four subunits: presenilin (PS1 or PS2), nicastrin, anterior pharynx defective-1 (APH-1), and presenilin enhancer-2 (PEN-2) (De Strooper, 2003). The presenilins seems to be the active core of the protease. Similar to BACE1, the γ -secretase is an extremely attractive therapeutic target for AD due to its essential role in A β generation. However, since γ -secretase is also known to have multiple substrates other than APP – the most important one being Notch – severe consequences are sometimes observed when it is inhibited completely. Semagacestat, a γ -secretase inhibitor developed by Eli Lilly, entered Phase III trials but was terminated before completion as the drug not only failed to improve the cognitive status of patients, but was associated with a host of adverse side effects such as skin cancers and infections which were attributed to concomitant Notch inhibition (Doody et al., 2013). As well, the γ -secretase inhibitor avagacestat that was developed by Bristol-Myers-Squibb was abandoned after Phase II trials for similar reasons (Coric et al., 2012). From these negative results, it was clear that perhaps the total inhibition of γ -secretase activity was not a feasible therapeutic target.

As a result, currently there are two strategies to hopefully circumvent the issue: one is to develop APP selective secretase inhibitors that are able to spare Notch signaling, and the second is to develop γ -secretase modulators, which shifts the production of A β to shorter and less toxic forms as well as spare Notch (Zhang et al., 2014). The results so far are not very promising: ELND006 from the Elan Corporation was reported to be more selective against inhibiting APP processing than semagacestat, but it was halted in the clinical trial stage due to liver toxicity (Hopkins, 2011). A different Notch-sparing γ -secretase inhibitor called Begacestat developed by Wyeth was discontinued after Phase I trials (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00959881). As for the γ -secretase modulators, one drug that had much promise was tarenflurbil that was developed by Myrexis. It showed positive results in Phase II trials where it slowed the rate of decline in patients with mild AD, but was abandoned after Phase III trials after due to lack of efficacy (Green et al., 2009). It is interesting to note that as of early 2018, there are currently no γ -secretase modulators and/or modulators that are in any phase of clinical trials (Cummings et al., 2018a).

4.2 Anti-Aβ therapies

The most popular anti-A β treatments that are currently in development are immunotherapies or the passive administration of exogenous antibodies (a selected list is summarized in **Table 1**). These anti-A β monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) have generally been engineered to bind and clear A β , and many have proceeded through to clinical trials. There are some major drawback of mAb treatments, namely the need for repeated administrations and the associated cost of their production, which could affect their potential accessibility to the general global public (Lemere, 2013).

Bapineuzumab (epitope at A β 1-5) was one of the first mAb to enter human testing that recognized A β monomers, oligomers, and fibrils; it was found to be generally safe and well tolerated in Phase 1 trials (Black et al., 2010). Interestingly, in the study, 3 out of 10 participants in the highest dose group developed magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) abnormalities that were consistent with vasogenic edema, which later resolved. These events prompted the formation of a Workgroup in July 2010 by the Alzheimer's Association Research Roundtable, which coined the term amyloid-related imaging abnormalities (ARIA) to refer to the MRI signal alterations that are associated with A β -modifying therapies (Sperling et al., 2011). Bapineuzumab went on to Phase 2 and 3 trials, but was discontinued in August 2012 due to high rates of symptomatic ARIA occurrences (Salloway et al., 2009; Rinne et al., 2010; Salloway et al., 2014).

Next, solanezumab and gantenerumab were developed to target the central amino acids of A β (epitope at A β 16- 26, and A β 3-12/18-27 respectively) (van Dyck, 2018). Both mAbs proceeded through to Phase 2 and 3 trials, but ultimately no significant slowing of decline as well as reduction of A β and tau PET biomarkers were found, and the trials were subsequently terminated (Ostrowitzki et al., 2017; The Lancet, 2017). However, as both mAbs had excellent safety profiles and showed encouraging trends in mild AD cases, they are currently being evaluated in prevention trials by the Dominantly Inherited Alzheimer Network (DIAN) for its phase 2/3 trial in individuals at risk for and with early-stage autosomal-dominant AD (Bateman et al., 2017). Crenezumab, another antibody that targets the mid-domain of the A β peptide (epitope at A β 13-24) and had high affinity for oligomers (Adolfsson et al., 2012; Ultsch et al., 2016), is also currently under evaluation after no significant treatment benefits were observed in Phase 2.

Antibody	Epitope (Aβ)	Recognized Aβ conformation	Status	References
Bapineuzumab	1-5	Monomers, oligomers, and fibrils	Not in development	(Salloway et al., 2009; Rinne et al., 2010; Salloway et al., 2014)
Solanezumab	16-26	Monomers	Phase 2/3	(Doody et al., 2014; Bateman et al., 2017)
Gantenerumab	3-12, 18-27	Monomers, oligomers, and fibrils (high affinity for oligomers)	Phase 2/3	(Ostrowitzki et al., 2012; Bateman et al., 2017)
Crenezumab	30-40	Monomers, oligomers, and fibrils	Phase 3	(Reiman et al., 2011; Cummings et al., 2018b)
BAN2401	Protofibrils	Protofibrils	Phase 2b	(Lannfelt et al., 2014)
Aducanumab	3-6	Oligomers and fibrils	Phase 3	(Sevigny et al., 2016)

Table 1. A selection of $A\beta$ -targeting monoclonal antibodies and their trial status

Lastly, BAN2401 and aducanumab are currently considered to be the most promising mAb treatments in development. BAN2401 is a humanized IgG1 mAb that selectively binds and clears soluble A β protofibrils (Tucker et al., 2015). It was shown to be well tolerated in Phase 1/2a study, and is currently in Phase II trials (Lannfelt et al., 2014). Aducanumab is known to selectively react with A β aggregates, including both soluble oligomers and insoluble fibrils (Sevigny et al., 2016). It was developed by screening libraries of memory B cells from healthy elderly individuals for reactivity against aggregated A β . A Phase 1b trial of aducanumab has been completed with prodromal or mild AD patients, and exploratory analysis of clinical assessments demonstrated encouraging, dose-dependent slowing of disease progression at 1 year of treatment (Sevigny et al., 2016). Based on this promising Phase 1b study, aducanumab is now currently in Phase 3 trials as of August 2015 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02477800 and NCT02484547).

As with secretase modulation, there are concerns that immunotherapy trials may be started too late in disease when too much A β has accumulated. Again, early intervention – before the A β cascade is irrevocably initiated – is likely key to prevent the onset of neurodegeneration.

4.3 Other targets of treatment

Most therapies that are currently in development for AD are amyloid-targeting agents, but there is an increase in non-amyloid mechanisms of action for drugs in earlier phases of development (Cummings et al., 2018a). For example, there are also increased numbers of agents that are directed at tau-related targets. Previous anti-tau therapies were largely disappointing, but there are some interests now to revisit these agents (reviewed in (Bakota and Brandt, 2016)). More recently, immunotherapy strategies have been a more popular approach, with seven tau immunotherapies entering Phase 1 or 2 testing as of 2018 (Cummings et al., 2018a). The development of tau radioligands that are detectable by PET is also expected to provide insights to how well these compounds are able to target the protein (Maass et al., 2017). A variety of compounds are also under development for symptomatic therapies. They are of particular interest as there are few agents in development that will target moderate to advance stages of AD, where symptomatic treatment may have the best chance at improve the quality of life for patients at these advance levels of disease.

4.4 **Peptidic inhibitors**

A class of therapeutics that has been given renewed consideration in the last ten years are therapeutic peptides, which are defined as proteins of 50 amino acids or less. They are often designed to inhibit protein-protein interactions, as proteins typically interact via large surfaces, which is a challenge for small molecules to address and often require the use of high molecular sized inhibitors (i.e. MW 1-2 kDa) (Nevola and Giralt, 2015; Tsomaia, 2015). Also, most interaction surfaces of proteins are relatively featureless and lack pre-formed and well-defined hydrophobic cavities which can fully accommodate a small molecule ligand (Tsomaia, 2015). Peptides can bind to large protein targets with high potency and great selectivity, which can translate into fewer off-target side effects and potential for toxicity compared to small molecule

drugs (Craik et al., 2013). This is because unlike small molecules that often trigger side effects by producing toxic metabolites that accumulate (Ahrens et al., 2012), peptides generally degrade into amino acids, which can minimize the risk of toxicity. It is also much cheaper to manufacture peptides compared to recombinantly produced antibodies; they are more stable at room temperature, and have a better ability to penetrate tissues due to their smaller size (Tomlinson, 2004; Vlieghe et al., 2010; Miller et al., 2013). Moreover, peptidic sequences can often be altered to incorporate non-natural building blocks and various chemical scaffolds and modifications to easily alter their functionality and diversity.

4.4.1 Development of peptidic inhibitors for AD

Since the protein aggregation of $A\beta$ is a primary feature of AD, the inhibition of both oligomer and fibril formation has remained a goal of treatment (**Figure 4**). Peptide-based inhibitors of amyloid growth have been the subject of much attention in the last two decades (reviewed in (Sciarretta et al., 2006). In the late 90s, Tjernberg et al. showed that a short $A\beta$ fragment (KLVFF; $A\beta$ 16-20) was able to bind to full-length $A\beta$ and prevent its assembly into amyloid fibrils (Tjernberg et al., 1996). Continuing on this work, Pallitto et al. developed a more effective hybrid molecule using the KLVFF sequence by adding a lysine hexamers-disrupting element, and showed that it was able to fully protect PC-12 cells from $A\beta$ -induced toxicity (Pallitto et al., 1999). They then went on to develop a series of KLVFF peptide derivatives with a range of protective effects against $A\beta$ treatment (Lowe et al., 2001; Gibson and Murphy, 2005).



Figure 4. The mechanism of action of peptidic inhibitors on amyloid aggregation A β molecules (shown in gray) can interact with each other to form oligomers and larger aggregates, which may lead to the eventual formations of large amyloid fibrils and plaques. Small peptidic inhibitors (shown in black) may be able to bind to key sequences or motifs in the A β molecule that are important for polymerization and arrest their aggregation to higher order oligomers, fibrils, and plaques. (Adapted from (Tjernberg et al., 1996))

Later, Gronwall et al. discovered a variety of homologous A β -binding affibody molecules (small antibody mimetics of about 6 kDa) from a phage display library (Gronwall et al., 2007). It was later shown that A β binding by one of such affibody molecule (name ZA β 3) was able to inhibit amyloid fibril formation as well as further aggregation when it was added to solutions in which amyloid was already being formed (Hoyer et al., 2008; Luheshi et al., 2010). Coexpression of ZA β 3 in the brains of *Drosophila melanogaster* with A β 42 or the FAD associated mutation A β 42 E22G abolished the detrimental effects of the A β 42 peptides on the longevity of the animals, and seemed to be able to both capture monomeric A β 42 as well as dissolve oligomers (Luheshi et al.,

2010). Our lab has been interested in the three consecutive repeats of the GxxxG motif that encompasses A β residues Gly33 to Gly37, and has showed previously that this motif is particularly important in the oligomerization and toxicity of A β 42 (Munter et al., 2007; Harmeier et al., 2009). The GxxxG motif forms molecular ridges and grooves on the amyloid surface, which are proposed to facilitate the sheet-to-sheet stacking of aggregated A β . Using this motif, Liu et al. were able to design short, inhibitory peptides that acted to break the compatibility between the amyloid fibril surfaces by targeting their glycine grooves (Liu et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2006). Our lab has previously successfully tested the capacity of one such inhibitor peptide (with a sequence of RGTFEGKF) to attenuate A β 42 toxicity and aggregation (Barucker et al., 2015), and the further characterization of this inhibitor will be the main focus of this thesis.

4.4.2 Challenges associated with peptidic inhibitors

Therapeutic peptides have the capacity to combine beneficial properties of both biologics (i.e. antibodies) and small molecules by having high specificity and affinity of proteins, coupled with low production costs, toxicity, and increased potential to permeate the cell. There are, however, some challenges in making peptidic inhibitors into successful therapeutics. Peptides that are made of natural amino acids are generally considered to be poor drug candidates due to their pharmacokinetic profiles. Since many proteolytic enzymes recognize common structural features of peptides, unmodified peptides generally have poor *in vivo* stability against proteases. Additionally, they are rapidly cleared from the body by the liver and kidneys – half-lives for some peptides can be in the range of only minutes (reviewed in (Tsomaia, 2015; Wojcik and Berlicki, 2016)). Regardless, even though further research using advanced drug discovery tools and new platform technologies are still needed to engineer better peptidic inhibitors with more desirable properties, the development of peptide therapeutics will likely allow us to reach what are currently considered "undruggable" targets.

4.4.3 D-amino acids peptide therapeutics

Dextrorotatory (D)-amino acids are enantiomers of their levorotatory (L) counterparts – they share identical chemical and physical properties, except for the ability to rotate plane-polarized

light in opposite directions. Synthetic proteins composed of D-amino acid are generally more costly to synthesize compared to those composed of L-amino acids, but their increased resistance to proteolytic degradation makes them very attractive potential therapeutics (reviewed in (Feng and Xu, 2016)). D-amino acids rarely act as the substrates of endogenous proteases – which can serve to increase the stability and circulation half-time of D-peptides *in vitro* and *in vivo* – making the D-peptide based drug delivery system more attractive and efficient than their L-peptide counterparts (D'Amours et al., 1999; Liang et al., 2009; Li et al., 2012b).

Due to their improved stability and bioavailability, D-peptidic inhibitors of Aβ aggregation have been of great interest in the field (reviewed in (Kumar and Sim, 2014)). In a study by Soto et al. in the late 1990s, they demonstrated that their D-peptide candidate has a similar inhibitory effect as the L-peptide version on fibril formation of full-length Aβ42, but the D-peptide was more stable against proteolysis *in vitro* (Soto et al., 1996). Following up on studies regarding the inhibitory peptide KLVFF (originally described by (Tjernberg et al., 1996)), Findeis et al. showed in 1999 that a similar D-pentapeptide modified from KLVFF can also successfully inhibit fibril formation and cytotoxicity while demonstrating improved stability in monkey CSF (Findeis et al., 1999). Our lab has also demonstrated in 2015 that our small D-peptide inhibitor was able to attenuate the rough-eye phenotype in a transgenic Aβ42 *Drosophila* model and significantly prevent the functional degeneration of photoreceptors from human Aβ42-induced toxicity, while the L-peptide did not exhibit any rescue effects *in vivo* (Barucker et al., 2015).

5. Aim and rationale of this thesis

The identification of soluble, low-n Aβ42 oligomers as the potential culprit of cell death and synaptic dysfunction in AD has made them promising and viable targets for the development of therapeutics. We have previously studied a small synthetic Aβ42-oligomer interacting peptide (AIP), and have demonstrated that AIP could specifically target low-n Aβ42 oligomers to neutralize their toxicity. Specifically, D-amino acid AIP (D-AIP) appeared to be more effective *in vivo* compared to the L-amino acid counterpart.

We now intent to further study the effects of this therapeutic peptide in longitudinal experiments using *in vivo* transgenic *Drosophila* models as a screening system, due to their low cost, rapid generation time, and ease of use. Here, we first aimed to develop two transgenic *Drosophila* models, which expressed human A β 42 under eye- and neuron-specific promoters (**manuscript** 1). By fully characterizing the toxic effects of A β 42 on both of these systems in terms of morphological and functional changes in embryonic and adult stages, we established clear phenotype baselines and usage guidelines upon which future rescue studies can measure and abide by.

Next, we aimed to assess in detail the neutralization effects of AIP on A β 42-induced toxicity on both gross morphology (i.e. eye structure) as well as more complex aspects of behaviour (i.e. locomotor activity) of *Drosophila*. We first used the eye-specific expression model in food supplementation studies with AIP (both L and D) to evaluate the longitudinal effects of AIP administration on both A β 42-induced changes in eye morphology and general physiology of the flies (**manuscript 2**). Importantly, using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI-MSI), we analyzed and confirmed the uptake, distribution, as well as stability of label-free L- and D-AIP *in vivo*. Finally, we used the neuron-specific expression model, which expresses A β 42 in a pan-neuronal manner, to assess AIP rescue in more complex functional studies such as climbing or locomotor activity assays (**manuscript 3**). MALDI-MSI was also employed here to characterize the uptake and distribution of AIP in these animals. Overall, the results from our transgenic models allowed us to gain more insight into the A β 42neutralizing effects of AIP in different physiological systems (i.e. eye morphology and locomotor behaviour). We believe our studies in *Drosophila* provided strong *in vivo* evidence of the efficacy of AIP treatment, and will allow us to move forward to the testing of AIP in more complex and advanced rodent models of AD in the future.

II. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

MANUSCRIPT 1

The differential effects of human Aβ42-induced toxicity in the eye and central nervous system of *Drosophila melanogaster*

Yifei Zhong and Gerhard Multhaup

Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics McGill Life Sciences Complex (Bellini Pavilion) 68 – 3649 Promenade Sir William Osler Montreal, Quebec, Canada, H3G 0B1

1.1 Foreword

In this manuscript, we described the generation and characterization of both the eye- and neuronal-specific human A β 42-expressing transgenic *Drosophila* models. We confirmed and described the longitudinal effects of eye- and neuronal-A β 42 expression on both eye morphology and functional locomotor behaviour in the flies by performing confocal microscopy of fly retinae, rapid iterative negative geotaxis (RING) assays to assess climbing behaviour, and Western blotting to confirm the expression of A β 42. Overall, this manuscript aims to define the effects of A β 42 expression on both different tissues of interest (i.e. eye and neurons) as well as periods of development (i.e. larval and adult stages) in *Drosophila*, which will allow us to accurately employ and assess these transgenic *Drosophila* models in future rescue experiments with AIP supplementation.

1.2 Abstract

Amyloid-beta (A β) peptides have long been considered as one of the primary culprits in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease (AD). The Aβ peptide with 42 amino acid residues is known to be the key A β species that is neurotoxic and prone to aggregation. *Drosophila melanogaster* is one of the most commonly used invertebrate model systems for the studies of neurodegenerative diseases such as AD, where the binary UAS-Gal4 system of conditional gene expression is used to transgenically express human AB42 in Drosophila tissues of interest. Two of the most commonly used drivers for this system are *elav* (pan-neuronal) and *GMR* (eye-specific). Both drivers, however, are strongly expressed starting at embryonic and larval stages of the animals, and to date no systematic analysis has been conducted to examine whether there are in fact downstream differences between AB42-induced toxic effects during developmental and adult stages of Drosophila. To this end, we studied the effects of GMR- and elav-driven AB42 expression induced in either embryonic or adult animals, and observed that eye-specific expression of Aβ42 preferentially disrupts eye structure only when it is expressed during embryonic stages, while neurons in both developmental and adult stages of the animals were equally affected by A β 42 expression. These findings show that (i) while neurons are susceptible at all stages of development, the mature eye structure is immune to AB42-induced toxicity, and (ii) these observed differences in downstream effects of A β 42 illustrate the importance of thorough characterization of transgenes in animal models prior to using them in research studies.

1.3 Introduction

Drosophila melanogaster or the fruit fly is a commonly used invertebrate animal model for neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Jeibmann and Paulus, 2009; Pandey and Nichols, 2011; Prussing et al., 2013). The most widely used technique to drive gene expression in *Drosophila* is the binary UAS/Gal4 system (Brand and Perrimon, 1993). Using the UAS-Gal4 system, amyloid beta-42 (Aβ42) – the primary culprit in dysregulating neural synapses as well as facilitating neuronal death in AD (Masters et al., 1985; Miller et al., 1993; Walsh et al., 2002) – can be expressed in a tissue-specific manner in the fly via the use of specific promoters to isolate and characterize its aggregation dynamics and toxicity. Two of the most common *Drosophila* promoters that are used in the UAS-Gal4 system are *elav* (embryonic lethal, abnormal vision; pan-neuronal expression) and *GMR* (Glass Multimer Reporter; eye-specific expression) (Fischer et al., 1988). Using these promoters, neuron- and eye-specific expression of Aβ42 have both been previously characterized and shown to cause neuronal dysfunction/neurodegeneration and eye degeneration, respectively, in a multitude of studies (Fortini and Bonini, 2000; Finelli et al., 2004).

It is worth noting, however, that both the *elav* and *GMR* promoters have been shown to be expressed starting at the embryonic level of development in the animals. The expression of the elav protein, for example, has been shown to coincide with the birth of the first neurons at around stage 9 of development (i.e. 4-5 hours after fertilization of the egg). Also, the *elav* locus appears to have the highest transcription level early in the life of a neuron and continues at a lower level as the neuron ages (Robinow and White, 1988, 1991). The *GMR* driver is also believed to be expressed from the mid-third-instar larval stage through to pupal development exclusively in all cells that are posterior to the morphogenetic furrow in the differentiating larval eye discs, as well as in the photoreceptor cells of adult animals (Freeman, 1996; Hiesinger et al., 2001; Chin et al., 2014).

The heterogeneity in the temporal expression of the two driver proteins during different aspects of *Drosophila* development represents a significant confound: since the vast majority of studies

that use *elav* and/or *GMR* promoters to drive the expression of human A β 42 normally elect to express A β 42 from the embryonic stages of the insects, it is generally impossible to determine whether the detrimental phenotype observed from A β 42 expression is due to process disruptions in the developmental or adult stages of the animals. Furthermore, since A β 42 has so far been shown to only accumulate in mid to later stages of life in humans (with the exception of individuals with Down syndrome as well as early-onset AD caused by familial mutations) (Gyure et al., 2001; Netzer et al., 2010), it is important to elucidate and separate the effects of A β 42 on development and adult stages in flies to better recapitulate the dynamics of A β 42 in the human disease.

To date, despite the large number of studies using human A β 42-expressing transgenic flies, there has not been a systematic analysis of whether human A β 42 expression, using either the *elav* or GMR driver, preferentially affects Drosophila during development or adult stages. Therefore, we examined the effects of *elav-Gal4* or *GMR-Gal4* driven expression of the UAS-AB42 construct on locomotor activity, eye morphology, and survival in this study. Expressions of the drivers were controlled via simple temperature alterations to allow the induction of AB42 expression in different developmental stages of the animals. Our experiments indicate that the locomotor activity and survival of the animals were significantly and negatively affected only when A β 42 was expressed in a neuron specific manner using *elav*. This effect was present regardless of whether A β 42 was expressed during development or adulthood, and so seems to indicate a general susceptibility of neurons to A β 42-induced toxicity. Eye-specific A β 42 expression with *GMR*, however, only caused deformations in eye morphology when it is expressed during development, which implies that the established adult eye structures in Drosophila - composed of cells such as the various pigment cells that make up each ommatidia (Kumar, 2012) – are potentially resistant to A β 42 toxicity. We conclude that the degree of toxic effects induced by transgenic A β 42-expression is likely intrinsically linked to the stage of development (i.e. larval vs. adult) of the animal, while specific tissue (i.e. neurons vs. eyes) may also differ in their susceptibility to Aβ42-induced toxicity. These diverse responses should be evaluated and considered when over-expression analysis is performed using *GMR* or *elav* as drivers.

1.4 Materials and Methods

1.4.1 Transgenic Drosophila

UAS-A β 42 flies were generated as described previously (Harmeier et al., 2009). *GMR-Gal4/Bc*, *Gla*; *Gal80ts/Tb*, *Hu* and *elav-Gal4*; *Gal80ts/Sb* strains were a gift from Dr. Yong Rao. They were crossed with UAS-A β 42 flies to induce temperature-sensitive A β 42 expression in either an eye- or neuron-specific manner respectively. Canton S flies were crossed with *GMR-Gal4* flies to obtain Gal4-only controls. Flies are reared in an incubator (Tritech) with 12hr light/dark cycle, 50% constant humidity, and at 22°C.

1.4.2 Temperature-induced A β 42 expression

Gal80ts, a negative regulator of Gal4, is highly activated at 18°C and inactivated at 29°C (Zeidler et al., 2004). This essentially allows us to induce the expression of Aβ42 in F1 animals at any point during development simply by elevating the ambient temperature. Transgenic Gal80ts flies were crossed on Jazz-Mix Drosophila food (Fisher) and separated into three groups. Two groups were place in an 18°C incubator (Tritech) while one group was placed in a 29°C incubator, both with 12hr light/dark cycle and 50% humidity. Parental generation flies were removed after the appearance of F1 3rd instar larvae, which were left to incubate in the respective incubators. F1 transgenic flies were separated according to sex and collected into fresh tubes as they eclosed. Adult transgenic flies collected from the 29°C incubator were kept under the same condition through the experiments. Out of the two groups that were placed in the 18°C incubator, eclosed adult transgenic flies collected from one group were removed and placed in the 29°C incubator, while the transgenic flies collected from the other group remained at 18°C.

1.4.3 Confocal imaging

Confocal imaging of fly retinae were performed at the Imaging & Molecular Biology Platform Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics, McGill Life Sciences Complex). Flies were anesthetised with CO₂ and the heads of the animals were removed with fine dissection tweezers (Dumont #5). The heads were then briefly dipped in 70% ethanol to remove the cuticle wax, and placed on an agarose-lined petri dish. A small amount of PBS was then dripped on top of the heads, and the retinae were dissected in the liquid. The dissected retinae were subsequently kept in a 3cm petri dish filled with PBS, and once all dissections were complete, dried and mounted on glass slides (Globe Scientific) using superglue. The retinae were then imaged using a TCS SP8 confocal microscope (Leica; oil-immersion objective, 40X 1.3NA HC PL APO; Cat. #506358; 552 laser at 12% power). Z-stacks were subsequently made of the whole eye of the animal to fully visualize the compound eye structure. The autofluorescence which illuminates the compound eye under confocal microscopy is thought to derive from the conversion of rhodopsin to its photoproduct metarhodopsin upon light stimulation in the rhabdomeres or photoreceptors of each ommatidia (Franceschini et al., 1981).

1.4.4 Locomotor assay

Rapid iterative negative geotaxis assays (RING assay) were performed as described (Barone and Bohmann, 2013). Briefly, groups of 15-18 transgenic animals were aged 21 days post eclosion, as A β 42-induced locomotor dysfunction has been previously shown to be discernible after this period (Iijima et al., 2004). Measurements were then taken every 3 days, at the same time of the day for each group of 10-15 flies separated according to sex, genotype, and treatment. Each group of flies were placed in empty clear plastic tubes and allowed to recover from CO₂ anaesthesia at room temperature for 45mins. Flies were then forced to the bottom of the tube by firmly tapping against the bench for 10 seconds. After being allowed to climb up the sides of the vials for a further 10 seconds, the number of flies that walked above the 2 cm mark was recorded. There was a one minute rest period between assays. Assays were repeated 15 times to obtain the average climbing activity for the day, and the percentage climbing activity (number of flies over 2cm line/number of total flies x 100) was plotted as a function of age using GraphPad Prism.

1.4.5 Tissue homogenates

Sixteen flies (8 male and 8 female) of each genotype were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. The heads were collected and homogenized in 100µl of PBS-PI (PBS buffer with Complete EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablets (Roche)) (Helmfors et al., 2015). The resulting mixture was centrifuged at 12,000g for 10mins at 4°C, and the supernatant was extracted as the soluble fraction. The pellet was resuspended in 50µl of harsh extraction buffer containing guanidinium HCL (5M GnHCl, 50mM Hepes pH 7.3, 5mM EDTA, Protease inhibitor (Roche)) (Caesar et al.,

2012) and centrifuged again to obtain the supernatant as insoluble fraction. Alternatively, isolated fly heads were homogenized in whole cell extract (WCE) buffer (Sayre et al., 1992) and then centrifuged at 10,000g for 10min at 4°C.

1.4.6 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot

A β 42 was immunoprecipitated from the insoluble and soluble fractions of fly head homogenates using an in-house antibody W0-2 (anti-A β , epitope residues 5-8) and protein G Sepharose beads (GE Healthcare #17-0618-01). Samples were then separated by SDS-PAGE on 4-20% tris-tricine gels (BioRad) and transferred to 0.45µm nitrocellulose membranes and probed with W0-2 and anti-mouse secondary antibody (Promega) for A β 42 detection. Without immunoprecipitation, fly head homogenates were separated directed by SDS-PAGE on 10-20% tris-tricine gels (BioRad), transferred to 0.45µm nitrocellulose membranes, and probed with W0-2 and an anti-actin antibody (Millipore #MAB1501).

1.4.7 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism. Kaplan-Meier survival curve analysis was used to compare survival curves. All results are expressed as mean \pm SEM (Standard Error of Mean). P values < 0.05 were considered to be significant. Sample sizes are reported in figure legends, and no statistical method was used to predetermine sample size.

1.5 Results

1.5.1 Adult *D. melanogaster* eye structure is resistant to structural defects induced by human Aβ42 toxicity

The expression of human A β 42 has been shown previously to cause the disorganization and degeneration of the Drosophila compound eye subunits or ommatidia, resulting in a "rough eye" phenotype (Finelli et al., 2004; Tan et al., 2008; Barucker et al., 2015). We generated flies with temperature-controlled 'switches' for eye-specific Aβ42 using the UAS/Gal4 system along with Gal80ts, then monitored the long-term effects of 'turning on' AB42 expression on eve morphology in either developmental or adult stages of the flies. Retinae from temperatureactivated eye-specific Aβ42-expressing flies were imaged via confocal microscopy using autofluorescence (Franceschini et al., 1981) (Figure 5). As expected, transgenic flies raised at 18°C (i.e. with no Aβ42 expression) showed no changes in eye morphology over time (Figure 5, left column), while transgenic animals raised at 29°C (i.e. with constitutively activated eyespecific A β 42 expression) showed a gradual and severe loss of the compound eye structure, resulting in a total loss of all eye morphology at day 28 post eclosion (Figure 5, right column). Interestingly, we observed that flies which pupated at 18°C but are then transferred to 29°C post eclosion (i.e. as adult animals) to activate AB42 expression in the adult stage showed no eye degeneration throughout the time points (Figure 5, middle column) despite having ongoing, eyespecific A β 42-expression as detected by Western blot (Figure 6).



Figure 5. The adult *Drosophila* compound eye structure is resistant to Aβ42-induced toxicity

Representative images of compound eyes of temperature-sensitive A β 42-expressing strains. Flies were dissected and retinae were mounted post eclosion at the dates indicated. Eye morphology was assessed with confocal microscopy using autofluorescence. Transgenic animals raised at 18°C exhibited no morphological defects in the eye, regardless of whether they were moved to 29°C during adult stages. However, flies raised at 29°C showed extensive damage in eye structure, with gradual losses of ommatidia definition, which culminated in a total loss of eye structure on day 28. $n \ge 4$ for each group. Scale bar = 100µm.



Figure 6. Expression of human Aβ42 in transgenic flies is activated at 29°C

A. Immunoprecipitation and Western blot of human A β 42 expression in the eyes of transgenic *D. melanogaster*. Fly head homogenate were obtained from promoter control, A β 42-expressing, and temperature-sensitive A β 42-expressing strains (TS A β 42) bred at different temperatures. A β 42 was detected in both TS A β 42 and A β 42-expressing strains regardless whether they were raised at high temperatures or moved to high temperatures as adults. No A β 42 expressing was detected at 18°C in any strain. 16 heads were used per genotype. **B.** Western blot quantification of the ratio between expression of A β 42 in the insoluble and soluble fraction. Two way ANOVA was performed and no significant difference was detected between the groups. n = 3.

Α

Classical immunoprecipitation and Western blotting was used to verify the temperature-induced A β 42 expression in the transgenic flies (**Figure 6**). No A β 42 expression was detected in flies bred and raised at 18°C, while both the constitutive and temperature-sensitive strains showed strong A β 42 when they were bred and raised at 29°C. Both A β 42-expressing strains that were born and pupated at 18°C and subsequently moved to 29°C after eclosion showed temperature-activated expression of A β 42. The overall ratio between the insoluble and soluble fractions of A β 42 is not significantly different between the groups (**Figure 6B**).

1.5.2 Locomotor activity and survival of transgenic *D. melanogaster* are minimally affected by the eye-specific expression of human Aβ42

Aside from the eye, recent research has shown that *GMR* is also active in a variety of other tissue types such as the wing, brain, trachea, and leg imaginal discs (Li et al., 2012a; Ray and Lakhotia, 2015). Since this 'leaky' expression of *GMR* (and consequently $A\beta 42$) have the potential to affect the physiology of the flies aside from morphological changes in the eye, we next decided to investigate the long-term locomotor activity and survival of the flies. Promoter control and temperature-sensitive transgenic flies raised at 18°C (Figure 7A, blue lines) showed minimum declines in climbing activity over 47 days, with a slightly steeper decline observed in the transgenic flies compared to the promoter controls. Flies raised at 29°C, however, showed a more drastic decline over time (Figure 7A, red lines), where both strains dropped similarly to almost 0% climbing activity by day 40. Animals raised at 18°C then moved to 29°C during adulthood (Figure 7A, black lines) showed an intermediate phenotype and exhibited a slower decline in their locomotor activity compared to flies raised at 29°C. We observed similar trends for the survival of the animals (Figure 8A). Animals of either strain raised at 18°C had no mortalities, while flies raised at 29°C showed significantly decreased levels of survival. Animals raised at 18°C then moved to 29°C during adulthood again exhibited an intermediate phenotype with small declines in survival rate over the course of 47 days.



Figure 7. Neuron-specific expression of human Aβ42 negatively affects the locomotor behaviour of transgenic animals

A. RING assays showed a gradual decline in climbing activity of transgenic flies raised at 29°C regardless of genotype (red lines). Promoter control flies raised at 18°C or moved from 18°C to 29°C exhibited minimum changes in locomotion, while temperature activated, eye-specific human A β 42 expressing flies showed larger, temperature dependent declines in locomotion (black lines). n \geq 30 for each strain/group. **B**. RING assays show that higher temperatures mildly reduced the locomotor activity of the promoter control animals (left panel, red line). In contrast, temperature activated, neuron-specific human A β 42 expressing flies exhibited complete deterioration of locomotor activities when bred at 29°C (right panel, red line), and also showed rapid and steep decline in climbing activity when the animals were moved to 29°C (right panel, black line). n \geq 18 for each strain/group.



Figure 8. Neuron-specific expression of human Aβ42 has major impacts on the longevity of transgenic *D. melanogaster*

A. Kaplan-Meier survival curves indicate that the lifespan of transgenic animals raised at 29°C of either genotype (i.e. either with eye-specific promoter or A β 42 expression) was significantly decreased (red lines). n \geq 30 for each strain/group. Kaplan-Meier survival curves. **p<0.005, ***p<0.0001. **B**. Kaplan-Meier survival curves show that animals raised at 29°C of either genotype showed increased mortality (red lines). A rapid decline in survival was observed in temperature activated, neuron-specific human A β 42 expressing flies that were moved to 29°C (bottom right panel, black line). n \geq 18 for each strain/group. Kaplan-Meier survival curves. ***p<0.0001.

1.5.3 D. melanogaster neurons are generally sensitive to human Aβ42-induced toxicity We next analyzed the locomotor activity and survival of the temperature-activated, neuronspecific Aβ42-expressing transgenic flies. Animals raised at 18°C showed little decline in their locomotor activity regardless of genotype (Figure 7B, blue lines). Promoter control flies raised at 18°C then transferred to 29°C showed a mild decline in climbing ability that was similar to flies strictly raised at 29°C (Figure 7B, left panel, comparing black line to red line). The temperature activated neuron-specific Aβ42-expressing flies raised at 29°C, however, had completely abolished climbing activity from day 21 (Figure 7B, right panel, red line). Additionally, when these transgenic flies were raised at 18°C then transferred to 29°C, their climbing activity declined drastically starting on day 26, and was completely absent by day 42 (Figure 7B, right panel, black line). We observed similar patterns in the survival of these animals: flies of both strains survive well at 18°C but did poorly at 29°C, with the complete loss of the neuron-specific AB42 strain by day 33 compared to the loss of the promoter control flies by day 48 (Figure 8B, red lines). It is interesting to note that when the flies are moved from 18°C to 29°C, the survival of the promoter control flies were completely unaffected, while the temperature-activated neuron-specific A β 42 strain exhibited an intermediate survival phenotype where the survival of the animals significantly decreased from day 30 to 48 (Figure 8B, right panel, black line), which potentially indicates a susceptibility of the adult neurons to Aβ42induced toxicity.

1.5.4 Neuron-specific expression of human Aβ42 in *D. melanogaster* has little effect on gross eye structure

The pan-neuronal driver *elav* has been shown to also be essential in the development of the eye and the optic lobe (Campos et al., 1985; Campos et al., 1987). As such, we examined the effects of temperature-activated *elav* driven A β 42 expression on the eye structure of flies. The retinae from the transgenic animals were imaged via confocal microscopy using autofluorescence (**Figure 9**). While mild deformations in ommatidia shape can be observed on day 28 in transgenic flies raised at 29°C, no morphological deformities were present in the eyes of the animals at any other time point or incubation temperature. Relative expression levels of A β 42 were verified in transgenic flies via classical Western blotting (**Figure 10**).



Figure 9. Compound eye morphology is not affected by neuron-specific expression of human $A\beta42$

Representative images of compound eyes of transgenic flies expressing human A β 42 driven by neuron-specific driver. Eye morphology was assessed with confocal microscopy using autofluorescence. Mild disturbances in eye structures were detected on day 28 only in transgenic flies raised at 29°C (white arrows indicate locations of misshapen and deformed ommatidia). No other changes are observed. $n \ge 4$ for each group. Scale bar = 100µm.



Figure 10. Neuron-specific expression levels of Aβ42 in transgenic flies

Western blot quantification of human A β 42 with neuron-specific expression in transgenic *D*. *melanogaster*. Fly head homogenate from transgenic animals raised at 29°C were blotted using A β specific antibody (W0-2).

1.6 Discussion

D. melanogaster is one of the most common invertebrate animal models of AD. It is more often used in research compared to other popular invertebrates such as *Canorhabditis elegans*, as *Drosophila* are more compatible with assays that measures behavioural and memory outcomes compared to the nematode models (Mhatre et al., 2013). The *GMR* and *elav* drivers, in particular, have been extensively used by researchers to observe the effects of amyloid expression in *Drosophila* eyes (Harmeier et al., 2009) and neurons (Chakraborty et al., 2011; Speretta et al., 2012). Our observations show that the downstream effects of human Aβ42 expression driven by *GMR* and *elav* very much depend on the temporal expression of A β 42 (i.e. during developmental or adult stages of the animals). Our study further proposes that the selection of drivers for expression may also play a major role in influencing downstream effects of A β 42 expression, as tissues (i.e. eye and neuron) seem to differ in their overall susceptibility to A β 42-induced toxicity.

GMR, as previously reported, drives the expression of target genes in all cells posterior to the morphogenetic furrow in the developing eye (Freeman, 1996). Interestingly, the toxic effects of *GMR* driven expression of A β 42 in our studies seems to be entirely limited to embryonic stages of *Drosophila*, as eye-specific A β 42 expression in adult animals does not seem to affect overall eye morphology (**Figure 5**). We suspect that this diverging effect may be potentially due to the differential sensitivity of embryonic and adult cells to A β 42-induced toxicity, since the total ratio of A β 42 in embryonic as well as adult stages (**Figure 6**). We showed in a previous study that eye-specific A β 42-expression can also negatively influence the electroretinography (ERG) readings taken from transgenic animals (Barucker et al., 2015), indicating that *GMR*-driven A β 42-induced toxicity can affect both the structure and the function of the eye – possibly by negatively affecting the photoreceptors, as *GMR* has been shown to be expressed in the rhabdomeres (Coelho et al., 2013). Our current experiments showed that the structure of the adult eye was resistant to A β 42-induced morphological changes, but the function of these A β 42-

47

expressing but morphological normal organs are unknown. We speculate that if the function of the eye were also unaffected by A β 42-induced toxicity in the adult animals, it would likely indicate a general resistance of the adult organ to A β 42-induced toxicity. However, if eye function is impaired while the structure is intact, it may indicate that the functional competences of the cells in the compound eye are separate from their structural capabilities (i.e. overall morphology can be preserved even when function is impaired).

Additionally, while *GMR* has been shown to also be expressed in tissues other than the eye such as the larval brain, trachea, and leg discs (Li et al., 2012a), *GMR*-driven A β 42 expression does not seem to affect neuron function in terms of locomotor behaviour in adult flies. This is likely due to the differential expression of *GMR* in adulthood where it is mainly found in the photoreceptors (Hiesinger et al., 2001; Chin et al., 2014), where it would have minimal effect on neuronal activity that are responsible for locomotor behaviour. Previous works using *eyeless* strains and mutants with optic lobe defects have also shown that vision defects does not affect general locomotor activity, but can instead influence the overall pattern of behaviour that is usually dictated by light/dark cycles (Helfrich, 1986) which our studies did not measure.

elav has been previously described to be expressed exclusively in postmitotic neurons (Robinow and White, 1988, 1991). It is also a widely used driver line for the neuron-specific expression of A β species such as A β 40 and A β 42, where only A β 42 expression induced decreases in the climbing behaviour and longevity of the transgenic animals (Iijima et al., 2004; Chakraborty et al., 2011; Speretta et al., 2012). Although *elav* function has been previously shown to be important in both the development of the eye and optic lobe (Campos et al., 1985; Campos et al., 1987), we did not observe any morphological changes in the eyes of *elav*-driven A β 42 expressing flies. This indicates that the presence and function of *elav* does not likely affect the development of the structural elements of the eye. Overall, our data indicates that A β 42 expression in a neuron-specific manner seems to affect both the flies' locomotor activities and survival regardless whether the expression takes place during development or adulthood. This may indicate a general susceptibility of neurons to A β 42-induced toxicity, which has been shown previously in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies (Shiwany et al., 2009; Krantic et al., 2012; Popugaeva et al., 2015; Ungureanu et al., 2016).

1.7 Conclusion

In summary, our experiments provided a systematic analysis of the effects of eye- and neuronspecific A β 42 expression in either adult or embryonic *Drosophila*, and demonstrated that the temporal expression of A β 42 in either developmental or adult stages of the animals have different influences on its downstream effects. The tissue-specific drivers are also important factors in determining A β 42-induced toxicity, as the drivers' differential expression patterns in embryonic and adult stages seems to greatly influence the susceptibility of the specific tissue to A β 42 expression. These results emphasizes the need for careful confirmation of the drivers used in *Drosophila* in terms of their expression profiles in embryonic and adult stages, as well as more detailed experimental planning of the temporal expressions of transgenes of interest.

1.8 Acknowledgements

This study was supported by a grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MOP-133411). GM holds both a Canada Research Chair in Molecular Pharmacology and a Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI) grant. The McGill Life Sciences Complex thanks the CFI for infrastructure support. Thanks also to Dr. Filip Liebsch for establishing the transgenic A β 42 *Drosophila* strains and scientific guidance, to Dr. Yong Rao and Hunter Shaw for providing the *Gal4/Gal80ts Drosophila* strains and useful discussions, and to Dr. Wolfgang Reintsch for his support with confocal microscopy methods.

MANUSCRIPT 2

The D-enantiomeric peptide AIP neutralizes toxic A β oligomers *in vivo* and rescues rough eye defects in transgenic Drosophila melanogaster Submitted to Journal of Neurochemistry

Yifei Zhong, Adeola Shobo, Mark Hancock, and Gerhard Multhaup

Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics McGill Life Sciences Complex (Bellini Pavilion) 68 – 3649 Promenade Sir William Osler Montreal, Quebec, Canada, H3G 0B1

2.1 Foreword

Our previous characterization of the transgenic flies showed that both eye- and neuronal-specific expression of A β 42 had significant and measurable negative impacts on the eye morphology and behaviour of the animals, respectively. The eye-specific A β 42-expressing model, in particular, had an overt and easily detectable change in morphology that appeared to be highly conducive to rescue experiments. In the following manuscript, we used the eye-specific A β 42-expressing transgenic model in longitudinal food supplementation experiments with AIP. We first investigated the toxicity and stability of AIP – composed of either L-amino acids or D-amino acids – during longitudinal experiments on the general physiology of the flies (i.e. survival and locomotor activity). Next, to further analyze the rescue of A β 42-induced changes in morphology by D-AIP, we utilized live imaging techniques to visualize the eyes of the same cohort of flies over a month long period. In addition, we have also validated the expression of A β 42 in the transgenic animals via immunoprecipitation and Western blotting.

We have also performed MALDI-MSI to detect the presence and localization of AIP within the animals. This method enabled us to verify the uptake and distribution of AIP *in vivo* without the need to alter the peptide, and to our knowledge, is the first time such experiments have been performed using *Drosophila* specimens. Overall, this second manuscript provides evidence that D-AIP is highly stable in the animals throughout longitudinal experiments, and can effectively attenuate Aβ42-induced morphological deficits *in vivo* (i.e. rough-eye phenotype).

2.2 Abstract

Soluble oligomers of the 42-amino acid amyloid-beta (AB42) peptide are highly toxic and suspected as the causative agent of synaptic dysfunction and neuronal loss in Alzheimer's disease (AD). We have previously shown that a small, eight amino acid A β 42-oligomer interacting peptide (AIP) was effective at neutralizing human Aβ42-mediated toxicity using both in vitro and cell-based studies. In the present work, we have utilized advanced techniques including live confocal imaging and mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI-MSI) to show that AIP - the Denantiomeric form in particular (D-AIP) – can effectively attenuate Aβ42 toxicity *in vivo*, using transgenic *Drosophila melanogaster* models. We showed that the Aβ42-induced "rough eye" phenotype was significantly rescued in the female transgenics upon AIP treatment, and D-AIP was indeed found co-localized with the transgenic human AB42 in the female fly heads. Interestingly, a male-specific sex peptide (Acp70A) was discovered via MALDI-MSI to have colocalized with D-AIP in the gut of the male transgenics, and potentially impaired rescue of the eye-specific phenotype. Our longitudinal study demonstrates two important outcomes: (i) observed sex differences between the flies illustrate the need to include both males and female specimens in cell, animal, and pre-clinical research, and (ii) D-AIP is a safe, stable, and highly effective neutralizer of toxic Aβ42 peptides in vivo.
2.3 Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most prevalent neurodegenerative disease in the world and currently accounts for 50-70% of all neurodegenerative dementia cases (Winblad *et al.*, 2016). To date, no effective preventative or treatment strategies exist due to the complexity of its pathogenesis (Alzheimer's, 2018). One of the key hallmarks of the disease is the abnormal processing and deposition of amyloid beta (A β) peptides (Wang *et al.*, 2017) which are produced from the proteolytic processing of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) by sequential β - and γ -secretase cleavages (Selkoe and Hardy, 2016).

Soluble A β oligomers containing 42-amino acid long peptides (A β 42) are highly toxic as evidenced by their ability to impair synaptic structure and function both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Walsh et al., 2002; Oddo et al., 2003; Glabe and Kayed, 2006; Shankar et al., 2008; Koffie et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2012; Esparza et al., 2013). Consequently, neutralization and elimination of these neurotoxic A β oligomers has become a promising avenue for therapeutic intervention. Antibody-based candidates that target A β oligomers have generated encouraging preliminary results (Salahuddin *et al.*, 2016; Sevigny *et al.*, 2016), but the high manufacturing and distribution costs of such biologics have raised concerns over their general accessibility. As such, protease-resistant D-amino acid peptides represent a more cost-effective alternative to neutralize toxic A β oligomers (Kumar and Sim, 2014; Fosgerau and Hoffmann, 2015).

Drosophila melanogaster, or the "common fruit fly", is the traditional model of choice for genetic research (Jeibmann and Paulus, 2009; Pandey and Nichols, 2011). More recently, the *Drosophila* "rough eye" model has become a well-established system to study toxicity as related to cancer and human neurodegeneration (Green et al., 2012; Stochmanski et al., 2012; Ashton-Beaucage et al., 2014; Yoshida et al., 2018). The compound fly eye is comprised of well-organized ommatidia (hexagonal structures) each containing seven rhabdomeres (circular structures) (Ready *et al.*, 1976). When toxicity disrupts the natural gross morphology, the "rough eye" phenotype (i.e. distorted ommatidia and rhabdomeres) can be visualized (Harmeier *et al.*, 2009).

We reported recently that a small synthetic A β 42-oligomer interacting peptide (AIP), initially designed to disrupt sheet-to-sheet packing of A β 40 and A β 42 (Sato *et al.*, 2006), can specifically target and neutralize the toxicity of low-order A β 42 oligomers (Barucker *et al.*, 2015). We previously showed that the short AIP peptide (RGTFEGKF) was able to rescue A β 42-induced neurotoxicity in SH-SY5Y cells, as well as ameliorate the A β 42-induced loss of synaptic spine density and long-term potentiation (LTP) in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures (Barucker *et al.*, 2015). We have now examined the *in vivo* efficacy of AIP in a full longitudinal study using transgenic *D. melanogaster* models. Traditionally, the visualization of the "rough eye" phenotype is commonly done via electron microscopy, which required flies to be sacrificed at each imaging time point (Prussing et al., 2013; Chouhan et al., 2016). Instead, we utilized a live confocal microscopy method in our current study, which permitted the live imaging of the flies (i.e. no time-dependent sacrifices). In parallel, we also developed a novel mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI-MSI) method to detect the uptake of label-free AIP into the flies and test for its co-localization with A β 42 in the fly heads in separated groups of male and female flies.

Overall, our present study demonstrates that orally administered AIP in the D-enantiomeric form (D-AIP) is highly stable and has the potential to cross the invertebrate blood brain barrier (BBB) to rescue Aβ42-induced toxicity *in vivo* without detrimental side effects.

2.4 Materials and Methods

2.4.1 Transgenic Drosophila

UAS-Aβ42 flies were generated as described previously (Harmeier *et al.*, 2009). Transgenic flies containing the UAS-Aβ42 construct were crossed with *GMR-Gal4*-containing flies to induce the expression human Aβ42 in an eye-specific manner. Transgenic UAS-BACE1 flies were generated using the pUAST-BACE1 construct and crossed with *GMR-Gal4*-containing flies to induce the expression of BACE1 in an eye-specific manner. Canton S flies were used as wildtype controls and were also crossed with *GMR-Gal4* flies to obtain Gal4-only controls. Flies are reared in a 25°C incubator (Tritech) with 12hr light/dark cycle and 50% humidity.

2.4.2 Peptides

Label-free AIP (L- or D-amino acids, RGTFEGKF, 940.5 Da) and scrambled AIP (L- or Damino acids, EFRKFTGG, 940.5 Da) were purchased from BioBasic (Markham, ON, Canada) and verified by mass spectrometry at the McGill SPR-MS Facility (Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics, McGill Life Sciences Complex). AIP peptides were prepared fresh for each experiment, and were solubilized at 50mg/ml in deionized water containing 0.1% ammonia, vortexed, and then sonicated at 37hz and 100% power for 10min at 4°C. Resuspended AIP peptides were diluted to 1mg/mL in TA50 (acetonitrile : 0.1% (v/v) TFA = 50:50) for testing by MALDI-MS (verify intact mass via Bruker UltrafleXtreme system) or ESI-MS (verify sequence via Bruker Impact II system) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.4.3 Fly food and AIP supplementation

Flies were bred on Jazz-Mix *Drosophila* fly food according to the manufacturer's instructions (Fisher Scientific), freshly prepared in 15 ml centrifuge tubes (Sigma-Aldrich) to conserve volume and prevent drying. For AIP supplementation, freshly resuspended peptides were added to the bottom of the tubes (5mM AIP final concentration), then overlaid with 1ml of freshly prepared fly food cooled to 45°C. The mixture was thoroughly blended and left to solidify for over 12hrs at room temperature. Parental generation flies were crossed on regular or AIP-

supplemented food, then removed with the appearance of F1 3rd instar larvae. F1 transgenic flies were separated according to sex and collected into fresh tubes as they eclosed.

2.4.4 Stability of AIP in the feed and flies analysed by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI) mass spectrometry

Prior to the confocal imaging and MALDI-MSI experiments, feed slurries from the 15mL conicals containing male and female flies were assessed for the long-term stability of both L-AIP and D-AIP. After 28 days at room temperature, 200µl of each slurry was precipitated with 300µl methanol, vortexed for 30 sec, and centrifuged for 10 min at 18,000g. Similarly, homogenates for the wildtype male and female flies fed with both forms of AIP for 28 days were prepared. Each sample (50µl) was precipitated with methanol, water and chloroform (3:1:1), vortexed for 30 sec and centrifuged at 18,000g. At the McGill SPR-MS Facility, supernatants were mixed 1:1 with CCA matrix (20mg/mL α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid (Sigma #70990) in TA50) and spotted on ground steel targets using the dried droplet method. MALDI spectra were acquired using a Bruker UltrafleXtreme MALDI-TOF/TOF system in reflectron positive ionization mode (calibrated mass range of 500 – 5,000 *m/z*; FlexControl v3.4 software). Ion intensities were evaluated by averaging three measurements of 4,000 shots each (i.e. 12,000 shots total per sample).

2.4.5 Tissue homogenates

Three flies of each sex (male/female), genotype (wildtype/transgenic), and treatment (vehicle/AIP) were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. The heads were collected and homogenized in 100µl of PBS-PI (PBS buffer containing Complete EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablets (Roche)) (Helmfors *et al.*, 2015). The resulting mixture was centrifuged at 12,000g for 10min at 4°C, and the supernatant was extracted as the "soluble fraction". The pellet was further resuspended in 50µl of harsh extraction buffer (5M guanidine HCl, 50mM HEPES pH 7.3, 5mM EDTA, Protease inhibitor (Roche)) (Caesar *et al.*, 2012), centrifuged, and the supernatant extracted as the "insoluble fraction". Alternatively, isolated heads, isolated bodies, or whole flies were homogenized in whole cell extract (WCE) buffer (Sayre *et al.*, 1992) and then centrifuging at 10,000g for 10min at 4°C. For each of the three different tissue homogenates, the supernatants

were isolated and centrifuged twice more to remove additional impurities and insoluble contaminants.

2.4.6 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot

A β 42 was immunoprecipitated from the soluble and insoluble fractions of fly head homogenates using antibody W0-2 (anti-A β , epitope residues 5-8; Millipore #MABN10) coupled to protein G Sepharose beads (GE Healthcare #17-0618-01). Samples were then separated by SDS-PAGE on 10-20% tris-tricine gels (BioRad) and transferred to 0.45µm nitrocellulose membranes and probed with W0-2 and anti-mouse secondary antibody (Promega) for A β 42 detection. Without immunoprecipitation, 15µl aliquots of soluble and insoluble fractions were separated directed by SDS-PAGE on 10-20% tris-tricine gels (BioRad), transferred to 0.45µm nitrocellulose membranes, and probed with an anti-actin antibody (Millipore #MAB1501). In the similar manner, fly head homogenates were probed with anti-actin (Millipore #MAB1501) and anti-BACE1 (Cell Signaling #D10E5) antibodies. Colloidal Coomassie staining of gels was performed as described (Neuhoff *et al.*, 1988; Neuhoff *et al.*, 1990). Briefly, acrylamide gels were fixed in a solution of 10% (v/v) acetic acid and 40% (v/v) methanol for one hour, and then stained overnight with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G.

2.4.7 Live confocal imaging

At the Imaging & Molecular Biology Platform (Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics, McGill Life Sciences Complex), longitudinal confocal imaging of live flies was performed as described previously (Dourlen *et al.*, 2013). Briefly, our non-transgenic (wildtype) and transgenic flies (eye-specific Aβ42 expression) were immobilized sagittally using 35mm plates half-filled with 2% low melting point agarose (Fisher Scientific) at 45°C, where half of the body and head of each fly was embedded into the agarose. After the plates were placed on ice to solidify the agarose, the flies were covered with ice-cold water for anaesthesia and cornea neutralization. The eyes were then imaged using a TCS SP8 confocal microscope (Leica; water-immersion objective, #506323, 25X 0.95NA Water HCX IRAPO L; 552 green laser at 18% power) and z-stacks were made for the whole eye of each fly. Post-imaging, the flies were gently retrieved from the agar using forceps and dried on Kimwipes (Kimberly-Clark). They were then placed back into their original tubes and allowed to recover overnight with the tubes placed on their side to prevent the

flies from drowning/sticking to the food. The autofluorescence which illuminates the compound eye under confocal microscopy is thought to derive from the conversion of rhodopsin to its photoproduct metarhodopsin upon light stimulation in the rhabdomeres or photoreceptors of each ommatidia (Franceschini *et al.*, 1981). The percent of defective ommatidia is quantified by dividing the number of defective ommatidia, defined as either merged or misshapen subunits, by the total number of observable ommatidia. The count was performed manually using the Cell Counter plugin in ImageJ.

2.4.8 Locomotor assay

Rapid iterative negative geotaxis assays (RING assays) were performed as described (Barone and Bohmann, 2013). Flies were aged to three weeks (21 days) at the beginning of the experiments, as A β 42-induced locomotor dysfunction has been previously shown to be discernible after this period (Iijima *et al.*, 2004). Measurements were then taken every 3 days, at the same time of the day for each group of 10-15 flies separated according to sex, genotype, and treatment. Each group of flies was placed in empty clear plastic tubes and allowed to recover from CO₂ anaesthesia at room temperature for 45 min. Flies were then forced to the bottom of the tubes by firmly tapping them against the lab bench for 10 sec, the number of flies that walked above the 2cm mark was recorded. There was a 1 min rest period between assays which were repeated 15 times to obtain the average climbing activity for the day, and the percentage climbing activity (number of flies over 2cm line/number of total flies x 100) was plotted as a function of age using Excel.

2.4.9 Mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI-MSI)

At the Histology Facility (Goodman Cancer Research Centre, McGill Life Sciences Complex), 10µm serial sections were prepared from flash-frozen flies using a cryostat (-14°C) and thawmounted on conductive, indium titanium oxide (ITO)-coated glass slides (Bruker Daltonics #8237001). Stored at -80°C before analysis, the mounted slides were transferred to vacuum desiccator and dried overnight before matrix application. At the McGill SPR-MS Facility, the dried sections were co-crystallized with super-DHB matrix (Sigma #50862; 9:1 (w/w) mixture of 2,5-dihydroxybenzoic acid and 2-hydroxy-5-methoxybenzoic acid) using an ImagePrep sprayer (Bruker Daltonics; 10mg/mL super-DHB in TA50). MSI spectra were acquired using a Bruker UltrafleXtreme MALDI-TOF/TOF system in reflectron positive ionization mode (calibrated mass range of 500 - 5,000 m/z and $20\mu\text{m}$ laser diameter; FlexControl v3.4 software). Spectra were processed using FlexImaging v4.1 software and normalized to total ion current (TIC).

2.4.10 Surface plasmon resonance (SPR)

At the McGill SPR-MS Facility, binding between D-AIP (941 Da) and AB42 (4512 Da) was examined using a BIACORE T200 system (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences AB, Upsala, Sweden; Control software v2.0 and Evaluation software v1.0). Experiments were performed on S-series CM5 sensors (Biacore) at 25°C using filtered (0.2µm) and degassed PBS-T buffer (10mM phosphate, pH 7.4; 150 mM NaCl; 0.05% (v/v) Tween-20). Immobilized Aβ42 surfaces (50 µg/mL in 10 mM sodium acetate pH 4.0) were prepared using the Biacore Amine Coupling Kit as recommended by the manufacturer (1000 - 3000 RU final density); corresponding reference surfaces were prepared in the absence of Aβ42. D-AIP (positive: RGTFEGKF) or an inverse peptide (negative: FKGEFTGR) were titrated in tandem over reference and active Aβ42 surfaces in single-cycle mode (25μ l/min × 60sec association + 60–600 sec dissociation). Between titration series, the surfaces were regenerated at 50µl/min using two 30 sec pulses of PBS-T containing 1M NaCl and 0.1% (v/v) Empigen detergent (Anatrace). Since the single-cycle data deviated from the simple "1:1 titration" binding model (i.e. likely due to mixed Aβ42 oligomeric states coupled to sensor), the "separate ka/kd" tool (BIAevaluation software) was used to predict the dissociation rate constant (k_d) at the beginning of the dissociation phase (i.e. between 625-645 sec to avoid rebinding effects).

2.4.11 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiplecomparison tests as appropriate, and individual p values are reported in figure legends. Kaplan-Meier survival curve analysis was used to compare survival curves. All results are expressed as mean \pm SEM (Standard Error of Mean). All statistical tests are performed using GraphPad Prism. P values < 0.05 were considered to be significant. Sample sizes are reported in figure legends, and no statistical method was used to predetermine sample size.

2.5 Results

2.5.1 A β 42-induced toxicity is rescued by D-AIP only in female transgenic flies at 5 days post-eclosion

Wildtype and Aβ42 transgenic flies were crossed and reared on food supplemented with AIP, synthesized with protease-sensitive L-amino acids (L-AIP) or protease-resistant D-amino acids (D-AIP). Human Aβ42 expression was verified in the transgenic flies via Western blot, and L- or D-AIP supplementation was found to have little effect on the overall longevity, locomotor behaviour, and overall A\beta42 levels of the animals (Supplemental Figure 1 and 2). At 5 days post-eclosion, the flies were individually imaged via live confocal microscopy to examine the morphology of the adult compound eye. No morphological changes in the shape of each ommatidium or the overall structure of the eye itself was observed in wildtype flies, irrespective of sex or AIP supplementation (Figure 11A). Eye-specific Aβ42 transgenic flies, however, exhibited severe deformations in ommatidia structure – especially around the outer boundary of the eye, where many fused and misshapen ommatidia could be observed. This detrimental effect on ommatidia structure appears to be Aβ42-specific, since eye-specific BACE1-expressing flies do not exhibit similar morphological deficits (Supplemental Figure 3). In the absence of AIP, quantification of the present micrographs indicates that 30% of the total ommatidia were misshapen or deformed in AB42 transgenics at 5 days post-eclosion, regardless of sex (Figure 11B). Interestingly, female Aβ42 transgenic flies supplemented with D-AIP showed a significant decrease in ommatidia deformation at day 5, with an average of 16% rescue compared to all other sexes and/or treatments. This rescue was not observed in male transgenic flies treated with D-AIP or any other flies of either sex treated with L-AIP.



None

62

Figure 11. Aβ42-induced "rough eye" phenotype is rescued in female transgenic flies at day 5 post eclosion by D-AIP supplementation

A. Representative live confocal images of compound eye at day 5 post eclosion for wildtype flies (normal morphology) and A β 42 transgenics (disrupted morphology) in the absence and presence of L- or D-AIP; scale bar: 200 μ m. **B**. Quantification of the percent of deformed ommatidia in A β 42 expressing flies raised on none, L-AIP, and D-AIP supplemented food; data is represented as mean \pm SEM, n = 3. Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA (F(5, 57) = 6.679, p < 0.0001, ANOVA) followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test; p values starting from the leftmost comparison are as follows: **p = 0.0029, *p = 0.0152, ***p < 0.0001, **p = 0.0023, and **p = 0.0025.

2.5.2 Differential localization of label-free D-AIP in male and female A β 42 transgenic flies at 5 days post-eclosion

To determine if AIP was taken up from the supplemented fly food and crossed the invertebrate BBB, we used innovative MALDI-MSI to examine the distribution of label-free AIP in the flies at day 5 post-eclosion. As evidenced by the blue-coloured heat maps (i.e. low signal intensity), little or no L-AIP was detectable in both wildtype and A β 42 transgenic flies bred and raised on L-AIP supplemented food (**Figure 12A**). For flies raised on D-AIP supplemented food, a generalized distribution of D-AIP was detectable in the wildtype male and female flies (mid-range colours and signal intensities). As evidenced by the white-coloured heat maps (i.e. high signal intensity), D-AIP was detected predominantly localized to the gut (body) of male transgenic flies in contrast to the head region of females (**Figure 12B**). Based upon the stable, direct binding interaction that we have detected between D-AIP and A β 42 *in vitro* (**Figure 12C**), proximity of the eye-specific A β 42 expression (i.e. heads not bodies; **Supplemental figure 1**) and head-specific D-AIP distribution was our first thought as to why neutralization of the "rough eye" phenotype (i.e. D-AIP-bound A β 42 oligomers are trapped and rendered non-toxic) was evident in the female transgenics but not males at day 5 post-eclosion.

2.5.3 Altered rescue efficacy and localization of D-AIP in A β 42 transgenic flies at 28 days post-eclosion

In our current study, the flies were bred and raised on a single, continuous dose of L- or D-AIP in their food (i.e. no new administrations of AIP were added to their food). To assess the long-term efficacy of the AIP rescue, both wildtype and transgenic flies were imaged again at 28 days posteclosion. While there were no changes in the native morphology of the ommatidia in wildtype flies, the "rough eye" phenotype appeared to be modestly worse in the A β 42 transgenics by day 28 (Figure 13A). Quantification of the ommatidia showed that in male transgenics, regardless of food supplementation, the percentage of deformed ommatidia had increased slightly at day 28 compared to day 5 post-eclosion (compare Figure 11B vs. Figure 13B). Compared to day 5, rescue of the "rough eye" morphology by D-AIP in female transgenics was no longer evident at day 28. At this point, the D-AIP-treated female transgenics exhibited similar magnitude of ommatidia defects as male transgenics in the absence/presence of L-AIP or D-AIP. As an added control, wildtype and A\beta42 transgenic flies were raised in the absence and presence of a scrambled form of the D-AIP peptide. While the long-term presence of scrambled D-AIP did not alter the native morphology of the compound eye in male or female wildtype flies by day 5 or 28, there also was no rescue of the "rough eye" phenotype in the male/female Aβ42 transgenic flies by scrambled D-AIP (Figure 14). Therefore, this control helped confirm that the observed rescue of the female transgenics was specifically dependent upon D-AIP supplementation in the food.

Next, MALDI-MSI was used to examine the distribution of label-free AIP and label-free A β 42 in the flies at day 28 post-eclosion. Similar to the day 5 results (**Figure 12**), D-AIP was localized within the body of the wildtype flies, whereas in the female A β 42 transgenics, it was localized towards the heads of the animals (**Figure 15A**). Notably, there was an increase in signal intensity for the amount of D-AIP detected in the heads of male A β 42 transgenics at day 28 when compared to day 5 (**compare Figure 12B vs. Figure 15B**). As an added control, we examined the food slurries after days 5 and 28 to examine the stability of AIP during the time course of the fly feedings (**Figure 15C**). Having detected the degradation of intact L-AIP (941 *m/z*) to a smaller metabolite (750 *m/z*) in fly head homogenates at day 28 (**Figure 15D**), this likely explains why there is little or no intact L-AIP in the coloured heat maps of day 28 sagittal fly sections (**Figure 15A**). In contrast, peaks of the intact protease-resistant D-AIP (941 Da) were still detected at day 28 in food and sagittal fly sections.



Figure 12. Distribution of label-free AIP in wildtype and transgenic A β 42 flies at day 5 post eclosion, as detected by MALDI-MSI at 20 μ m resolution

A. Wildtype and transgenic A β 42 flies were raised on fly food in the absence and presence of Lor D-AIP. Sagittal sections of the flies (at day 5 post eclosion) were analyzed by label-free MALDI-MSI. Using the appropriate mass filter (AIP = 941 *m/z*), the resultant "heat maps" indicate the relative intensity (low (*blue*) to high (*white*)) and position of L- or D-AIP within the fly heads and/or bodies. **B**. Relative quantification of D-AIP signal intensity in head vs. body for wildtype and A β 42 transgenic flies. **C**. Representative SPR data in which 156, 313, 625, 1250, and 2500 μ M D-AIP (low to high injections depicted by black arrows from left to right, respectively) specifically binds in a dose-dependent manner to 2220 RU amine-coupled A β 42 at 25mL/min; under identical conditions, no binding with inverse peptide (negative control) was observed. While sample heterogeneity (i.e. mixed A β 42 oligomeric states coupled to sensor) prevented calculation of the overall equilibrium dissociation constant (K_D), the observed dissociation rate constant (representative $k_d = 0.012 \text{ s}^{-1}$) demonstrates stable complex formation between D-AIP and A β 42.





Figure 13. D-AIP supplementation cannot rescue Aβ42-induced "rough eye" phenotype in female transgenic flies at day 28 post eclosion

A. Representative live confocal images of compound eye at day 28 post eclosion for wildtype flies (normal morphology) and A β 42 transgenics (disrupted morphology) in the absence and presence of L-AIP or D-AIP; scale bar: 200 μ m. **B**. Quantification of the percent of deformed ommatidia in A β 42 expressing flies raised on none, L-AIP, and D-AIP supplemented food; data is represented as mean \pm SEM, n = 3. Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA (F(5, 41) = 3.043, p = 0.0199, ANOVA) followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test; no significant difference was found between the samples.



Figure 14. Supplementation with scrambled D-AIP peptide has no effect on eye morphology in wildtype and Aβ42-expressing flies

A. Representative live confocal images of compound eye at days 5 and 28 post eclosion for wildtype flies (normal morphology) and A β 42 transgenics (disrupted morphology) in the presence of scrambled D-AIP (EFRKFTGG); scale bar: 200µm. **B**. Quantification of the percent of deformed ommatidia in A β 42 expressing flies raised on food supplemented with scrambled D-AIP; data is represented as mean ± SEM, n = 3. Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA (F(3, 12) = 0.5603, p = 0.6513, ANOVA) followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test, no significant difference was found between the samples.



Figure 15. D-AIP is localized to the heads of male transgenic flies by day 28 post eclosion, as detected by MALDI-MSI at 20 μ m resolution

A. Wildtype and transgenic A β 42 flies were raised on fly food in the absence and presence of Lor D-AIP. Sagittal sections of the flies (at day 28 post eclosion) were analyzed by label-free MALDI-MSI. Using the appropriate mass filter (AIP = 941 m/z), the resultant "heat maps" indicate the relative intensity (low (*blue*) to high (*white*)) and position of L- or D-AIP within the fly heads and/or bodies. **B**. Relative quantification of D-AIP signal intensity in head vs. body for wildtype and A β 42 transgenic flies. **C**. MALDI mass spectrometry of food slurry samples from 28-day old supplemented food. Both L- and D-AIP are readily detected (intact peptides at 941 m/z in both spectra). **D**. Wildtype flies were raised on L- or D-AIP supplemented food for 28 days; by MALDI mass spectrometry, the corresponding fly head homogenates reveal that L-AIP is protease-sensitive (metabolite detected at 750 m/z) whereas D-AIP is protease-resistant (intact peptide at 941 m/z).



Figure 16. Endogenous, male-specific Drosophila peptide co-localizes with D-AIP

A. Representative single point detection of unique peptide (4442 m/z) that co-localizes with D-AIP (941 m/z) in the body of male wildtype/transgenic flies raised on D-AIP supplemented food. B. Whole fly body lysates of wildtype males, females, and virgin females (VF) separated by SDS-PAGE and subjected to MS-friendly colloidal Coomassie staining; unique peptide observed in males and females (as indicated, 4-5 kDa range) is absent in virgin females. C. Representative MALDI-MSI heat maps show co-localization of 4442 Da peptide (male-specific) and 941 Da peptide (D-AIP) in sagittal sections of male transgenic flies at days 5 and 28 post eclosion. D. Representative MALDI-TOF data obtained from in-gel digestion of candidate 4442 Da peptide (male wildtype/transgenic flies only) by trypsin; UniProt BLAST search for each tryptic fragment yielded consistent identification as mature Acp70A (UniProt #P05623).

2.5.4 A male-specific sex peptide alters D-AIP localization and thereby impairs rescue of "rough eye" phenotype

Since the rescue of the "rough eye" phenotype by D-AIP was specific to the female A β 42 transgenic flies (i.e. live confocal imaging) and the distribution of D-AIP differed between the sexes, we then investigated the male A β 42 transgenics in greater detail. Re-analyzing our

MALDI-MSI spectra, a peptide (4442 m/z), which was only found in the male wildtype/transgenic flies, also co-localized with D-AIP in the fly bodies (**Figure 16A**). To isolate and identify this unknown protein in the flies, male, female, and virgin female body lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and subjected to MS-friendly colloidal Coomassie staining (**Figure 16B**). The bands of interest (i.e. 4-6 kDa range) were excised for in-gel digestion with trypsin. The resulting peptide fragments were analyzed by MALDI mass spectrometry and searched against the UniProt database to identify the unknown *Drosophila* protein as accessory gland protein-70A (Acp70A; **Figure 16D**). Acp70A is a male-derived sex peptide that co-localized with D-AIP in the gut of the male wildtype/transgenic flies by day 5 post-eclosion, and later co-localized to the heads by day 28 post-eclosion (**Figure 16C**). To account for the sex-specific rescue in the female transgenic flies (**Figure 11**), we thought that the differential distribution of D-AIP (i.e. male gut, female heads) impacted its efficacy to neutralize the eye-specific Aβ42 toxicity at day 5 post-eclosion. Acp70A may have sequestered D-AIP in the gut of the male flies, thereby impairing the rescue of the "rough eye" phenotype in the male Aβ42 transgenic flies at day 5 post-eclosion.



Figure 17. Development of AIP-Trap as a novel intervention to prevent toxic amyloid formation during early stages of AD

Proposed mechanism of action in which AIP-Trap (synthesized using protease-resistant D-amino acids) specifically binds to toxic low-order A β 42 oligomers rendering them non-toxic (without creating larger aggregates in the process). By example, our current study demonstrates that *Drosophila* transgenics expressing human A β 42 in the compound eye exhibit a "rough eye" phenotype (i.e. toxic) whereas D-AIP administration can render A β 42 non-toxic (i.e. rescued phenotype) without obvious side effects (i.e. high dosage D-AIP does not alter overall longevity, structure, or function of wildtype flies).

2.6 Discussion

We have previously shown that a short, 8-residue A β 42-oligomer interacting peptide (AIP) can suppress the aggregation of low-order A β 42 oligomers into fibrils *in vitro*, as well as neutralize A β 42-induced neurotoxicity in cell cultures and rat hippocampal slices (Barucker *et al.*, 2015). We have now used the *Drosophila* "rough eye" model to investigate the long-term efficacy of AIP in a full longitudinal study comparing male to female flies.

For our current study, individual flies had to be monitored for changes in their compound eye morphology over time. Therefore, we elected to use confocal microscopy since live imaging techniques are not compatible with electron microscopy (EM), the traditional approach used to image compound fly eyes (Pignoni *et al.*, 1997; Schreiber *et al.*, 2002; Iyer *et al.*, 2016). Faster and cheaper than TEM or SEM, live confocal imaging allowed us to monitor multiple cohorts of flies over 28 days (post-eclosion) for changes in eye morphology in the absence or presence of Aβ42 toxicity, with or without AIP supplementation in the fly food. It is well established that the expression of human Aβ42 in the *Drosophila* compound eye induces dramatic morphological changes (Crowther *et al.*, 2006; Jeon *et al.*, 2017; Sarkar *et al.*, 2018), resulting in deformed or merged ommatidia instead of the highly organized lattice array in wildtype flies (Ready *et al.*, 1976).

Wildtype and A β 42 transgenic flies were raised on food in the absence or presence of synthetic peptide supplementation (L-AIP, D-AIP, or scrambled D-AIP control). While intact masses for L- and D-AIP were readily detectable in the starting fly food by MALDI-MS (**Figure 15C**), protease-sensitive L-AIP was less stable compared to protease-resistant D-AIP especially by day 28 in the fly head homogenates (**Figure 15D**). While the intact mass for D-AIP (941 *m/z*) was still evident at this point, the conversion of intact L-AIP (941 *m/z*) to a smaller metabolite (750 *m/z*) appeared to correlate with the loss of the functionally important N-terminal arginine (Barucker *et al.*, 2015). Knowing that L-amino acid peptides typically exhibit decreased biostability compared to D-amino acid peptides (Tugyi et al., 2005; Li et al., 2012c; Fosgerau and Hoffmann, 2015), the *in vivo* degradation of L-AIP and loss of its N-terminal arginine residue

likely explains why L-AIP was unable to rescue the "rough eye" phenotype in our longitudinal study. Notably, other anti-amyloid peptide candidates have exhibited superior in vivo stability when synthesized using D-amino acids (e.g. "A β 1-6_{A2V}-TAT" candidate (Diomede et al., 2016)). In addition to enhanced stability, we showed that our lead D-AIP candidate can directly interact with A β 42 in a specific, dose-dependent manner as assessed by label-free, real-time SPR. The stable complex formation observed between our short, 8 amino acid D-AIP peptide and Aβ42 (i.e. dissociation rate constant, $k_d = 10^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$; Figure 12C) is consistent with other small inhibitors analyzed by SPR: e.g. $k_d = 0.022 \text{ s}^{-1}$ for 19 amino acid cyclic peptide ("MGSADGA-u2" serine protease inhibitor candidate) binding to immobilized uPA (Jiang et al., 2011); $k_d = 0.008 \text{ s}^{-1}$ for single-chain antibody fragment ("I2" anti-amyloid candidate) binding to immobilized AB42 fibrils (Munke et al., 2017); $k_d = 0.026 \text{ s}^{-1}$ for 7 amino acid cyclic peptide ("CP2" anti-infective candidate) binding to immobilized hSPSB2 (Sadek et al., 2018). Overall, our present longitudinal study demonstrates that a single, continuous dose of D-AIP in the fly food is (i) well tolerated in vivo over a significant portion of the Drosophila lifespan, (ii) not likely to generate potentially toxic secondary metabolites like L-AIP, and (iii) likely rescues the "rough eye" phenotype through its direct, stable binding interaction with low order AB42 oligomers.

At day 5 post-eclosion, it was evident that the "rough eye" phenotype was only ameliorated in the female A β 42 transgenics fed with D-AIP supplemented food (**Figure 11**). To further investigate this sex-specific outcome, we first examined the distribution of D-AIP in male and female flies. In the absence of D-AIP-specific antibodies and not wanting to adversely affect the therapeutic potential of the peptide with non-native tags and/or modifications, we elected to use innovative, label-free MALDI tissue imaging to determine the distribution of L- and D-AIP in the sagittal fly sections – to our knowledge, this is the first time that MALDI-MSI has been used to track a label-free therapeutic candidate in *Drosophila* sections. D-AIP localized more to the heads of female transgenics compared to the gut in male transgenics at day 5 post-eclosion (**Figure 12**). The differential D-AIP distribution between males and females is likely what contributed to the sexspecific rescue of the "rough eye" phenotype in female A β 42 transgenics only (**Figure 11**). Sequestration of the peptide in the gut of male flies may have impeded D-AIP from binding to eye-specific A β 42 in the heads of the transgenics flies and, for this reason, the A β 42-induced "rough eye" phenotype persisted in the male transgenics only.

We also investigated the long-term effect of single, continuous dose AIP administrations on the wildtype and Aβ42 transgenic flies. By day 28 post-eclosion, the ability of D-AIP to rescue the Aβ42-induced toxicity in female transgenic flies was no longer observed. Since the AIPsupplemented food was not refreshed throughout the duration this longitudinal study and the AIP distributions by MALDI-MSI are not quantitative, we expect that the bioavailability of D-AIP would be significantly decreased by day 28 (e.g. increased proteolysis or degradation of D-AIP in the flies and/or decreased uptake of D-AIP from food) when compared to day 5 post-eclosion. Although *Drosophila* possesses an endogenous γ -secretase complex (Hong and Koo, 1997; Periz and Fortini, 2004), as well as β - and α -secretase-like enzymes (Rooke *et al.*, 1996; Carmine-Simmen et al., 2009), these proteins only share about 50% homology with their human counterparts. The Drosophila APP ortholog, named dAPPI, also lacks significant homology in the region corresponding to the A β peptide sequence compared to vertebrate APP family members (Luo et al., 1992). Therefore, the non-native, human AB42 that we introduced in our "rough eye" transgenics was likely not readily degraded by the flies and, with increasing age, accumulated to the point that decreasing D-AIP levels could no longer rescue the more advanced phenotype (i.e. potentially more higher-order Aβ42 oligomers by day 28, compared to low-order Aβ42 oligomers at day 5 post-eclosion).

In the male A β 42 transgenic flies, it was observed that the distribution of D-AIP was different at day 28 compared to day 5 post-eclosion (**compare Figure 15 vs. 12, respectively**). Despite the overlap of D-AIP with eye-specific A β 42 in the heads of the male transgenics by day 28, there still was no rescue of the more advanced "rough eye" phenotype (i.e. potentially more unaffected higher-order A β 42 oligomers) at this point. Upon further investigation, we discovered a male-specific 4.4 kDa peptide, a mass consistent with the male-specific *Drosophila* sex peptide accessory gland protein-70A (Acp70A) (**Figure 16**), that seemed to colocalize with D-AIP on both days 5 and 28 post-eclosion (**Figure 16C**). Acp70A is produced exclusively in the male *Drosophila* and passed onto females in the seminal fluid during mating to enhance reproductive success (Liu and Kubli, 2003; Lawniczak and Begun, 2004; McGraw *et al.*, 2004; Mack *et al.*, 2006; Pilpel *et al.*, 2008). It is composed of 36 amino acids and is only produced by an accessory gland found in the gut of male flies (Yapici *et al.*, 2008). Since the low concentration of Acp70A in female flies is rapidly degraded (Pilpel *et al.*, 2008), we suspect that the high concentration of

Acp70A in male flies somehow sequestered D-AIP in the gut of the male transgenics by day 5 post-eclosion, thus impeding D-AIP from reaching the eye-specific A β 42 in the heads and rescuing the "rough eye" phenotype. Since Acp70A is a gut-specific peptide (i.e. day 5 detection in body by MALDI-MSI; **Figure 16**), its differential localization in the male A β 42 transgenics by day 28 post-eclosion suggests that it somehow co-migrated with D-AIP to the heads of the adult, day 28 flies. While this is intriguing, the unexpected outcome with Acp70A illustrates the importance of including both male and female *Drosophila* in the design of *in vivo* fly models. Nevertheless, this confounding factor does not impact our future directions since we now need to establish the efficacy of D-AIP in more advanced transgenic mouse/rat models of AD where fly physiology (i.e. Acp70A) will not be a factor.

2.7 Conclusion

In closing, this longitudinal study demonstrates that orally administered D-AIP has the potential to cross the invertebrate BBB and neutralize the A β 42-induced toxicity without obvious side effects (i.e. rescue of "rough eye" phenotype without impacting survival or locomotor behaviour in transgenic *Drosophila* model). In the absence of the confounding Acp70A sex-peptide issue (male flies only), we expect that rescue of the male transgenics would also have been possible at day 5 post-eclosion like the female transgenics. Now that we need to establish the efficacy of D-AIP in more complex rodent models of AD such as the 3xTg model (Oddo et al., 2003), we are encouraged that many other groups have reported that their small D-amino acid peptides are stable (i.e. protease-resistant), non-toxic, and can readily penetrate the blood brain barrier in wildtype mice via different routes of administration (Jiang *et al.*, 2016; Leithold *et al.*, 2016). Overall, our D-AIP peptide provides a novel mechanism of action to reduce amyloid toxicity (**Figure 17**), thus providing a promising new prophylactic strategy to delay and/or prevent the onset of AD.

2.7 Acknowledgements

This study was supported by a grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MOP-133411). GM holds both a Canada Research Chair in Molecular Pharmacology and a Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI) grant. The McGill Life Sciences Complex thanks the CFI for infrastructure support. Thanks also to Dr. Filip Liebsch for establishing the transgenic *Drosophila* strains and scientific guidance, and to the McGill Life Sciences Histology facility for their technical support.

2.8 Supplemental Figures



Supplemental Figure 1. AIP-supplemented food does not affect survival or locomotor behaviour of transgenic Aβ42 flies

A. Representative live confocal images of compound eye at day 5 post-eclosion for wildtype flies (normal morphology: hexagonal ommatidia) and AB42 transgenics (disrupted "rough eye" morphology: oval to highlight fused and/or misshapen ommatidia). B. Soluble and insoluble fractions from transgenic Drosophila heads and bodies were immunoprecipitated with the Aβspecific antibody W0-2. Compared to molecular weight markers and a known synthetic Aβ42 standard (far left lane, 4.5 kDa, 5 ng), representative Western blot analysis shows that eyespecific expression of human A\beta42 was only detectable in the heads of male and female flies as anticipated. Ø represents lanes loaded with protein ladder, 3 heads or bodies of each sex was used per sample. C. Representative Kaplan-Meier survival curves show that longevity of wildtype (df = 2, p = 0.3589) and A β 42 (df = 2, p = 0.2107) transgenic flies was unaltered in the presence of added AIP. (13 animals per group, n = 3) **D**. Representative RING assays show that locomotor activity of wildtype and AB42 transgenics flies was unaltered in the presence of added AIP; 13 animals per group, n = 3; data is represented as mean \pm SEM. Linear regression was used to establish and compare slopes for wildtype (F = 4.04113, p = 0.01823, statistically significant difference between slopes) and A β 42 transgenics (F = 1.81889, p = 0.1634, no significant difference between slopes).



Supplemental Figure 2. Expression of human A β 42 is similar in both male and female transgenic flies regardless of food supplementation

A. Western blot of human A β 42 expression in transgenic *D. melanogaster* with eye-specific driver. Animals were treated with unsupplemented, L-AIP supplemented, and D-AIP supplemented food. **B.** Quantification of Western blot data. A β 42 expression levels appears to be similar in both the soluble and insoluble fraction of both sexes regardless of food supplementation. The addition of L- and D-AIP does not seem to affect the overall levels of A β 42 accumulation. Data is represented as mean ± SEM. Two way ANOVA was performed and no significant difference was detected between the groups. n = 3.



Supplemental Figure 3. Eye-specific BACE1 expression has no effect on gross morphology of ommatidia in male (M) or female (F) transgenic flies

A. Representative confocal images of eye-specific human BACE1-expressing flies supplemented with food containing L-, D-, and D-scrambled AIP at day 5 post-eclosion; scale bar: 200 μ m. **B**. Western blot analysis of BACE1 expression in eye-specific BACE1 expressing flies. Lysates from isolated fly heads of wildtype, A β 42-expressing, and BACE1-expressing transgenics were probed for human BACE1.

MANUSCRIPT 3

The D-enantiomeric Aβ42-oligomer Interacting Peptide (D-AIP) attenuates amyloid-β42 induced defects in *Drosophila melanogaster* locomotion

Yifei Zhong, Adeola Shobo, Mark Hancock, and Gerhard Multhaup

Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics McGill Life Sciences Complex (Bellini Pavilion) 68 – 3649 Promenade Sir William Osler Montreal, Quebec, Canada, H3G 0B1

3.1 Foreword

Our results from the previous manuscript (**manuscript 2**) showed D-AIP was highly effective at rescuing A β 42-induced defects in the gross morphology of the *Drosophila* compound eye. We are next interested as to whether D-AIP can also rescue A β 42-induced functional deficits in more complex physiological systems such as the *Drosophila* central nervous system (CNS). To this end, we have decided to utilize the neuron-specific A β 42-expressing model that we have also previously characterized in our first manuscript (**manuscript 1**). Using these transgenic animals, we performed food supplementation experiments with AIP and measured the locomotor activities of the flies in longitudinal experiments to assess functional changes and rescue. We also employed label-free MALDI-IMS techniques to determine and analyze the presence and localization of D-AIP in sagittal fly slices. Overall, this third manuscript suggests that A β 42-induced functional deficits in *Drosophila* could also be ameliorated with long-term administration of D-AIP, and in conjunction with the second manuscript, shows that D-AIP is a stable, non-toxic, and effective *in vivo* neutralizer of toxic A β 42.

3.2 Abstract

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that is characterized by the loss of neurons and the formation of amyloid plaques. These AD plaques are a result from the aggregation of amyloid beta (A β) peptides, and small soluble oligomers of the A β moiety with 42 amino acids (A β 42) are believed to be the main effector of synaptic dysfunction and neuronal loss. We have demonstrated previously that a small A β 42-oligomer interacting peptide synthesized from D-amino acids (D-AIP) can ameliorate A β 42-induced eye deformations in vivo in a transgenic Drosophila model. Now, to further investigate the neutralizing effects of D-AIP on A β 42-induced toxicity in functional studies, we have conducted longitudinal food supplementation in transgenic *Drosophila* models where human A β 42 is expressed in a panneuronal manner and induces defects in locomotor activity of the transgenic animals. Treatment with D-AIP was able to significantly rescue the decline of climbing activity driven by A β 42 expression, and mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI-MSI) data confirmed the robust distribution and uptake of D-AIP in vivo. Surprisingly, this rescue was only evident in male transgenic animals, as the climbing activities of the females were not generally affected by the pan-neuronal expression of human A β 42. Our longitudinal study demonstrates that D-AIP can successfully attenuate A β 42-induced defects in functional behaviour (i.e. climbing), and the observed sex difference in rescue further illustrates the need to include sex as a variable in both *in vitro* and *in* vivo experiments.

3.3 Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder, and is currently the most common cause of dementia in the world (Alzheimer's, 2010). A common pathological feature of the disease is the presence of amyloid plaques, which are extracellular deposits of a small protein named amyloid beta (A β) (LaFerla and Oddo, 2005; Nelson et al., 2009). A β peptides are generated via the sequential proteolysis of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) by β - and γ -secretase, where A β of a variety of lengths can be produced (De Strooper and Annaert, 2000). Of which, the A β peptide with 42 amino acid residues (A β 42) has been shown to be the most prone to oligomerization and neurotoxicity (Tanzi and Bertram, 2005). Soluble A β 42 oligomers have been suggested to be the main toxic agent that is culpable for the development and progression of AD (Ferreira et al., 2015; Selkoe and Hardy, 2016). As such, they have become interesting therapeutic targets for the development of AD interventions (Salahuddin et al., 2016).

Previously, we have reported that the small synthetic A β 42-oligomer interacting peptide (AIP) is able to ameliorate the aggregation and toxic behaviours of A β 42 oligomers in *in vitro* experiments, as well as rescue the A β 42-induced loss of synaptic spine density and LTP in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures (Barucker et al., 2015). Additionally, using transgenic *Drosophila melanogaster* – which have been demonstrated as an important and influential *in vivo* model system in the study of neurodegenerative diseases such as AD (Iijima et al., 2004; Jeibmann and Paulus, 2009) – we showed that AIP supplementation was able to prevent the formation of the "rough-eye" phenotype caused by A β 42 expression (Barucker et al., 2015). Specifically, we showed that AIP composed solely of D-amino acids (D-AIP) was able to rescue the "rough eye" phenotype in induced by A β 42 expression in a sex-dependent manner, where eye malformations caused by A β 42 expression was ameliorated by D-AIP only in female animals (**manuscript 2**).

We now aim to further characterize the effects of D-AIP in more complex *Drosophila* physiological systems. Notably, *Drosophila* models that express the toxic human Aβ42 peptide in the brain and/or CNS have been extensively used to reliably characterize its toxic downstream

effects at both molecular and physiological levels (Finelli et al., 2004; Crowther et al., 2005; Luheshi et al., 2007; Iijima et al., 2008; Iijima-Ando et al., 2008). For our study, we have elected to use a *Drosophila* model with pan-neuronal A β 42 expression in order to assess the effects of D-AIP on A β 42-induced functional defects. To this end, we demonstrated that D-AIP was able to rescue the locomotor deficits in the transgenic animals. However, this effect was limited to the male animals, as the female animals appeared to be resistant to A β 42-induced toxicity. We also used novel, label-free matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI-MSI) technique to confirm the uptake and distribution of D-AIP in the transgenic animals. Our study shows that orally administered D-AIP is readily bioavailable and can reliably rescue A β 42-induced functional defects *in vivo*.
3.4 Materials and Methods

3.4.1 Transgenic Drosophila

UAS-Aβ42 flies were generated as described previously (Harmeier et al., 2009). Transgenic flies that contain the UAS-Aβ42 construct were crossed with flies containing *elav-Gal4* to induce Aβ42 expression in a neuron-specific manner. Transgenic UAS-BACE1 flies were generated using the pUAST-BACE1 construct. They were crossed with *elav-Gal4* containing flies to obtain control transgenic flies that expressed BACE1 in a neuron-specific manner. Canton S flies were used as wildtype controls and were also crossed with *elav-Gal4* flies to obtain Gal4-only controls. Flies are reared in an incubator (Tritech) with 12hr light/dark cycle, 50% humidity, and at 25°C.

3.4.2 Peptides

Label-free AIP (L- or D-amino acids, RGTFEGKF, 940.5 Da) and scrambled AIP (L- or Damino acids, EFRKFTGG, 940.5 Da) were purchased from BioBasic (Markham, ON, Canada) and verified by mass spectrometry at the McGill SPR-MS Facility (Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics, McGill Life Sciences Complex). Prepared fresh for each experiment, AIP peptides were solubilized at 50 mg/ml in deionized water containing 0.1% ammonia, vortexed, and then sonicated at 37hz and 100% power for 10min at 4°C. Resuspended AIP peptides were diluted to 1 mg/mL in TA50 (acetonitrile : 0.1% (v/v) TFA = 50:50) for testing by MALDI-MS (verify intact mass via Bruker UltrafleXtreme system) or ESI-MS (verify sequence via Bruker Impact II system) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

3.4.3 AIP food supplementation

Flies were bred on Jazz-Mix *Drosophila* fly food (Fisher Scientific). Food supplemented with AIP peptides was prepared in 15ml centrifuge tubes (Sigma-Aldrich) to conserve volume and prevent drying. Dissolved peptides were added to a final concentration of 50mM to the bottom of the centrifuge tubes, then 1ml of freshly prepared fly food cooled to 45°C was added on top. The mixture was thoroughly blended using a 1ml pipette with cut tip and left to solidify for over 12hrs at room temperature. Parental generation flies were crossed on supplemented food, and

were removed with the appearance of F1 3rd instar larvae. F1 transgenic flies were separated by sex and collected into fresh tubes as they eclose.

3.4.4 Live confocal imaging

Live confocal imaging studies have been described previously (Dourlen et al., 2013). Briefly, each animal is immobilized sagittally on a 35mm plate half-filled with 2% low melting point agarose (Fisher Scientific) at 45°C, where half of the body and head of the fly is embedded into the agarose. The plate is placed on ice for the agarose to solidify. The fly is then covered with ice-cold water for anaesthesia and cornea neutralization, and imaged using a TCS SP8 confocal microscope (Leica; water-immersion objective, #506323, 25X 0.95NA Water HCX IRAPO L; 552 green laser at 18% power) at the Imaging & Molecular Biology Platform (Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics, McGill Life Sciences Complex. A z-stack is subsequently made of the whole eye of the animal. The flies are gently retrieved from the agar using forceps post imaging and dried on Kimwipes (Kimberly-Clark). They are then placed back into their original tubes and allowed to recover overnight with the tube place on its side to prevent the animals from drowning/sticking to the food. The autofluorescence which illuminates the compound eye under confocal microscopy is thought to derive from the conversion of rhodopsin to its photoproduct metarhodopsin upon light stimulation in the rhabdomeres or photoreceptors of each ommatidia (Franceschini et al., 1981).

3.4.5 Locomotor assay

Rapid iterative negative geotaxis assays (RING assay) was performed as described (Barone and Bohmann, 2013). Flies were aged to three weeks (21 days) at the beginning of the experiments, as A β 42-induced locomotor dysfunction has been previously shown to be discernible after this period (Iijima et al., 2004). Measurements were taken every 3 days, at the same time of the day for each sex/genotype. Groups of 10-15 animals, separated by sex, genotype, and treatment, are placed in empty clear plastic tubes and allowed to recover from CO₂ anaesthesia at room temperature for 45mins. Flies are then forced to the bottom of the tube by firmly tapping against the bench for 10 sec. They are then allowed to climb up the sides of the vials for a further 10 sec, and the number of flies that walked above the 2cm mark was recorded. They were allowed one minute to rest between assays. This was repeated 15 times to obtain the average climbing activity for the day, and the percentage climbing activity (number of flies over 2cm line/number of total flies x 100) was plotted as a function of age using Excel.

3.4.6 Tissue homogenates

Five flies of each sex, genotype, and treatment were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. The heads were collected and homogenized in 100µl of PBS-PI (PBS buffer with Complete EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablets (Roche)) (Helmfors et al., 2015). The resulting mixture was centrifuged at 12,000g for 10mins at 4°C, and the supernatant was extracted as the soluble fraction. The pellet was further resuspended in 50µl of extraction buffer containing guanidinium HCl (5M GnHCl, 50mM Hepes pH 7.3, 5mM EDTA, Protease inhibitor (Roche)) (Caesar et al., 2012) and centrifuged again to obtain the supernatant which constitutes the insoluble fraction. Alternatively, whole head, body, or fly homogenates were prepared by crushing 15 fly heads into whole cell extract (WCE) buffer (Sayre et al., 1992) and then centrifuging at 10,000g for 10mins at 4°C. The supernatant was isolated and spun down twice more to further separate out impurities and insoluble contaminants.

3.4.7 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot

Aβ42 was immunoprecipitated from insoluble and soluble fractions of fly head homogenates via incubation with antibody W0-2 (Aβ residues 5-8) and protein G Sepharose beads (GE Healthcare #17-0618-01). Samples were then separated by SDS-PAGE on 10-20% tris-tricine gels (BioRad) and transferred to 0.45µm nitrocellulose membranes and probed with W0-2 and anti-mouse secondary antibody (Promega) for Aβ42 detection. 15µl aliquots of insoluble and soluble fractions were conserved and directly separated by SDS-PAGE on 10-20% tris-tricine gels (BioRad) and transferred to 0.45µm nitrocellulose membranes, and subsequently probed with anti-actin (MAB1501, Millipore). Whole head homogenates were directly separated by SDS-PAGE on 12.5% polyacrylamide gels and transferred to 0.45µm nitrocellulose membranes, and subsequently probed with W0-2, anti-actin (MAB1501, Millipore) and anti-BACE1 (D10E5, Cell Signaling).

3.4.8 Mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI-MSI)

At the Histology Facility (Goodman Cancer Research Centre, McGill Life Sciences Complex), 10 μ m serial sections were prepared from flash-frozen flies using a cryostat (-14°C) and thawmounted on conductive, indium titanium oxide (ITO)-coated glass slides (Bruker Daltonics #8237001). Stored at -80°C before analysis, the mounted slides were transferred to vacuum desiccator and dried overnight before matrix application. At the McGill SPR-MS Facility, the dried sections were co-crystallized with super-DHB matrix (Sigma #50862; 9:1 (w/w) mixture of 2,5-dihydroxybenzoic acid and 2-hydroxy-5-methoxybenzoic acid) using an ImagePrep sprayer (Bruker Daltonics; 10 mg/mL super-DHB in TA50). MSI spectra were acquired using a Bruker UltrafleXtreme MALDI-TOF/TOF system in reflectron positive ionization mode (calibrated mass range of 500 – 5,000 *m/z* and 20 μ m laser diameter; FlexControl v3.4 software). Spectra were processed using FlexImaging v4.1 software and normalized to total ion current (TIC).

3.4.9 Statistical analyses

All results are expressed as mean \pm SEM (Standard Error of Mean). Statistical comparisons are made by unpaired Student's t-test with Bonferroni correction, and Kaplan-Meier survival curve analysis was used to compare survival curves. All statistical tests are performed using GraphPad Prism. P values < 0.05 were considered to be significant. Sample sizes are reported in figure legends, and no statistical method was used to predetermine sample size.

3.5 Results

3.5.1 D-AIP administration ameliorates Aβ42-induced locomotor deficits only in male animals

To assess the effects of AIP rescue on more complex aspects of *Drosophila* physiology, we have decided to use a pan-neuronal driver, *elav*. Neuron-specific expression of A β 42 has been shown previously to cause locomotor dysfunction in *Drosophila*, whereas the expression of other amyloid species such as A β 40 did not have an effect (Iijima et al., 2004). Here, the climbing behaviour of wildtype flies appeared to decline with age, which has been reported previously in the *Drosophila* literature (i.e. locomotor activity is negatively correlate with aging)(Arking and Wells, 1990; Gargano et al., 2005; Jones and Grotewiel, 2011). The male A β 42 transgenic animals, however, showed a much steeper decline over time in comparison (**Figure 18, top and bottom left panels**). This defect in locomotor behaviour was significantly improved with the administration of D-AIP, showing a very pronounced rescue of A β 42-induced behaviour deficits. Interestingly, the behaviour of the female transgenic flies does not seem to be affected by panneuronal A β 42-expression or D-AIP administration compared to their wildtype counterparts (**Figure 18, top and bottom right panels**).

To fully characterize the effects of A β 42 expression on our transgenic flies, we also performed live confocal imaging to visualize the eye morphology of the animals (**Figure 19A**). We did not observe any eye deformations at 28 days post eclosion in transgenic animals of either sex. Additionally, we also monitored the survival of all genotypes and sexes across treatments, and detected no major differences between them (**Figure 19B**). Next, to confirm that the detrimental effects are specific to the presence of A β 42, we also generated human BACE1 neuron-specific expressing animals. We assessed their locomotor behaviour and found that neuron-specific transgenic BACE1 expression had no effect on either sex (**Figure 20A**). Surprisingly, female transgenic animals supplemented with D-AIP exhibited significantly reduced longevity (**Figure 20B**). We confirmed the expression of BACE1 in these animals via Western blot analysis (**Figure 20C**).



Figure 18. D-AIP supplementation rescues Aβ42-induced locomotor deficits in male transgenic flies

Representative RING assays show that locomotor activity of male A β 42 transgenic flies are decreased compared to wildtypes. D-AIP supplementation significantly rescued this defect. 15 animals per group, n = 3; data is represented as mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis was performed using two way ANOVA with Bonferroni posttests; *p <0.05, **p <0.001, ***p < 0.0001.



Figure 19. AIP supplementation has no effect on the gross eye morphology and survival of transgenic Aβ42 flies

A. Representative live confocal images of compound eye at day 28 post eclosion for wildtype flies and A β 42 transgenics. Both exhibit normal morphology of hexagonal ommatidia subunits. scale bar: 200 μ m. **B**. Representative Kaplan-Meier survival curves show that longevity of wildtype and A β 42 transgenic flies were unaltered in the presence of added D-AIP. No significance was detected between the groups. 15 animals per group, n = 3.



A

Figure 20. Neuron-specific BACE1 expression has no effect on the climbing behaviour of transgenic flies

A. Representative RING assays show that locomotor activity of wildtype and BACE1 transgenic flies are unchanged by D-AIP supplementation. 15 animals per group, n = 3; data is represented as mean \pm SEM. Statistical analysis was performed using two way ANOVA with Bonferroni posttests; ***p < 0.0001. **B**. Representative Kaplan-Meier survival curves show that longevity of wildtype flies and male BACE1-expression flies were unaltered in the presence of added D-AIP. Female BACE1 transgenic flies exhibited a decrease in survival upon D-AIP treatment. 13 animals per group, n = 3; *p = 0.0142. **C**. Western blot analysis of BACE1 expression in neuron-specific BACE1 expressing flies. Lysates from isolated fly heads of wildtype and BACE1-expressing transgenics were probed for human BACE1.

3.5.2 Distribution of label-free D-AIP is similar between male and female A β 42 transgenic flies at 5 days post eclosion

We used MALDI-IMS as a label-free method to determine the uptake and distribution of AIP in whole animals slices between the sexes. At day 5 post eclosion, L-AIP was virtually undetectable in both wildtype and transgenic flies bred and raised on L-AIP supplemented food (**Figure 21A**, **second row**). In contrast, D-AIP was detectable throughout the body and the head of both wildtype as well as A β 42-expressing transgenic animals bred and raised on D-AIP supplemented food (**Figure 21A**, **third row**). Overall, quantification of the signal localization of D-AIP shows a relatively constant distribution between genotypes and sexes, with the majority of D-AIP being found in the body of the animals (**Figure 21B**).

3.5.3 Altered localization of D-AIP in female A β 42 transgenic animals at 28 days post eclosion

In our current study, the flies were bred and raised on a single, high dose of L- or D-AIP in their food (i.e. no new administrations of AIP were added to their food). To assess the long-term efficacy of the AIP rescue, both wildtype and transgenic flies were imaged again via MALDI-MSI at 28 days post-eclosion. The distribution of D-AIP in wildtype animals and male A β 42 transgenic animals remained relatively consistent with day 5 results, where the majority of the peptide is found in the body of the insect (compare **Figure 21A** to **Figure 22A**). The levels of D-AIP in the heads of transgenic females, however, appears to have decreased dramatically from 31% on day 5 to 0% of the total on day 28 post eclosion (**Figure 22B**).

3.5.4 Insoluble deposits of A β 42 is significantly increased in the heads of transgenic female animals

We next performed immunoprecipitation and Western blot experiments to ascertain the relative levels of A β 42 expression in the animals. Analysis of day 28 post eclosion fly homogenates indicated a similar level of A β 42 expression regardless of sex and AIP supplementation (**Figure 23**). Further analysis of head and body homogenates (i.e. with an increased number of animals) revealed a significant increase in the insoluble fraction of A β 42 in only the heads of the female A β 42 transgenic flies (**Figure 24**). This effect seems to be specific to A β 42, as BACE1 expressing transgenic flies had similar levels of protein expression between the sexes (**Figure 20B**). We propose that the altered localization of D-AIP to the body with the increased insoluble A β 42 levels in the heads of female transgenic flies may be likely to explain why female transgenic flies are resistant to A β 42 neurotoxicity, since insoluble A β 42 aggregates have been previously shown to be less toxic compared to oligomers (reviewed in (Selkoe and Hardy, 2016)).



В



Figure 21. Distribution of label-free AIP in wildtype and transgenic A β 42 flies are similar at day 5 post eclosion

A. Wildtype and transgenic A β 42 flies were raised on fly food in the absence and presence of Lor D-AIP. Sagittal sections of the flies (at day 5 post eclosion) were analyzed by label-free MALDI-MSI. Using the appropriate mass filter (AIP = 941 m/z), the resultant "heat maps" indicate the relative intensity (low (*blue*) to high (*white*)) and position of L- or D-AIP within the fly heads and/or bodies. **B.** Relative quantification of D-AIP signal intensity in head vs. body for wildtype and A β 42 transgenic flies.



В



104

Figure 22. D-AIP localizes to the body of female transgenic flies at day 28 post eclosion

A. Wildtype and transgenic A β 42 flies were raised on fly food in the absence and presence of Lor D-AIP. Sagittal sections of the flies (at day 28 post eclosion) were analyzed by label-free MALDI-MSI. Using the appropriate mass filter (AIP = 941 m/z), the resultant "heat maps" indicate the relative intensity (low (*blue*) to high (*white*)) and position of L- or D-AIP within the fly heads and/or bodies. **B**. Relative quantification of D-AIP signal intensity in head vs. body for wildtype and A β 42 transgenic flies.



Figure 23. The expression of $A\beta42$ is similar in transgenic animals regardless of sex or AIP treatment

Soluble and insoluble lysates from whole transgenic *Drosophila* (aged 28 days post eclosion) were immunoprecipitated with the A β -specific antibody W0-2. Representative Western blot analysis shows that neuron-specific expression of human A β 42 was detectable in the transgenic animals. 5 heads or bodies of each sex was used per sample.





Figure 24. Insoluble Aβ42 levels are increased in the heads of transgenic female flies

A. Soluble and insoluble lysates from transgenic *Drosophila* heads and bodies (aged 28 days post eclosion) were immunoprecipitated with the A β -specific antibody W0-2. Compared to molecular weight markers and a known synthetic A β 42 standard (far left lane, 4.5 kDa, 5 ng), representative Western blot analysis shows that neuron-specific expression of human A β 42 was detectable in both the heads and bodies of male and female flies. 10 heads or bodies of each sex were used per sample. **B.** Quantification of Western blot data, normalized to actin control. n = 4. Statistical analysis was performed using two way ANOVA with Bonferroni posttests; ***p < 0.0001.

3.6 Discussion

Decreases in both synapse function and number is one of the strongest quantitative pathological correlation to dementia in AD (Selkoe and Hardy, 2016), and A β 42 oligomers, in particular, have been strongly implicated in the impairment of synaptic function and structures. We have previously shown that an inhibitor of A β 42 oligomers – the small, 8-residue A β -oligomer interacting peptide (AIP) – was able to ameliorate the loss of synaptic spin density and LTP in hippocampal slice cultures, as well as neutralize A β 42-induced morphological deficits in transgenic *Drosophila* (Barucker et al., 2015) (**manuscript 2**). In our current study, we further investigated the efficacy of AIP to neutralize A β 42-induced toxicity in more complex physiological systems such as the brain and CNS of transgenic *Drosophila*.

We used *elav* as a driver to drive the expression of A β 42 in a pan-neuronal manner, as it has been shown to be expressed pan-neuronally in all stages of development, and is present exclusively in all immature and mature neurons (Robinow and White, 1991; Koushika et al., 1996). While *elav* is not known to be highly expressed in the eyes of adult flies, its function has been shown to be essential in the development of the eye and the optic lobe (Campos et al., 1985; Campos et al., 1987), and especially in the proper development of photoreceptors (Koushika et al., 1996). However, we did not observe any gross eye deformations in the transgenic animals in our study, which indicates that *elav*-driven Aβ42 expression does not affect structural aspects or components of the eye (Figure 19). The detrimental effects of pan-neuronally expressed A β 42 on both the longevity and locomotor behaviour of Drosophila have been broadly characterized by both our group and others (manuscript 1) (Finelli et al., 2004; Crowther et al., 2005; Luheshi et al., 2007; Iijima et al., 2008; Iijima-Ando et al., 2008). In our hands, the climbing activity of the wildtype flies declined overtime, which has been previously reported as a normal consequence of aging (Arking and Wells, 1990; Gargano et al., 2005; Jones and Grotewiel, 2011). The transgenic flies, however, showed a much more dramatic decrease over time in locomotor behaviour (i.e. RING assays) in excess of the normal decline observed with age. Interestingly, we were able to rescue this adverse behavioural phenotype in a sex specific manner via food supplementation with D-AIP. Specifically, male transgenic animals fed on the D-AIP supplemented food were

able to maintain a robust locomotor response that is comparable to those observed in wildtype flies in longitudinal studies (**Figure 18**). This result correlates with our previous observations where we used D-AIP to successfully rescue A β 42-induced 'rough-eye' phenotypes, and shows that D-AIP can indeed rescue deficits in both morphological (i.e. eye structure) and functional (i.e. CNS) systems (**manuscript 2**).

Additionally, it is interesting to note that in our studies, female A β 42 transgenic animals did not appear to be susceptible to Aβ42-induced defects in locomotor activity. This was quite an interesting finding for us, and so far there do not seem to be any detailed reports in the literature on this sex-specific discrepancy in response to pan-neuronal A β 42 expression. Upon further investigation, we discovered that the insoluble fraction of A^β42 was significantly increased in the female animals (Figure 24). Since it has been shown previously by other groups that insoluble amyloid plaque cores are not toxic and may in fact sequester the toxic soluble oligomers to a certain degree (Koffie et al., 2009; Hong et al., 2014), we suspect that this increase in insoluble A β 42 may be the contributing factor which allows the female A β 42 transgenic flies to be resistant to A β 42-induced toxicity. We also detected a discrepancy in the D-AIP distribution (analyzed via MALDI-IMS) at 28 day post eclosion, where D-AIP became entirely located in the body of the female Aβ42 transgenic specimens (compare Figure 21 to Figure 22). In our previous work, we have shown that AIP preferentially binds to soluble, low-order Aβ42 oligomers (i.e. mainly tetramers and hexamers) (Barucker et al., 2015) and not larger insoluble aggregates. As such, the increased insoluble $A\beta 42$ fraction in the heads of transgenic females suggests that this is likely the reason D-AIP was not detected in the heads of the animals as it would not likely bind to the insoluble AB42 aggregates, which would explain the observed shift in distribution of AIP to mainly in the body of the female animals as we have detected via MALDI-MSI.

3.7 Conclusion

Overall, our study showed that orally administered D-AIP has the potential to rescue functional deficits induced by A β 42 toxicity *in vivo* without obvious side effects (i.e. rescue of locomotor impairments in transgenic *Drosophila* without impacting survival). Taken together with our previous *in vitro* and *in vivo* results (Barucker et al., 2015) (**manuscript 2**), we strongly believe that our D-AIP peptide is a promising potential therapeutic for AD and is an excellent candidate for further studies in more advance rodent models of AD.

3.7 Acknowledgements

This study was supported by a grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MOP-133411). GM holds both a Canada Research Chair in Molecular Pharmacology and a Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI) grant. The McGill Life Sciences Complex thanks the CFI for infrastructure support. Thanks also to Dr. Filip Liebsch for establishing the transgenic *Drosophila* strains and scientific guidance, and to the McGill Life Sciences Histology facility for their technical support.

III. GENERAL DISCUSSION

In this thesis, we have focused our efforts on elucidating the efficacy of AIP in ameliorating A β 42-induced toxicity *in vivo* in transgenic models of *Drosophila melanogaster*. To this end, I have presented three individual manuscripts in this manuscript-based thesis. The first of which established and characterized novel human A β 42-expressing *Drosophila* models to better study and mimic the temporal expression and downstream effects of human A β 42 (**manuscript 1**). We then demonstrated that longitudinal oral treatment with D-AIP was able to effectively ameliorate the human A β 42-induced toxicity in the morphology (**manuscript 2**) and behaviour (**manuscript 3**) of the animals with minimal negative side effects, albeit in interesting, sex-specific manners.

Overall, our findings show that i) the sex of the animals is an important variable in *in vivo* studies, and sex-specific effects (such as the presence of male- or female-specific proteins) can potentially offer key explanations on the differing efficacy of therapeutics in male and female animals, and ii) AIP is indeed a viable therapeutic candidate against A β 42-induced toxicity *in vivo*, and our *Drosophila* studies of AIP efficacy are able to serves as proof-of-principle for future studies in more complex rodent models of AD.

1. Modeling Aβ42-induced toxicity *in vivo*

Our first goal of this study was to establish and characterize in detail the effects of human A β 42 expression on the morphology (i.e. compound eye structure) and behaviour (i.e. locomotor activity) of transgenic *Drosophila*, in order to establish a pathological baseline that can be used as a comparison in future rescue studies (manuscript 1).

In our hands, the constitutive transgenic expression of human A β 42 in *Drosophila* neurons had significant negative impact on both the locomotor ability of the animals as well as their longevity (Figure 7 and 8), indicating that neurons are susceptible to AB42 expression in these transgenic flies. Others have also observed this previously where the induction of human A β 42 in the neurons of Drosophila caused progressive degeneration and plaque formation in the animals (Finelli et al., 2004; Iijima et al., 2004; Crowther et al., 2005). This is by no means a specific susceptibility unique to Drosophila, but is indicative of the general detrimental effects of human AB42 on neurons – toxicity induced by the expression of human AB42 has been shown in a variety of animal models such as mice, rats, and other invertebrate models such as nematodes. For example, transgenic mice expressing Aβ42 develop compact amyloid plaques and cerebral amyloid angiopathy (CAA), while mice expressing AB40 do not show such pathology (McGowan et al., 2005). The expression of APP with Swedish and Indiana mutations in transgenic rats – which both increases the production of A β 42 and the A β 42/A β 40 ratio (Citron et al., 1994; Johnston et al., 1994; Tamaoka et al., 1994; Scheuner et al., 1996) - showed extensive cognitive impairments in the animals as early as 3 months of age (Leon et al., 2010). Additionally, AB42 expression in the neurons of C. elegans resulted in deficits in odour preference learning and neuronal degeneration (Dosanjh et al., 2010; Treusch et al., 2011).

Non-neuronal cells and tissues outside of the brain and CNS in invertebrate models also appear to be somewhat susceptible to A β 42-induced toxicity. Our studies in the *Drosophila* model have shown that eye-specific A β 42 produced a 'rough eye' phenotype where the morphology of the compound eye is disrupted due to A β 42-induced degeneration (**Figure 5**). Others have also consistently observed this phenotype in the literature as well (Finelli et al., 2004; Iijima et al., 2004). Alternatively, using a different invertebrate model and non-neuronal tissue, Link et al.

were able to also show that both constitutive and induced transgenic A β 42 expression in the muscles of *C. elegans* caused a progressive paralysis and the accumulation of intracellular deposits (Link, 1995; Link et al., 2003).

Most of these previously described AD animal models – both vertebrate and invertebrates – express high levels of transgenic A β 42 or AD-related proteins such as APP from embryonic stages, well before the protein's natural physiological accumulation in either early-onset human FAD and late-onset sporadic AD. This makes it very difficult to discern the true effects of A β 42-induced toxicity (i.e. are the changes in morphology and/or behaviour stemming from disruptions in the developmental or adult cell pathways?). To this end, we next developed novel, temperature-induced transgenic A β 42-expressing *Drosophila* models to better study the effects of A β 42-induced toxicity during both development and adult stages.

1.1 The mature structure of the compound eye is resistant to Aβ42-induced toxicity

In our studies, we used Gal80 in our UAS/Gal4 system to manipulate the expression of A β 42 expression in a manner that relied on simple temperature manipulations, and required no administration of extraneous compounds to activate transcription. Gal80ts, a negative regulator of Gal4, is highly activated at 18°C and inactivated at 29°C (Zeidler et al., 2004). The introduction of Gal80ts essentially allows us to induce the expression of A β 42 in F1 animals at any point during development simply by elevating the ambient temperature. We were able to control the expression of A β 42 in a temporal manner using this method, and used this system to drive the expression of human A β 42 in the flies in either a constitutive manner, or only in the adult animal. Unexpectedly, the eye-specific expression of A β 42 appeared to only affect eye structure and morphology when it is constitutively turned on (**Figure 5**). No degeneration was observed if A β 42 was expressed in the eyes of the animals only when they reached adulthood. This was quite surprising as it suggests that the structure of the adult eye may be resistant to A β 42-induced toxicity.

While there are currently no reports of tissues with similar immunities against A β 42 toxicity, we speculate that the unique structure of the *Drosophila* compound eye likely contributed to its

ability to resist A β 42-induced toxicity. The 'rough eye' phenotype we have used here is widely used in *in vivo* studies because of its high sensitivity to perturbations in the structure of each subunit or ommatidia – any defect that affects the hexagonal geometry of a single ommatidium will disrupt the positioning of all surrounding units, and disruptions in genes that govern the development of even a single cell within an ommatidium will come to affect the entire structure (Kumar, 2012). The reason for this sensitivity lies in the fact that the adult compound eye is derived from a monolayer epithelium called the eye-antennal disc, and during embryogenesis, the nascent eye-antennal discs only consists of 8-9 cells (Ouweneel, 1970; Haynie and Bryant, 1986; Kumar, 2012). It is easy to imagine then, that if $A\beta 42$ were expressed constitutively in the eye, its negative effects on these progenitor cells would likely have wide-reaching consequences on the entire final structure. In the adult animals, however, the eye morphology is already well established and intact. It may be that at this point, perturbations of single cells in the established ommatidia may have minimal effects on the overall structure. It would be interesting to further ascertain the function of the eye in these adult-onset Aβ42 expression models via physiological measurements such as electroretinography (ERG) to investigate the relationship between structure maintenance and function.

1.2 Neurons have a general susceptibility to Aβ42-induced toxicity

In contrast to the eye-specific A β 42 expressing model, we observed that the neuron-specific expression of A β 42 – regardless of whether it was induced constitutively or only in the adult animals – caused a significant decrease in locomotor activity and longevity of the animals (**Figure 7 and 8**). This lead us to speculate that, unlike the mature eye structure, neurons likely have a general susceptibility (i.e. both developing and mature neuronal cells) to A β 42-induced toxicity compared to non-neuronal tissues such as the eye.

This is not particularly surprising, as the overall susceptibility of specific neurons to A β 42 toxicity has been noted previously by others (Braak et al., 2006). Described mainly in vertebrate models, these susceptible neurons tend to be projection neurons (Braak, 1980) and in particular, cells with disproportionately long and thin axons in relation to the size of the cell body or soma show an increased tendency to develop pathology (Morrison et al., 1998). Interestingly, short-

axoned local circuit neurons, on the other hand, usually remain untouched by the pathological processes involved in AD (Hof et al., 1991; Hof et al., 1993). Additionally, these vulnerable nerve cell types share another feature, where their long axons are also comparatively unmyelinated or only have a thin myelin sheath – such as the Meynert pyramidal cells in the striate area (Braak et al., 2006). In contrast, cortical projection neurons with a heavily myelinated axon are resistant to the formation of AD pathologies (Hof et al., 1991; Hof et al., 1993). This lack of mature myelin sheath likely contributed to the increased metabolic demands placed on the parent nerve cell for the transmission of impulses (Hildebrand et al., 1993). This way, these rapid-firing projection neurons with unmyelinated or incompletely myelinated axons may be subjected to higher energy turnovers and exposed to grater oxidative stress, which are probably contributory factors to their susceptibility to A β 42 in AD (Beal, 1995; Sohal, 2002).

While it is unclear which type of neurons in the invertebrate system are the most vulnerable to human A β 42 expression, it has been shown previously that peripheral nerves in the flies closely resemble that of unmyelinated peripheral axons (where nonmyelinating Schwann cells ensheath small-diameter axons) in mammals (Taveggia et al., 2005). This likely contributes to the susceptibility of these neurons to A β 42 expression both in embryonic and adult stages. There is also some evidence that these *Drosophila* peripheral neurons may play important roles in governing locomotor activity (Song et al., 2007; Charng et al., 2014), which may explain the significant decrease in the climbing activity of the animals observed in our studies.

In future studies, perhaps A β 42 could be selectively expressed in different brain regions – such as the mushroom body or central complex – to fully characterize the sensitivity of neurons in each region to A β 42-induced toxicity. As well, since the locomotor functions of the animals were greatly impaired, it would have been interesting to further study the direct susceptibility of motor neurons to A β 42 by staining or isolate them and analyse for markers of apoptosis or cell death.

1.3 Development of novel *in vivo* models with adult-onset Aβ42 production

In our studies, we have chosen to use the temperature-sensitive Gal80ts system to modulate the temporal expression of A β 42 in *Drosophila*. This system has allowed us to successfully generate

transgenic animals with inducible human A β 42 expression that can be 'turned on' via simple changes in temperature. While we chose the Gal80ts model specifically due to the fact that it is only reliant on temperature changes (i.e. no additional exogenous compounds are needed to trigger the transgene expression), there are, however, still some drawbacks to this model. The activation temperature for A β 42 expression is 29°C in our experiments, which is much higher than D. melanogaster's preferred temperature (T_p) of 25°C (Fogleman, 1979; Dillon et al., 2009). While we are able to achieve maximal A β 42 expression at this temperature (Zeidler et al., 2004), there is some evidence that the overall fitness of the animal may be affected (Dillon et al., 2009), which may introduce variability into our studies. Indeed, we observed a much more profound eye degeneration in the A β 42 transgenic animals (Figure 5 compared to Figure 11) as well as decreases in survival of all strains (Figure 7 compared to Figure 19) raised at 29°C compared to at 25°C in later studies. However, it should be noted that while control animals did show an increase in mortality at 29°C, they still performed better than the Aβ42 transgenic animals raised at the same temperature (i.e. the toxic effects of A β 42 expression has not been subsumed by the temperature effects), indicating that the Gal80ts system was successful in both inducing A β 42 expression and not introducing so much variability that differences between strains cannot be ascertained.

There are, of course, many alternative systems that may be used to achieve control over transgene expression in *Drosophila*. The GeneSwitch-Gal4 system is one system that is commonly used to gain spatial control of gene expression in *Drosophila*. It is derived from the UAS-Gal4 system, and uses a modified Gal4 protein fused to a progesterone steroid receptor, which allows the regulation of its Gal4 activity via the presence or absence of the synthetic progesterone analogue mifepristone (RU-486) (Osterwalder et al., 2001). However, we did not consider this system suitable as there are studies showing that RU-486 can interact with endogenous *Drosophila* (Landis et al., 2015; Tower et al., 2017), and have been shown to reduce the food consumption and longevity of the animals (Yamada et al., 2017). Since our goal is for these models to be used in the testing of potentially therapeutic compounds against $A\beta42$ – such as AIP, which is a small peptide and thus may non-specifically bind to RU-486 – we did not want to introduce RU-486 as an additional variable in our future studies.

1.4 Conclusion

Adding to the existing literature regarding the sensitivity of neurons to A β 42-induced toxicity, our analysis showed that *Drosophila* neurons at all stages of development have a general susceptible to A β 42 expression – especially compared to periphery tissues such as the mature compound eye. Additionally, the Gal80ts system proved to be quite useful in inducing the temporal expression of A β 42 in our hands. While this system was complementary to our studies, there is likely not a single 'perfect' model of inducible gene expression in *Drosophila*, as the selection of models often depends on the question that needs to be answered. We believe that these inducible transgenic animals can offer us greater flexibility in terms of the design and interpretation of experiments, and allows us to separate the effects of a transgene on either development or adult processes.

2. Evaluating the efficacy of AIP on neutralizing Aβ42-induced toxicity *in vivo*

We used both the eye-specific (manuscript 2) and neuron-specific (manuscript 3) A β 42 expression models in long-term experiments to analyze the effects of AIP supplementation on both morphology (i.e. eye structure) and complex behaviour (i.e. locomotor activity) respectively. We found that AIP composed of D-amino acids (D-AIP) was biostable when administered orally, and was able to rescue both A β 42-induced eye defects and declines in locomotor activity. Interestingly, the rescue was also sex-specific in that only the eye anatomy of the female animals and the climbing activity of the male animals were protected from A β 42-induced toxicity (Figure 11 and 18). This phenomenon has not been described in recent literature, and we believe it demonstrates the importance of including sex as a variable in *in vivo* experiments.

2.1 The biostability of L- and D-AIP

In previous *in vitro* studies, we discovered that L-AIP performed similarly to other anti-AB42 short peptidic inhibitors reported by others (Tjernberg et al., 1996; Pallitto et al., 1999; Lowe et al., 2001) in terms of preventing fibril formation and rescuing A β 42-induced toxicity in SY5Y cells in vitro (Barucker et al., 2015). However, in in vivo experiments, we found that supplementation with L-AIP had no effect on rescuing A β 42-induced rough eye morphology, whereas the D-AIP peptide had significant effects (Figure 11). In order to further determine whether the L or D peptide is physically present in the animals, we used MALDI-MSI as a labelfree method of detection in sagittal fly slices. We showed that L-AIP could not be detected in the supplemented animals at any time point (Figure 12 and 15). Additionally, while intact L-AIP can still be found in the supplemented feed of the flies at day 28 post eclosion, it could not be detected in the fly homogenates via MALDI-MS (Figure 15). Compared to the D-AIP peptide – which is present in its intact form in both the 28-day food slurry, fly head homogenate, as well as the fly section themselves – it is clear that the L-AIP is likely degraded rapidly in the flies, and thus is extremely not biostable and likely has a poor pharmacokinetic profile in vivo. We surmise that the efficacy of L-AIP in previous in vitro experiments is likely due to the fact that cell cultures tend not to be an accurate representation of the complexity of in vivo environments, and cannot be used to accurately predict the stability of compounds in animal studies. It is clear from

both our experiments, and the experience of others with similar D-amino acid peptidic inhibitors (Soto et al., 1996; Findeis et al., 1999), that D-AIP is the far better therapeutic candidate *in vivo*. This is unsurprising, as one of the main weaknesses of conventional peptidic inhibitors is their poor pharmacokinetic profile. Unmodified L-amino peptides are generally not considered to be good drug candidates, since they may have poor *in vivo* stability against proteases and may be rapidly cleared from the body by the liver and kidneys (Tsomaia, 2015; Wojcik and Berlicki, 2016).

2.2 Evidence that D-AIP may have the ability to cross the invertebrate BBB

Similar to primitive vertebrates, *Drosophila* possesses a modified, invertebrate BBB. Instead of being coordinated by endothelial cells such as in vertebrates, the open circulatory system in *Drosophila* requires the usage of different types of glial cells to participate in BBB function (Limmer et al., 2014; Daneman and Prat, 2015). The entire nervous system of *Drosophila* is covered by an outer layer of perineurial glial cells and an inner layer of subperineurial glial cells, which form elaborate septate junctions and prevent paracellular diffusion (Bainton et al., 2005; Stork et al., 2008; Mayer et al., 2009).

Our transgenic animals produce $A\beta42$ in only either an eye- or neuron-specific manner, which means that the majority of transgenic $A\beta42$ expression is confined to the CNS of the animals. This has been verified by Western blotting using the head and body homogenates of both eye- or neuron-specific $A\beta42$ -expressing animals (**Supplemental Figure 1 and Figure 24**). Consequently, this means that in order for D-AIP to exert its neutralization effects of $A\beta42$, it would likely need to cross the *Drosophila* BBB to reach the eyes and neurons. Indeed, we were able to observe specific D-AIP mediated rescue of both eye phenotype and locomotor behaviour in the animals (while L- and D-scrambled AIP peptides had no effect) (Figure 11 and 18), demonstrating that D-AIP is likely able to cross the BBB in flies to exert its therapeutic effects. The ability of small D-peptides to cross the BBB has likewise been demonstrated previously in the literature, with the most recent by Jiang et al. in 2016, showing that their small D-peptide candidate D3 was able to penetrate the BBB after oral administration in both wildtype and AD mouse models (Jiang et al., 2016).

Additionally, MALDI-MSI heat-maps also show the localization of D-AIP in the heads of eyespecific A β 42-expressing animals, which again supports our conclusion that D-AIP is crossing the BBB to reach the eyes in these animals. Interestingly, no such localization was seen in the neuron-specific A β 42-expressing male animals despite the rescue of locomotor activity by D-AIP. We suspect it may be due to the fact that a number of thoracic ganglions (i.e. clusters of neurons in the body of the insect) are also part of the *Drosophila* CNS (Matheson, 2002), and in our transgenic animals, these thoracic ganglions would also produce some A β 42 in the body of the animals. We have confirmed this via Western blotting using fly body homogenates (**Figure 24**). These extra-CNS A β 42 may be then binding to D-AIP in the body of the animals as seen in the MALDI-MSI results. Additionally, since *Drosophila* peripheral neurons have been shown to play important roles in governing locomotor activity (Song et al., 2007; Charng et al., 2014), the neutralization of A β 42 in these ganglions may be contributing directly to the rescue in climbing activity seen in the animals.

2.3 D-AIP neutralizes the toxic effects of Aβ42

Our results showed that oral supplementation with D-AIP successfully neutralized A β 42-induced defects in both eye morphology and climbing behaviour, with minimal side effects. This confirmed and corroborated with both our previous, proof-of-concept *in vivo* data as well as our *in vitro* rescue data in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. The rescue effects observed from our studies seems to be specific to the composition and sequence of the D-AIP peptide, as treatment with L- and D-scrambled peptides did not have any effects in either the eye- or neuron-expression models. Our results are in line with what many others have observed with other D-peptidic A β inhibitors in *in vivo* experiments using transgenic mouse models of AD, where these D-peptides were able to improve both the pathology and behaviours in animals (Aileen Funke et al., 2010; Parthsarathy et al., 2013). Overall, D-peptidic inhibitors of A β 42 appear to be excellent drug candidates for the prevention of A β 42-induced toxicity *in vivo*.

2.4 Rescue of Aβ42-induced toxicity by D-AIP is sex-specific

We observed striking, sex-specific rescue of both eye morphology and locomotor behaviour using D-AIP treatment as a potential therapeutic for A β 42-induced toxicity. D-AIP supplementation rescued the 'rough eye' phenotype in female, eye-specific A β 42-expressing animals but had no effect on the male flies (**Figure 11**). Inversely, in the neuron-specific A β 42expressing animals, only the locomotor behaviours of the male flies were rescued by D-AIP supplementation (**Figure 18**). This suggests that, perhaps, specific tissues in each sex may respond to treatment differently, which has been reflected in our results: we determined that a male-specific protein (Acp70A) was likely responsible for sequestering D-AIP in the bodies of the male, eye-specific A β 42-expressing animals, thus preventing its distribution into the heads of the flies to exert its neutralization effects on A β 42. Conversely, in the female, neuron-specific A β 42-expressing animals, the increase of insoluble A β 42 deposits via unknown, possibly sexbased mechanisms may have indirectly sequestered the toxic, soluble A β 42 peptides in the heads of the female animals, leading to their resistance against A β 42-induced declines in locomotor behaviour.

The results from our experiments further demonstrated the importance of the inclusion of sex as a variable in *in vivo* studies as many others have noted previously (Beery and Zucker, 2011; Tannenbaum et al., 2017). We believe this factor is especially crucial in diseases with sexspecific risks such as AD, where sex-based differences in response to drug treatment may be particularly vital to the analysis of drug dosage and efficacy.

It is generally known that men and women may differ in their responses to corresponding drug treatment due to a wide range of factors, such as differences in body weight, height, body surface area, total water, and the amount of extracellular and intracellular water (Soldin et al., 2011). Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics have also been attributable to the differences seen between males and females (Soldin and Mattison, 2009). For example, Bebia et al. studied the *in vivo* activity of a variety of cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes in the liver of human subjects – which are important for determining the rate of elimination of lipid-soluble drugs – and concluded that many of these enzymes, including CYP3A4, had similar activities between men

and women (Bebia et al., 2004). Other groups, however, demonstrated instead a ~2-fold greater hepatic CYP3A4 in women compared to men (Wolbold et al., 2003), which was supported by a subsequent study indicating that clearance of 15 different CYP3A4 substrates were greater in women than in men (Greenblatt and von Moltke, 2008). These conflicting data suggest that much remains unknown regarding the differences between sexes in terms of drug pharmacokinetics.

2.5 Future validation of D-AIP in complex rodent AD models

The *Drosophila* model has proven to be an excellent system for the preliminary efficacy screening of potential therapeutics such as D-AIP. In our hands, we were able to rapidly assess the efficacy and overall safety of D-AIP using multiple expression models (i.e. eye and neuron), allowing us to validate the rescue of A β 42-induced toxicity by D-AIP in both morphology and functional studies. Our positive results in our invertebrate model show that D-AIP has the potential to also be effective against A β 42 toxicity in a mammalian system such as the mouse.

Compared to *Drosophila*, the mouse brain is far more complex and possesses a much larger behavioural repertoire. As such, it would be an excellent system to evaluate the ability of D-AIP to rescue A β 42-induced defects in both structure and behaviours. We would also be able to investigate the effects of D-AIP on tau pathology in a mammalian model, as the *Drosophila* homologue of human tau (dTau) does not seem to potentiate human A β 42-induced toxicity (i.e. no NFT formation and exacerbation of A β 42 toxicity in transgenic A β 42 flies) (Heidary and Fortini, 2001; Burnouf et al., 2016). As well, since flies do not have a closed circulatory system (i.e. no vascularization) and lack conventional adaptive immune responses (Hoffmann, 2003; Newman, 2017), the murine system will provide us with much more information in regards to the rescue effects of D-AIP on mammalian vascular systems as well as immune responses.

Transgenic mouse models of AD such as TgCRND8 and the 3xTg models will likely be ideal models for the testing of D-AIP. The TgCRND8 strain only has the overexpression of the human APP gene (containing Swedish and Indiana mutations), and has significant A β 42 levels at just 3 months of age (Chishti et al., 2001). This model would also allow us to perform more long-term experiments, as within 6 months, amyloid deposition in the cortex and hippocampus of these
mice also leads to cognitive impairment, inflammation (reactive gliosis), decreased spine density, dystrophic neuropathy, and vascular impairments (Allemang-Grand et al., 2015). Essentially, the TgCRND8 strain would allow us to look at the effects of D-AIP on a relatively simple system – with only one transgene, APP – and in a comparatively short timespan.

Alternatively, the 3xTg strain is another promising model that we can potentially utilize. This strain expresses three transgenes – APP (Swedish), tau (MAPT P301L), and presenilin-1 (PSEN1 M146V) (Oddo et al., 2003). Since plaque formation (extracellular A β deposits by 6 months) precedes tau pathology (by 12 months) in this model, the increased complexity of the 3xTg mice will provide a more comprehensive assessment of D-AIP. For example, the presence of A β 42 oligomers have been postulated to increase the levels of tau phosphorylation (Selkoe and Hardy, 2016). Using the 3xTg model, we would then be able to assess the downstream effects on tau from the neutralization of A β 42 by D-AIP.

2.6 Conclusion

While L-AIP has been shown in our previous publications to be an effective treatment against A β 42 toxicity and aggregation *in vitro*, we have fully demonstrated that it is highly unstable in *in vivo* environments and thus would be a poor A β 42 inhibitor candidate. Alternatively, our analysis has shown D-AIP to be a biostable, safe, and highly effective neutralizer of human A β 42 toxicity in our *in vivo Drosophila* models. Intact D-AIP was readily detectable in the animals in both short-term and long-term experiments. As well, the oral administration of D-AIP was able to successfully rescue the toxic effects of A β 42 expression on both eye structure and morphology, as well as in more complex systems such as the locomotor behaviour of the insects. Prolonged treatment with D-AIP was also non-toxic and had minimal side effects on the animals. Going forward, further studies on the pharmacokinetics of D-AIP will need to be completed in mammalian models (such as the mouse) in order to fully analyze its characteristics *in vivo*. Overall, D-AIP appears to be a promising anti-A β 42 therapeutic, and we are hopeful that it will represent a new prophylactic strategy to delay and/or prevent the onset of AD.

REFERENCES

- Abramowski D, Wiederhold KH, Furrer U, Jaton AL, Neuenschwander A, Runser MJ, Danner S, Reichwald J, Ammaturo D, Staab D, Stoeckli M, Rueeger H, Neumann U, Staufenbiel M (2008) Dynamics of Abeta turnover and deposition in different beta-amyloid precursor protein transgenic mouse models following gamma-secretase inhibition. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 327:411-424.
- Adolfsson O et al. (2012) An effector-reduced anti-beta-amyloid (Abeta) antibody with unique abeta binding properties promotes neuroprotection and glial engulfment of Abeta. J Neurosci 32:9677-9689.
- Ahrens VM, Bellmann-Sickert K, Beck-Sickinger AG (2012) Peptides and peptide conjugates: therapeutics on the upward path. Future Med Chem 4:1567-1586.
- Aileen Funke S, van Groen T, Kadish I, Bartnik D, Nagel-Steger L, Brener O, Sehl T, Batra-Safferling R, Moriscot C, Schoehn G, Horn AH, Muller-Schiffmann A, Korth C, Sticht H, Willbold D (2010) Oral treatment with the d-enantiomeric peptide D3 improves the pathology and behavior of Alzheimer's Disease transgenic mice. ACS Chem Neurosci 1:639-648.
- Alexander AG, Marfil V, Li C (2014) Use of Caenorhabditis elegans as a model to study Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases. Front Genet 5:279.
- Allemang-Grand R, Scholz J, Ellegood J, Cahill LS, Laliberte C, Fraser PE, Josselyn SA, Sled JG, Lerch JP (2015) Altered brain development in an early-onset murine model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 36:638-647.
- Alzheimer's A (2010) 2010 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement 6:158-194.
- Alzheimer's A (2018) 2018 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement 14:367-429.
- Arking R, Wells RA (1990) Genetic alteration of normal aging processes is responsible for extended longevity in Drosophila. Dev Genet 11:141-148.
- Arriagada PV, Marzloff K, Hyman BT (1992a) Distribution of Alzheimer-type pathologic changes in nondemented elderly individuals matches the pattern in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 42:1681-1688.
- Arriagada PV, Growdon JH, Hedley-Whyte ET, Hyman BT (1992b) Neurofibrillary tangles but not senile plaques parallel duration and severity of Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 42:631-639.
- Arrighi HM, Neumann PJ, Lieberburg IM, Townsend RJ (2010) Lethality of Alzheimer disease and its impact on nursing home placement. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 24:90-95.

- Ashton-Beaucage D, Udell CM, Gendron P, Sahmi M, Lefrancois M, Baril C, Guenier AS, Duchaine J, Lamarre D, Lemieux S, Therrien M (2014) A functional screen reveals an extensive layer of transcriptional and splicing control underlying RAS/MAPK signaling in Drosophila. PLoS Biol 12:e1001809.
- Bainton RJ, Tsai LT, Schwabe T, DeSalvo M, Gaul U, Heberlein U (2005) moody encodes two GPCRs that regulate cocaine behaviors and blood-brain barrier permeability in Drosophila. Cell 123:145-156.
- Bakota L, Brandt R (2016) Tau Biology and Tau-Directed Therapies for Alzheimer's Disease. Drugs 76:301-313.
- Bales KR, Verina T, Dodel RC, Du Y, Altstiel L, Bender M, Hyslop P, Johnstone EM, Little SP, Cummins DJ, Piccardo P, Ghetti B, Paul SM (1997) Lack of apolipoprotein E dramatically reduces amyloid beta-peptide deposition. Nat Genet 17:263-264.
- Barone MC, Bohmann D (2013) Assessing neurodegenerative phenotypes in Drosophila dopaminergic neurons by climbing assays and whole brain immunostaining. J Vis Exp:e50339.
- Barucker C, Bittner HJ, Chang PK, Cameron S, Hancock MA, Liebsch F, Hossain S, Harmeier A, Shaw H, Charron FM, Gensler M, Dembny P, Zhuang W, Schmitz D, Rabe JP, Rao Y, Lurz R, Hildebrand PW, McKinney RA, Multhaup G (2015) Abeta42-oligomer Interacting Peptide (AIP) neutralizes toxic amyloid-beta42 species and protects synaptic structure and function. Sci Rep 5:15410.
- Bateman RJ, Benzinger TL, Berry S, Clifford DB, Duggan C, Fagan AM, Fanning K, Farlow MR, Hassenstab J, McDade EM, Mills S, Paumier K, Quintana M, Salloway SP, Santacruz A, Schneider LS, Wang G, Xiong C, Network D-TPCftDIA (2017) The DIAN-TU Next Generation Alzheimer's prevention trial: Adaptive design and disease progression model. Alzheimers Dement 13:8-19.
- Bateman RJ et al. (2012) Clinical and biomarker changes in dominantly inherited Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 367:795-804.
- Beal MF (1995) Aging, energy, and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases. Ann Neurol 38:357-366.
- Bebia Z, Buch SC, Wilson JW, Frye RF, Romkes M, Cecchetti A, Chaves-Gnecco D, Branch RA (2004) Bioequivalence revisited: influence of age and sex on CYP enzymes. Clin Pharmacol Ther 76:618-627.
- Beery AK, Zucker I (2011) Sex bias in neuroscience and biomedical research. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 35:565-572.
- Bell KF, Ducatenzeiler A, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Duff K, Bennett DA, Cuello AC (2006) The amyloid pathology progresses in a neurotransmitter-specific manner. Neurobiol Aging 27:1644-1657.

- Bettens K, Sleegers K, Van Broeckhoven C (2013) Genetic insights in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol 12:92-104.
- Bien-Ly N, Gillespie AK, Walker D, Yoon SY, Huang Y (2012) Reducing human apolipoprotein E levels attenuates age-dependent Abeta accumulation in mutant human amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice. J Neurosci 32:4803-4811.
- Black RS, Sperling RA, Safirstein B, Motter RN, Pallay A, Nichols A, Grundman M (2010) A single ascending dose study of bapineuzumab in patients with Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 24:198-203.
- Borchelt DR, Thinakaran G, Eckman CB, Lee MK, Davenport F, Ratovitsky T, Prada CM, Kim G, Seekins S, Yager D, Slunt HH, Wang R, Seeger M, Levey AI, Gandy SE, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Price DL, Younkin SG, Sisodia SS (1996) Familial Alzheimer's disease-linked presenilin 1 variants elevate Abeta1-42/1-40 ratio in vitro and in vivo. Neuron 17:1005-1013.
- Braak H (1980) Architectonics of the human telencephalic cortex. Berlin ; New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Braak H, Braak E (1991) Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol 82:239-259.
- Braak H, Del Tredici K (2011) The pathological process underlying Alzheimer's disease in individuals under thirty. Acta Neuropathol 121:171-181.
- Braak H, Rub U, Schultz C, Del Tredici K (2006) Vulnerability of cortical neurons to Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. J Alzheimers Dis 9:35-44.
- Brand AH, Perrimon N (1993) Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. Development 118:401-415.
- Brookmeyer R, Corrada MM, Curriero FC, Kawas C (2002) Survival following a diagnosis of Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 59:1764-1767.
- Burnouf S, Gronke S, Augustin H, Dols J, Gorsky MK, Werner J, Kerr F, Alic N, Martinez P, Partridge L (2016) Deletion of endogenous Tau proteins is not detrimental in Drosophila. Sci Rep 6:23102.
- Caesar I, Jonson M, Nilsson KP, Thor S, Hammarstrom P (2012) Curcumin promotes A-beta fibrillation and reduces neurotoxicity in transgenic Drosophila. PLoS One 7:e31424.
- Campos AR, Grossman D, White K (1985) Mutant alleles at the locus elav in Drosophila melanogaster lead to nervous system defects. A developmental-genetic analysis. J Neurogenet 2:197-218.

- Campos AR, Rosen DR, Robinow SN, White K (1987) Molecular analysis of the locus elav in Drosophila melanogaster: a gene whose embryonic expression is neural specific. EMBO J 6:425-431.
- Carmine-Simmen K, Proctor T, Tschape J, Poeck B, Triphan T, Strauss R, Kretzschmar D (2009) Neurotoxic effects induced by the Drosophila amyloid-beta peptide suggest a conserved toxic function. Neurobiol Dis 33:274-281.
- Castellano JM, Kim J, Stewart FR, Jiang H, DeMattos RB, Patterson BW, Fagan AM, Morris JC, Mawuenyega KG, Cruchaga C, Goate AM, Bales KR, Paul SM, Bateman RJ, Holtzman DM (2011) Human apoE isoforms differentially regulate brain amyloid-beta peptide clearance. Sci Transl Med 3:89ra57.
- Chakrabarti S, Khemka VK, Banerjee A, Chatterjee G, Ganguly A, Biswas A (2015) Metabolic Risk Factors of Sporadic Alzheimer's Disease: Implications in the Pathology, Pathogenesis and Treatment. Aging Dis 6:282-299.
- Chakraborty R, Vepuri V, Mhatre SD, Paddock BE, Miller S, Michelson SJ, Delvadia R, Desai A, Vinokur M, Melicharek DJ, Utreja S, Khandelwal P, Ansaloni S, Goldstein LE, Moir RD, Lee JC, Tabb LP, Saunders AJ, Marenda DR (2011) Characterization of a Drosophila Alzheimer's disease model: pharmacological rescue of cognitive defects. PLoS One 6:e20799.
- Chan ET, Quon GT, Chua G, Babak T, Trochesset M, Zirngibl RA, Aubin J, Ratcliffe MJ, Wilde A, Brudno M, Morris QD, Hughes TR (2009) Conservation of core gene expression in vertebrate tissues. J Biol 8:33.
- Charng WL, Yamamoto S, Bellen HJ (2014) Shared mechanisms between Drosophila peripheral nervous system development and human neurodegenerative diseases. Curr Opin Neurobiol 27:158-164.
- Chavez-Gutierrez L, Bammens L, Benilova I, Vandersteen A, Benurwar M, Borgers M, Lismont S, Zhou L, Van Cleynenbreugel S, Esselmann H, Wiltfang J, Serneels L, Karran E, Gijsen H, Schymkowitz J, Rousseau F, Broersen K, De Strooper B (2012) The mechanism of gamma-Secretase dysfunction in familial Alzheimer disease. EMBO J 31:2261-2274.
- Chiang GC, Insel PS, Tosun D, Schuff N, Truran-Sacrey D, Raptentsetsang ST, Jack CR, Jr., Aisen PS, Petersen RC, Weiner MW, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I (2010) Hippocampal atrophy rates and CSF biomarkers in elderly APOE2 normal subjects. Neurology 75:1976-1981.
- Chin AL, Lin CY, Fu TF, Dickson BJ, Chiang AS (2014) Diversity and wiring variability of visual local neurons in the Drosophila medulla M6 stratum. J Comp Neurol 522:3795-3816.
- Chishti MA et al. (2001) Early-onset amyloid deposition and cognitive deficits in transgenic mice expressing a double mutant form of amyloid precursor protein 695. J Biol Chem 276:21562-21570.

- Chouhan AK, Guo C, Hsieh YC, Ye H, Senturk M, Zuo Z, Li Y, Chatterjee S, Botas J, Jackson GR, Bellen HJ, Shulman JM (2016) Uncoupling neuronal death and dysfunction in Drosophila models of neurodegenerative disease. Acta Neuropathol Commun 4:62.
- Citron M, Oltersdorf T, Haass C, McConlogue L, Hung AY, Seubert P, Vigo-Pelfrey C, Lieberburg I, Selkoe DJ (1992) Mutation of the beta-amyloid precursor protein in familial Alzheimer's disease increases beta-protein production. Nature 360:672-674.
- Citron M, Vigo-Pelfrey C, Teplow DB, Miller C, Schenk D, Johnston J, Winblad B, Venizelos N, Lannfelt L, Selkoe DJ (1994) Excessive production of amyloid beta-protein by peripheral cells of symptomatic and presymptomatic patients carrying the Swedish familial Alzheimer disease mutation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:11993-11997.
- Coelho DS, Cairrao F, Zeng X, Pires E, Coelho AV, Ron D, Ryoo HD, Domingos PM (2013) Xbp1-independent Ire1 signaling is required for photoreceptor differentiation and rhabdomere morphogenesis in Drosophila. Cell Rep 5:791-801.
- Colovic MB, Krstic DZ, Lazarevic-Pasti TD, Bondzic AM, Vasic VM (2013) Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: pharmacology and toxicology. Curr Neuropharmacol 11:315-335.
- Corder EH, Saunders AM, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel DE, Gaskell PC, Small GW, Roses AD, Haines JL, Pericak-Vance MA (1993) Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science 261:921-923.
- Coric V et al. (2012) Safety and tolerability of the gamma-secretase inhibitor avagacestat in a phase 2 study of mild to moderate Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 69:1430-1440.
- Coulson EJ, Paliga K, Beyreuther K, Masters CL (2000) What the evolution of the amyloid protein precursor supergene family tells us about its function. Neurochem Int 36:175-184.
- Courtney C, Farrell D, Gray R, Hills R, Lynch L, Sellwood E, Edwards S, Hardyman W, Raftery J, Crome P, Lendon C, Shaw H, Bentham P, Group ADC (2004) Long-term donepezil treatment in 565 patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD2000): randomised double-blind trial. Lancet 363:2105-2115.
- Craik DJ, Fairlie DP, Liras S, Price D (2013) The future of peptide-based drugs. Chem Biol Drug Des 81:136-147.
- Crews L, Masliah E (2010) Molecular mechanisms of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Hum Mol Genet 19:R12-20.
- Crowther DC, Page R, Chandraratna D, Lomas DA (2006) A Drosophila model of Alzheimer's disease. Methods Enzymol 412:234-255.
- Crowther DC, Kinghorn KJ, Miranda E, Page R, Curry JA, Duthie FA, Gubb DC, Lomas DA (2005) Intraneuronal Abeta, non-amyloid aggregates and neurodegeneration in a Drosophila model of Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 132:123-135.

- Crowther RA (1991) Straight and paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease have a common structural unit. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:2288-2292.
- Cummings J, Lee G, Ritter A, Zhong K (2018a) Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2018. Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 4:195-214.
- Cummings JL, Cohen S, van Dyck CH, Brody M, Curtis C, Cho W, Ward M, Friesenhahn M, Rabe C, Brunstein F, Quartino A, Honigberg LA, Fuji RN, Clayton D, Mortensen D, Ho C, Paul R (2018b) ABBY: A phase 2 randomized trial of crenezumab in mild to moderate Alzheimer disease. Neurology 90:e1889-e1897.
- D'Amours D, Desnoyers S, D'Silva I, Poirier GG (1999) Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation reactions in the regulation of nuclear functions. Biochem J 342 (Pt 2):249-268.
- Daneman R, Prat A (2015) The blood-brain barrier. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7:a020412.
- Danysz W, Parsons CG (1998) Glycine and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors: physiological significance and possible therapeutic applications. Pharmacol Rev 50:597-664.
- De Strooper B (2003) Aph-1, Pen-2, and Nicastrin with Presenilin generate an active gamma-Secretase complex. Neuron 38:9-12.
- De Strooper B, Annaert W (2000) Proteolytic processing and cell biological functions of the amyloid precursor protein. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 11):1857-1870.
- De Strooper B, Vassar R, Golde T (2010) The secretases: enzymes with therapeutic potential in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurol 6:99-107.
- Delacourte A, Buee L (1997) Normal and pathological Tau proteins as factors for microtubule assembly. Int Rev Cytol 171:167-224.
- Delacourte A, Sergeant N, Champain D, Wattez A, Maurage CA, Lebert F, Pasquier F, David JP (2002) Nonoverlapping but synergetic tau and APP pathologies in sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 59:398-407.
- Delacourte A, David JP, Sergeant N, Buee L, Wattez A, Vermersch P, Ghozali F, Fallet-Bianco C, Pasquier F, Lebert F, Petit H, Di Menza C (1999) The biochemical pathway of neurofibrillary degeneration in aging and Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 52:1158-1165.
- Dillon ME, Wang G, Garrity PA, Huey RB (2009) Review: Thermal preference in Drosophila. J Therm Biol 34:109-119.
- Diomede L, Romeo M, Cagnotto A, Rossi A, Beeg M, Stravalaci M, Tagliavini F, Di Fede G, Gobbi M, Salmona M (2016) The new beta amyloid-derived peptide Abeta1-6A2V-TAT(D) prevents Abeta oligomer formation and protects transgenic C. elegans from Abeta toxicity. Neurobiol Dis 88:75-84.

- Doody RS, Thomas RG, Farlow M, Iwatsubo T, Vellas B, Joffe S, Kieburtz K, Raman R, Sun X, Aisen PS, Siemers E, Liu-Seifert H, Mohs R, Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study Steering C, Solanezumab Study G (2014) Phase 3 trials of solanezumab for mild-tomoderate Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 370:311-321.
- Doody RS, Raman R, Farlow M, Iwatsubo T, Vellas B, Joffe S, Kieburtz K, He F, Sun X, Thomas RG, Aisen PS, Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study Steering C, Siemers E, Sethuraman G, Mohs R, Semagacestat Study G (2013) A phase 3 trial of semagacestat for treatment of Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 369:341-350.
- Dosanjh LE, Brown MK, Rao G, Link CD, Luo Y (2010) Behavioral phenotyping of a transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans expressing neuronal amyloid-beta. J Alzheimers Dis 19:681-690.
- Dourlen P, Levet C, Mejat A, Gambis A, Mollereau B (2013) The Tomato/GFP-FLP/FRT method for live imaging of mosaic adult Drosophila photoreceptor cells. J Vis Exp:e50610.
- Doyle A, McGarry MP, Lee NA, Lee JJ (2012) The construction of transgenic and gene knockout/knockin mouse models of human disease. Transgenic Res 21:327-349.
- Drewes G, Ebneth A, Mandelkow EM (1998) MAPs, MARKs and microtubule dynamics. Trends Biochem Sci 23:307-311.
- Eckman CB, Mehta ND, Crook R, Perez-tur J, Prihar G, Pfeiffer E, Graff-Radford N, Hinder P, Yager D, Zenk B, Refolo LM, Prada CM, Younkin SG, Hutton M, Hardy J (1997) A new pathogenic mutation in the APP gene (I716V) increases the relative proportion of A beta 42(43). Hum Mol Genet 6:2087-2089.
- Egan MF, Kost J, Tariot PN, Aisen PS, Cummings JL, Vellas B, Sur C, Mukai Y, Voss T, Furtek C, Mahoney E, Harper Mozley L, Vandenberghe R, Mo Y, Michelson D (2018) Randomized Trial of Verubecestat for Mild-to-Moderate Alzheimer's Disease. N Engl J Med 378:1691-1703.
- Elobeid A, Soininen H, Alafuzoff I (2012) Hyperphosphorylated tau in young and middle-aged subjects. Acta Neuropathol 123:97-104.
- Esparza TJ, Zhao H, Cirrito JR, Cairns NJ, Bateman RJ, Holtzman DM, Brody DL (2013) Amyloid-beta oligomerization in Alzheimer dementia versus high-pathology controls. Ann Neurol 73:104-119.
- Fagan AM, Watson M, Parsadanian M, Bales KR, Paul SM, Holtzman DM (2002) Human and murine ApoE markedly alters A beta metabolism before and after plaque formation in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis 9:305-318.
- Feng Z, Xu B (2016) Inspiration from the mirror: D-amino acid containing peptides in biomedical approaches. Biomol Concepts 7:179-187.

- Fernandez-Funez P, de Mena L, Rincon-Limas DE (2015) Modeling the complex pathology of Alzheimer's disease in Drosophila. Exp Neurol 274:58-71.
- Ferreira ST, Lourenco MV, Oliveira MM, De Felice FG (2015) Soluble amyloid-beta oligomers as synaptotoxins leading to cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease. Front Cell Neurosci 9:191.
- Findeis MA, Musso GM, Arico-Muendel CC, Benjamin HW, Hundal AM, Lee JJ, Chin J, Kelley M, Wakefield J, Hayward NJ, Molineaux SM (1999) Modified-peptide inhibitors of amyloid beta-peptide polymerization. Biochemistry 38:6791-6800.
- Finelli A, Kelkar A, Song HJ, Yang H, Konsolaki M (2004) A model for studying Alzheimer's Abeta42-induced toxicity in Drosophila melanogaster. Mol Cell Neurosci 26:365-375.
- Fischer JA, Giniger E, Maniatis T, Ptashne M (1988) GAL4 activates transcription in Drosophila. Nature 332:853-856.
- Flood DG, Lin YG, Lang DM, Trusko SP, Hirsch JD, Savage MJ, Scott RW, Howland DS (2009) A transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease with extracellular Abeta deposition. Neurobiol Aging 30:1078-1090.
- Fogleman JC (1979) Oviposition site preference for substrate temperature in Drosophila melanogaster. Behav Genet 9:407-412.
- Folkesson R, Malkiewicz K, Kloskowska E, Nilsson T, Popova E, Bogdanovic N, Ganten U, Ganten D, Bader M, Winblad B, Benedikz E (2007) A transgenic rat expressing human APP with the Swedish Alzheimer's disease mutation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 358:777-782.
- Fortini ME, Bonini NM (2000) Modeling human neurodegenerative diseases in Drosophila: on a wing and a prayer. Trends Genet 16:161-167.
- Fosgerau K, Hoffmann T (2015) Peptide therapeutics: current status and future directions. Drug Discov Today 20:122-128.
- Fossgreen A, Bruckner B, Czech C, Masters CL, Beyreuther K, Paro R (1998) Transgenic Drosophila expressing human amyloid precursor protein show gamma-secretase activity and a blistered-wing phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:13703-13708.
- Franceschini N, Kirschfeld K, Minke B (1981) Fluorescence of photoreceptor cells observed in vivo. Science 213:1264-1267.
- Freeman M (1996) Reiterative use of the EGF receptor triggers differentiation of all cell types in the Drosophila eye. Cell 87:651-660.
- Ganguli M, Dodge HH, Shen C, Pandav RS, DeKosky ST (2005) Alzheimer disease and mortality: a 15-year epidemiological study. Arch Neurol 62:779-784.

- Gargano JW, Martin I, Bhandari P, Grotewiel MS (2005) Rapid iterative negative geotaxis (RING): a new method for assessing age-related locomotor decline in Drosophila. Exp Gerontol 40:386-395.
- Ghosh AK, Brindisi M, Tang J (2012) Developing beta-secretase inhibitors for treatment of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 120 Suppl 1:71-83.
- Gibbs RA et al. (2004) Genome sequence of the Brown Norway rat yields insights into mammalian evolution. Nature 428:493-521.
- Gibson TJ, Murphy RM (2005) Design of peptidyl compounds that affect beta-amyloid aggregation: importance of surface tension and context. Biochemistry 44:8898-8907.
- Glabe CG, Kayed R (2006) Common structure and toxic function of amyloid oligomers implies a common mechanism of pathogenesis. Neurology 66:S74-78.
- Glenner GG, Wong CW (1984) Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 120:885-890.
- Goate A, Chartier-Harlin MC, Mullan M, Brown J, Crawford F, Fidani L, Giuffra L, Haynes A, Irving N, James L, et al. (1991) Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature 349:704-706.
- Godemann R, Biernat J, Mandelkow E, Mandelkow EM (1999) Phosphorylation of tau protein by recombinant GSK-3beta: pronounced phosphorylation at select Ser/Thr-Pro motifs but no phosphorylation at Ser262 in the repeat domain. FEBS Lett 454:157-164.
- Gomez-Isla T, Price JL, McKeel DW, Jr., Morris JC, Growdon JH, Hyman BT (1996) Profound loss of layer II entorhinal cortex neurons occurs in very mild Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 16:4491-4500.
- Gomez-Isla T, Hollister R, West H, Mui S, Growdon JH, Petersen RC, Parisi JE, Hyman BT (1997) Neuronal loss correlates with but exceeds neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 41:17-24.
- Gotz J, Schild A, Hoerndli F, Pennanen L (2004) Amyloid-induced neurofibrillary tangle formation in Alzheimer's disease: insight from transgenic mouse and tissue-culture models. Int J Dev Neurosci 22:453-465.
- Green EW, Campesan S, Breda C, Sathyasaikumar KV, Muchowski PJ, Schwarcz R, Kyriacou CP, Giorgini F (2012) Drosophila eye color mutants as therapeutic tools for Huntington disease. Fly (Austin) 6:117-120.
- Green RC, Schneider LS, Amato DA, Beelen AP, Wilcock G, Swabb EA, Zavitz KH, Tarenflurbil Phase 3 Study G (2009) Effect of tarenflurbil on cognitive decline and activities of daily living in patients with mild Alzheimer disease: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 302:2557-2564.

- Greenblatt DJ, von Moltke LL (2008) Gender has a small but statistically significant effect on clearance of CYP3A substrate drugs. J Clin Pharmacol 48:1350-1355.
- Greeve I, Kretzschmar D, Tschape JA, Beyn A, Brellinger C, Schweizer M, Nitsch RM, Reifegerste R (2004) Age-dependent neurodegeneration and Alzheimer-amyloid plaque formation in transgenic Drosophila. J Neurosci 24:3899-3906.
- Gronwall C, Jonsson A, Lindstrom S, Gunneriusson E, Stahl S, Herne N (2007) Selection and characterization of Affibody ligands binding to Alzheimer amyloid beta peptides. J Biotechnol 128:162-183.
- Gunawardena S, Goldstein LS (2001) Disruption of axonal transport and neuronal viability by amyloid precursor protein mutations in Drosophila. Neuron 32:389-401.
- Gyure KA, Durham R, Stewart WF, Smialek JE, Troncoso JC (2001) Intraneuronal abetaamyloid precedes development of amyloid plaques in Down syndrome. Arch Pathol Lab Med 125:489-492.
- Hardy J, Selkoe DJ (2002) The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. Science 297:353-356.
- Hargis KE, Blalock EM (2017) Transcriptional signatures of brain aging and Alzheimer's disease: What are our rodent models telling us? Behav Brain Res 322:311-328.
- Harmeier A, Wozny C, Rost BR, Munter LM, Hua H, Georgiev O, Beyermann M, Hildebrand PW, Weise C, Schaffner W, Schmitz D, Multhaup G (2009) Role of amyloid-beta glycine 33 in oligomerization, toxicity, and neuronal plasticity. J Neurosci 29:7582-7590.
- Hartenstein V (2011) Morphological diversity and development of glia in Drosophila. Glia 59:1237-1252.
- Haynie JL, Bryant PJ (1986) Development of the eye-antenna imaginal disc and morphogenesis of the adult head in Drosophila melanogaster. J Exp Zool 237:293-308.
- Hebert LE, Weuve J, Scherr PA, Evans DA (2013) Alzheimer disease in the United States (2010-2050) estimated using the 2010 census. Neurology 80:1778-1783.
- Heidary G, Fortini ME (2001) Identification and characterization of the Drosophila tau homolog. Mech Dev 108:171-178.
- Helfrich C (1986) Role of the optic lobes in the regulation of the locomotor activity rhythm of Drosophila melanogaster: behavioral analysis of neural mutants. J Neurogenet 3:321-343.
- Helmfors L, Boman A, Civitelli L, Nath S, Sandin L, Janefjord C, McCann H, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, Halliday G, Brorsson AC, Kagedal K (2015) Protective properties of lysozyme on beta-amyloid pathology: implications for Alzheimer disease. Neurobiol Dis 83:122-133.

- Hiesinger PR, Scholz M, Meinertzhagen IA, Fischbach KF, Obermayer K (2001) Visualization of synaptic markers in the optic neuropils of Drosophila using a new constrained deconvolution method. J Comp Neurol 429:277-288.
- Hildebrand C, Remahl S, Persson H, Bjartmar C (1993) Myelinated nerve fibres in the CNS. Prog Neurobiol 40:319-384.
- Hof PR, Nimchinsky EA, Celio MR, Bouras C, Morrison JH (1993) Calretinin-immunoreactive neocortical interneurons are unaffected in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 152:145-148.
- Hof PR, Cox K, Young WG, Celio MR, Rogers J, Morrison JH (1991) Parvalbuminimmunoreactive neurons in the neocortex are resistant to degeneration in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 50:451-462.
- Hoffmann JA (2003) The immune response of Drosophila. Nature 426:33-38.
- Hong CS, Koo EH (1997) Isolation and characterization of Drosophila presenilin homolog. Neuroreport 8:665-668.
- Hong S, Ostaszewski BL, Yang T, O'Malley TT, Jin M, Yanagisawa K, Li S, Bartels T, Selkoe DJ (2014) Soluble Abeta oligomers are rapidly sequestered from brain ISF in vivo and bind GM1 ganglioside on cellular membranes. Neuron 82:308-319.
- Hopkins CR (2011) ACS chemical neuroscience molecule spotlight on ELND006: another gamma-secretase inhibitor fails in the clinic. ACS Chem Neurosci 2:279-280.
- Howard R et al. (2015) Nursing home placement in the Donepezil and Memantine in Moderate to Severe Alzheimer's Disease (DOMINO-AD) trial: secondary and post-hoc analyses. Lancet Neurol 14:1171-1181.
- Howard R et al. (2012) Donepezil and memantine for moderate-to-severe Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 366:893-903.
- Hoyer W, Gronwall C, Jonsson A, Stahl S, Hard T (2008) Stabilization of a beta-hairpin in monomeric Alzheimer's amyloid-beta peptide inhibits amyloid formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:5099-5104.
- Hsia AY, Masliah E, McConlogue L, Yu GQ, Tatsuno G, Hu K, Kholodenko D, Malenka RC, Nicoll RA, Mucke L (1999) Plaque-independent disruption of neural circuits in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:3228-3233.
- Hsiao K, Chapman P, Nilsen S, Eckman C, Harigaya Y, Younkin S, Yang F, Cole G (1996) Correlative memory deficits, Abeta elevation, and amyloid plaques in transgenic mice. Science 274:99-102.
- Ida N, Hartmann T, Pantel J, Schroder J, Zerfass R, Forstl H, Sandbrink R, Masters CL, Beyreuther K (1996) Analysis of heterogeneous A4 peptides in human cerebrospinal fluid

and blood by a newly developed sensitive Western blot assay. J Biol Chem 271:22908-22914.

- Iijima K, Liu HP, Chiang AS, Hearn SA, Konsolaki M, Zhong Y (2004) Dissecting the pathological effects of human Abeta40 and Abeta42 in Drosophila: a potential model for Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:6623-6628.
- Iijima K, Chiang HC, Hearn SA, Hakker I, Gatt A, Shenton C, Granger L, Leung A, Iijima-Ando K, Zhong Y (2008) Abeta42 mutants with different aggregation profiles induce distinct pathologies in Drosophila. PLoS One 3:e1703.
- Iijima-Ando K, Hearn SA, Granger L, Shenton C, Gatt A, Chiang HC, Hakker I, Zhong Y, Iijima K (2008) Overexpression of neprilysin reduces alzheimer amyloid-beta42 (Abeta42)-induced neuron loss and intraneuronal Abeta42 deposits but causes a reduction in cAMP-responsive element-binding protein-mediated transcription, age-dependent axon pathology, and premature death in Drosophila. J Biol Chem 283:19066-19076.
- Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I (2002) Neurofibrillary pathology leads to synaptic loss and not the other way around in Alzheimer disease. J Alzheimers Dis 4:235-238.
- Iyer J, Wang Q, Le T, Pizzo L, Gronke S, Ambegaokar SS, Imai Y, Srivastava A, Troisi BL, Mardon G, Artero R, Jackson GR, Isaacs AM, Partridge L, Lu B, Kumar JP, Girirajan S (2016) Quantitative Assessment of Eye Phenotypes for Functional Genetic Studies Using Drosophila melanogaster. G3 (Bethesda) 6:1427-1437.
- Jacob HJ, Kwitek AE (2002) Rat genetics: attaching physiology and pharmacology to the genome. Nat Rev Genet 3:33-42.
- Jang SS, Chung HJ (2016) Emerging Link between Alzheimer's Disease and Homeostatic Synaptic Plasticity. Neural Plast 2016:7969272.
- Jankowsky JL, Slunt HH, Gonzales V, Savonenko AV, Wen JC, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG, Younkin LH, Lester HA, Younkin SG, Borchelt DR (2005) Persistent amyloidosis following suppression of Abeta production in a transgenic model of Alzheimer disease. PLoS Med 2:e355.
- Jeibmann A, Paulus W (2009) Drosophila melanogaster as a model organism of brain diseases. Int J Mol Sci 10:407-440.
- Jeon Y, Lee S, Shin M, Lee JH, Suh YS, Hwang S, Yun HS, Cho KS (2017) Phenotypic differences between Drosophila Alzheimer's disease models expressing human A beta 42 in the developing eye and brain. Anim Cells Syst 21:160-168.
- Jiang L, Svane AS, Sorensen HP, Jensen JK, Hosseini M, Chen Z, Weydert C, Nielsen JT, Christensen A, Yuan C, Jensen KJ, Nielsen NC, Malmendal A, Huang M, Andreasen PA (2011) The binding mechanism of a peptidic cyclic serine protease inhibitor. J Mol Biol 412:235-250.

- Jiang N, Frenzel D, Schartmann E, van Groen T, Kadish I, Shah NJ, Langen KJ, Willbold D, Willuweit A (2016) Blood-brain barrier penetration of an Abeta-targeted, arginine-rich, denantiomeric peptide. Biochim Biophys Acta 1858:2717-2724.
- Jin M, Shepardson N, Yang T, Chen G, Walsh D, Selkoe DJ (2011) Soluble amyloid beta-protein dimers isolated from Alzheimer cortex directly induce Tau hyperphosphorylation and neuritic degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:5819-5824.
- Johnston JA, Cowburn RF, Norgren S, Wiehager B, Venizelos N, Winblad B, Vigo-Pelfrey C, Schenk D, Lannfelt L, O'Neill C (1994) Increased beta-amyloid release and levels of amyloid precursor protein (APP) in fibroblast cell lines from family members with the Swedish Alzheimer's disease APP670/671 mutation. FEBS Lett 354:274-278.
- Jones MA, Grotewiel M (2011) Drosophila as a model for age-related impairment in locomotor and other behaviors. Exp Gerontol 46:320-325.
- Jonsson T et al. (2012) A mutation in APP protects against Alzheimer's disease and age-related cognitive decline. Nature 488:96-99.
- Katzman R (1976) Editorial: The prevalence and malignancy of Alzheimer disease. A major killer. Arch Neurol 33:217-218.
- Kidd M (1963) Paired helical filaments in electron microscopy of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 197:192-193.
- Kidd M (1964) Alzheimer's Disease--an Electron Microscopical Study. Brain 87:307-320.
- Kim J, Jiang H, Park S, Eltorai AE, Stewart FR, Yoon H, Basak JM, Finn MB, Holtzman DM (2011) Haploinsufficiency of human APOE reduces amyloid deposition in a mouse model of amyloid-beta amyloidosis. J Neurosci 31:18007-18012.
- Kim J, Eltorai AE, Jiang H, Liao F, Verghese PB, Kim J, Stewart FR, Basak JM, Holtzman DM (2012) Anti-apoE immunotherapy inhibits amyloid accumulation in a transgenic mouse model of Abeta amyloidosis. J Exp Med 209:2149-2156.
- Kirvell SL, Esiri M, Francis PT (2006) Down-regulation of vesicular glutamate transporters precedes cell loss and pathology in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 98:939-950.
- Kloskowska E, Pham TM, Nilsson T, Zhu S, Oberg J, Codita A, Pedersen LA, Pedersen JT, Malkiewicz K, Winblad B, Folkesson R, Benedikz E (2010) Cognitive impairment in the Tg6590 transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease. J Cell Mol Med 14:1816-1823.
- Knopman DS, Parisi JE, Salviati A, Floriach-Robert M, Boeve BF, Ivnik RJ, Smith GE, Dickson DW, Johnson KA, Petersen LE, McDonald WC, Braak H, Petersen RC (2003)
 Neuropathology of cognitively normal elderly. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 62:1087-1095.
- Koffie RM, Meyer-Luehmann M, Hashimoto T, Adams KW, Mielke ML, Garcia-Alloza M, Micheva KD, Smith SJ, Kim ML, Lee VM, Hyman BT, Spires-Jones TL (2009)

Oligomeric amyloid beta associates with postsynaptic densities and correlates with excitatory synapse loss near senile plaques. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:4012-4017.

- Kornhuber J, Weller M, Schoppmeyer K, Riederer P (1994) Amantadine and memantine are NMDA receptor antagonists with neuroprotective properties. J Neural Transm Suppl 43:91-104.
- Koushika SP, Lisbin MJ, White K (1996) ELAV, a Drosophila neuron-specific protein, mediates the generation of an alternatively spliced neural protein isoform. Curr Biol 6:1634-1641.
- Krantic S, Isorce N, Mechawar N, Davoli MA, Vignault E, Albuquerque M, Chabot JG, Moyse E, Chauvin JP, Aubert I, McLaurin J, Quirion R (2012) Hippocampal GABAergic neurons are susceptible to amyloid-beta toxicity in vitro and are decreased in number in the Alzheimer's disease TgCRND8 mouse model. J Alzheimers Dis 29:293-308.
- Kumar A, Singh A, Ekavali (2015) A review on Alzheimer's disease pathophysiology and its management: an update. Pharmacol Rep 67:195-203.
- Kumar J, Sim V (2014) D-amino acid-based peptide inhibitors as early or preventative therapy in Alzheimer disease. Prion 8:119-124.
- Kumar JP (2012) Building an ommatidium one cell at a time. Dev Dyn 241:136-149.
- LaFerla FM, Oddo S (2005) Alzheimer's disease: Abeta, tau and synaptic dysfunction. Trends Mol Med 11:170-176.
- Laird FM, Cai H, Savonenko AV, Farah MH, He K, Melnikova T, Wen H, Chiang HC, Xu G, Koliatsos VE, Borchelt DR, Price DL, Lee HK, Wong PC (2005) BACE1, a major determinant of selective vulnerability of the brain to amyloid-beta amyloidogenesis, is essential for cognitive, emotional, and synaptic functions. J Neurosci 25:11693-11709.
- Lancelot E, Beal MF (1998) Glutamate toxicity in chronic neurodegenerative disease. Prog Brain Res 116:331-347.
- Landis GN, Salomon MP, Keroles D, Brookes N, Sekimura T, Tower J (2015) The progesterone antagonist mifepristone/RU486 blocks the negative effect on life span caused by mating in female Drosophila. Aging (Albany NY) 7:53-69.
- Lane RM, Potkin SG, Enz A (2006) Targeting acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in dementia. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 9:101-124.
- Lannfelt L, Moller C, Basun H, Osswald G, Sehlin D, Satlin A, Logovinsky V, Gellerfors P (2014) Perspectives on future Alzheimer therapies: amyloid-beta protofibrils - a new target for immunotherapy with BAN2401 in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Res Ther 6:16.
- Larson EB, Shadlen MF, Wang L, McCormick WC, Bowen JD, Teri L, Kukull WA (2004) Survival after initial diagnosis of Alzheimer disease. Ann Intern Med 140:501-509.

- Lawniczak MK, Begun DJ (2004) A genome-wide analysis of courting and mating responses in Drosophila melanogaster females. Genome 47:900-910.
- Leithold LH, Jiang N, Post J, Ziehm T, Schartmann E, Kutzsche J, Shah NJ, Breitkreutz J, Langen KJ, Willuweit A, Willbold D (2016) Pharmacokinetic Properties of a Novel D-Peptide Developed to be Therapeutically Active Against Toxic beta-Amyloid Oligomers. Pharm Res 33:328-336.
- Lemere CA (2013) Immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease: hoops and hurdles. Mol Neurodegener 8:36.
- Leon WC, Canneva F, Partridge V, Allard S, Ferretti MT, DeWilde A, Vercauteren F, Atifeh R, Ducatenzeiler A, Klein W, Szyf M, Alhonen L, Cuello AC (2010) A novel transgenic rat model with a full Alzheimer's-like amyloid pathology displays pre-plaque intracellular amyloid-beta-associated cognitive impairment. J Alzheimers Dis 20:113-126.
- Levy E, Carman MD, Fernandez-Madrid IJ, Power MD, Lieberburg I, van Duinen SG, Bots GT, Luyendijk W, Frangione B (1990) Mutation of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid gene in hereditary cerebral hemorrhage, Dutch type. Science 248:1124-1126.
- Lewis J, Dickson DW, Lin WL, Chisholm L, Corral A, Jones G, Yen SH, Sahara N, Skipper L, Yager D, Eckman C, Hardy J, Hutton M, McGowan E (2001) Enhanced neurofibrillary degeneration in transgenic mice expressing mutant tau and APP. Science 293:1487-1491.
- Lewis PA, Perez-Tur J, Golde TE, Hardy J (2000) The presenilin 1 C92S mutation increases abeta 42 production. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 277:261-263.
- Li QX, Fuller SJ, Beyreuther K, Masters CL (1999) The amyloid precursor protein of Alzheimer disease in human brain and blood. J Leukoc Biol 66:567-574.
- Li S, Mallory M, Alford M, Tanaka S, Masliah E (1997) Glutamate transporter alterations in Alzheimer disease are possibly associated with abnormal APP expression. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 56:901-911.
- Li WZ, Li SL, Zheng HY, Zhang SP, Xue L (2012a) A broad expression profile of the GMR-GAL4 driver in Drosophila melanogaster. Genet Mol Res 11:1997-2002.
- Li X, Du X, Li J, Gao Y, Pan Y, Shi J, Zhou N, Xu B (2012b) Introducing D-amino acid or simple glycoside into small peptides to enable supramolecular hydrogelators to resist proteolysis. Langmuir 28:13512-13517.
- Li XM, Du XW, Li JY, Gao Y, Pan Y, Shi JF, Zhou N, Xu B (2012c) Introducing D-Amino Acid or Simple Glycoside into Small Peptides to Enable Supramolecular Hydrogelators to Resist Proteolysis. Langmuir 28:13512-13517.
- Liang G, Yang Z, Zhang R, Li L, Fan Y, Kuang Y, Gao Y, Wang T, Lu WW, Xu B (2009) Supramolecular hydrogel of a D-amino acid dipeptide for controlled drug release in vivo. Langmuir 25:8419-8422.

- Limmer S, Weiler A, Volkenhoff A, Babatz F, Klambt C (2014) The Drosophila blood-brain barrier: development and function of a glial endothelium. Front Neurosci 8:365.
- Link CD (1995) Expression of human beta-amyloid peptide in transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:9368-9372.
- Link CD, Taft A, Kapulkin V, Duke K, Kim S, Fei Q, Wood DE, Sahagan BG (2003) Gene expression analysis in a transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans Alzheimer's disease model. Neurobiol Aging 24:397-413.
- Liu F, Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I, Gong CX (2002) Involvement of aberrant glycosylation in phosphorylation of tau by cdk5 and GSK-3beta. FEBS Lett 530:209-214.
- Liu H, Kubli E (2003) Sex-peptide is the molecular basis of the sperm effect in Drosophila melanogaster. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:9929-9933.
- Liu W, Crocker E, Zhang W, Elliott JI, Luy B, Li H, Aimoto S, Smith SO (2005) Structural role of glycine in amyloid fibrils formed from transmembrane alpha-helices. Biochemistry 44:3591-3597.
- Lopez OL, Becker JT, Wisniewski S, Saxton J, Kaufer DI, DeKosky ST (2002) Cholinesterase inhibitor treatment alters the natural history of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 72:310-314.
- Lowe TL, Strzelec A, Kiessling LL, Murphy RM (2001) Structure-function relationships for inhibitors of beta-amyloid toxicity containing the recognition sequence KLVFF. Biochemistry 40:7882-7889.
- Luheshi LM, Tartaglia GG, Brorsson AC, Pawar AP, Watson IE, Chiti F, Vendruscolo M, Lomas DA, Dobson CM, Crowther DC (2007) Systematic in vivo analysis of the intrinsic determinants of amyloid Beta pathogenicity. PLoS Biol 5:e290.
- Luheshi LM, Hoyer W, de Barros TP, van Dijk Hard I, Brorsson AC, Macao B, Persson C, Crowther DC, Lomas DA, Stahl S, Dobson CM, Hard T (2010) Sequestration of the Abeta peptide prevents toxicity and promotes degradation in vivo. PLoS Biol 8:e1000334.
- Luo L, Tully T, White K (1992) Human amyloid precursor protein ameliorates behavioral deficit of flies deleted for Appl gene. Neuron 9:595-605.
- Maass A, Landau S, Baker SL, Horng A, Lockhart SN, La Joie R, Rabinovici GD, Jagust WJ, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I (2017) Comparison of multiple tau-PET measures as biomarkers in aging and Alzheimer's disease. Neuroimage 157:448-463.
- Mack PD, Kapelnikov A, Heifetz Y, Bender M (2006) Mating-responsive genes in reproductive tissues of female Drosophila melanogaster. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:10358-10363.

Mandelkow EM, Mandelkow E (1998) Tau in Alzheimer's disease. Trends Cell Biol 8:425-427.

- Mandelkow EM, Biernat J, Drewes G, Gustke N, Trinczek B, Mandelkow E (1995) Tau domains, phosphorylation, and interactions with microtubules. Neurobiol Aging 16:355-362; discussion 362-353.
- Maruyama M et al. (2013) Imaging of tau pathology in a tauopathy mouse model and in Alzheimer patients compared to normal controls. Neuron 79:1094-1108.
- Masliah E, Alford M, DeTeresa R, Mallory M, Hansen L (1996) Deficient glutamate transport is associated with neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 40:759-766.
- Masters CL, Simms G, Weinman NA, Multhaup G, McDonald BL, Beyreuther K (1985) Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 82:4245-4249.
- Matheson T (2002) Invertebrate nervous systems. In: Encyclopedia of Life Sciences: Nature Publishing Group.
- Maurer K, Volk S, Gerbaldo H (1997) Auguste D and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 349:1546-1549.
- Mayer F, Mayer N, Chinn L, Pinsonneault RL, Kroetz D, Bainton RJ (2009) Evolutionary conservation of vertebrate blood-brain barrier chemoprotective mechanisms in Drosophila. J Neurosci 29:3538-3550.
- McGowan E, Pickford F, Kim J, Onstead L, Eriksen J, Yu C, Skipper L, Murphy MP, Beard J, Das P, Jansen K, DeLucia M, Lin WL, Dolios G, Wang R, Eckman CB, Dickson DW, Hutton M, Hardy J, Golde T (2005) Abeta42 is essential for parenchymal and vascular amyloid deposition in mice. Neuron 47:191-199.
- McGraw LA, Gibson G, Clark AG, Wolfner MF (2004) Genes regulated by mating, sperm, or seminal proteins in mated female Drosophila melanogaster. Curr Biol 14:1509-1514.
- McLean CA, Cherny RA, Fraser FW, Fuller SJ, Smith MJ, Beyreuther K, Bush AI, Masters CL (1999) Soluble pool of Abeta amyloid as a determinant of severity of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 46:860-866.
- McShane R, Areosa Sastre A, Minakaran N (2006) Memantine for dementia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev:CD003154.
- Mhatre SD, Paddock BE, Saunders AJ, Marenda DR (2013) Invertebrate models of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 33:3-16.
- Miller DL, Papayannopoulos IA, Styles J, Bobin SA, Lin YY, Biemann K, Iqbal K (1993) Peptide compositions of the cerebrovascular and senile plaque core amyloid deposits of Alzheimer's disease. Arch Biochem Biophys 301:41-52.

- Miller MJ, Foy KC, Kaumaya PT (2013) Cancer immunotherapy: present status, future perspective, and a new paradigm of peptide immunotherapeutics. Discov Med 15:166-176.
- Mo JA, Lim JH, Sul AR, Lee M, Youn YC, Kim HJ (2015) Cerebrospinal fluid beta-amyloid1-42 levels in the differential diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease--systematic review and metaanalysis. PLoS One 10:e0116802.
- Morrison BM, Hof PR, Morrison JH (1998) Determinants of neuronal vulnerability in neurodegenerative diseases. Ann Neurol 44:S32-44.
- Mucke L, Selkoe DJ (2012) Neurotoxicity of amyloid beta-protein: synaptic and network dysfunction. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a006338.
- Mucke L, Masliah E, Yu GQ, Mallory M, Rockenstein EM, Tatsuno G, Hu K, Kholodenko D, Johnson-Wood K, McConlogue L (2000) High-level neuronal expression of abeta 1-42 in wild-type human amyloid protein precursor transgenic mice: synaptotoxicity without plaque formation. J Neurosci 20:4050-4058.
- Munke A, Persson J, Weiffert T, De Genst E, Meisl G, Arosio P, Carnerup A, Dobson CM, Vendruscolo M, Knowles TPJ, Linse S (2017) Phage display and kinetic selection of antibodies that specifically inhibit amyloid self-replication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114:6444-6449.
- Munter LM, Voigt P, Harmeier A, Kaden D, Gottschalk KE, Weise C, Pipkorn R, Schaefer M, Langosch D, Multhaup G (2007) GxxxG motifs within the amyloid precursor protein transmembrane sequence are critical for the etiology of Abeta42. EMBO J 26:1702-1712.
- Murphy MP, LeVine H, 3rd (2010) Alzheimer's disease and the amyloid-beta peptide. J Alzheimers Dis 19:311-323.
- Musiek ES, Holtzman DM (2015) Three dimensions of the amyloid hypothesis: time, space and 'wingmen'. Nat Neurosci 18:800-806.
- Nelson PT, Braak H, Markesbery WR (2009) Neuropathology and cognitive impairment in Alzheimer disease: a complex but coherent relationship. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 68:1-14.
- Netzer WJ, Powell C, Nong Y, Blundell J, Wong L, Duff K, Flajolet M, Greengard P (2010) Lowering beta-amyloid levels rescues learning and memory in a Down syndrome mouse model. PLoS One 5:e10943.
- Neuhoff V, Arold N, Taube D, Ehrhardt W (1988) Improved staining of proteins in polyacrylamide gels including isoelectric focusing gels with clear background at nanogram sensitivity using Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 and R-250. Electrophoresis 9:255-262.

- Neuhoff V, Stamm R, Pardowitz I, Arold N, Ehrhardt W, Taube D (1990) Essential problems in quantification of proteins following colloidal staining with coomassie brilliant blue dyes in polyacrylamide gels, and their solution. Electrophoresis 11:101-117.
- Nevola L, Giralt E (2015) Modulating protein-protein interactions: the potential of peptides. Chem Commun (Camb) 51:3302-3315.
- Newman M, Kretzchmar, D., Khan, I., Chen, M., Verdile, G., Lardelli, M. (2017) Animal Models of Alzheimer's Disease. In: Animal Models for the Study of Human Disease. (Conn PM, ed), p 1198: Academic Press.
- Oddo S, Caccamo A, Shepherd JD, Murphy MP, Golde TE, Kayed R, Metherate R, Mattson MP, Akbari Y, LaFerla FM (2003) Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease with plaques and tangles: intracellular Abeta and synaptic dysfunction. Neuron 39:409-421.
- Ohno M, Cole SL, Yasvoina M, Zhao J, Citron M, Berry R, Disterhoft JF, Vassar R (2007) BACE1 gene deletion prevents neuron loss and memory deficits in 5XFAD APP/PS1 transgenic mice. Neurobiol Dis 26:134-145.
- Orrego F, Villanueva S (1993) The chemical nature of the main central excitatory transmitter: a critical appraisal based upon release studies and synaptic vesicle localization. Neuroscience 56:539-555.
- Osterwalder T, Yoon KS, White BH, Keshishian H (2001) A conditional tissue-specific transgene expression system using inducible GAL4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:12596-12601.
- Ostrowitzki S, Deptula D, Thurfjell L, Barkhof F, Bohrmann B, Brooks DJ, Klunk WE, Ashford E, Yoo K, Xu ZX, Loetscher H, Santarelli L (2012) Mechanism of amyloid removal in patients with Alzheimer disease treated with gantenerumab. Arch Neurol 69:198-207.
- Ostrowitzki S, Lasser RA, Dorflinger E, Scheltens P, Barkhof F, Nikolcheva T, Ashford E, Retout S, Hofmann C, Delmar P, Klein G, Andjelkovic M, Dubois B, Boada M, Blennow K, Santarelli L, Fontoura P, Investigators SCR (2017) A phase III randomized trial of gantenerumab in prodromal Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Res Ther 9:95.
- Ouweneel WJ (1970) Normal and abnormal determination in the imaginal discs of Drosophila, with special reference to the eye discs. Acta Embryol Exp (Palermo) 1:95-119.
- Pallitto MM, Ghanta J, Heinzelman P, Kiessling LL, Murphy RM (1999) Recognition sequence design for peptidyl modulators of beta-amyloid aggregation and toxicity. Biochemistry 38:3570-3578.
- Pandey UB, Nichols CD (2011) Human disease models in Drosophila melanogaster and the role of the fly in therapeutic drug discovery. Pharmacol Rev 63:411-436.
- Parker RJ, Auld VJ (2006) Roles of glia in the Drosophila nervous system. Semin Cell Dev Biol 17:66-77.

- Parthsarathy V, McClean PL, Holscher C, Taylor M, Tinker C, Jones G, Kolosov O, Salvati E, Gregori M, Masserini M, Allsop D (2013) A novel retro-inverso peptide inhibitor reduces amyloid deposition, oxidation and inflammation and stimulates neurogenesis in the APPswe/PS1DeltaE9 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One 8:e54769.
- Periz G, Fortini ME (2004) Functional reconstitution of gamma-secretase through coordinated expression of presenilin, nicastrin, Aph-1, and Pen-2. J Neurosci Res 77:309-322.
- Perl DP (2010) Neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease. Mt Sinai J Med 77:32-42.
- Perry E, Walker M, Grace J, Perry R (1999) Acetylcholine in mind: a neurotransmitter correlate of consciousness? Trends Neurosci 22:273-280.
- Petersen RC, Parisi JE, Dickson DW, Johnson KA, Knopman DS, Boeve BF, Jicha GA, Ivnik RJ, Smith GE, Tangalos EG, Braak H, Kokmen E (2006) Neuropathologic features of amnestic mild cognitive impairment. Arch Neurol 63:665-672.
- Piaceri I, Nacmias B, Sorbi S (2013) Genetics of familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 5:167-177.
- Pignoni F, Hu B, Zipursky SL (1997) Identification of genes required for Drosophila eye development using a phenotypic enhancer-trap. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:9220-9225.
- Pilpel N, Nezer I, Applebaum SW, Heifetz Y (2008) Mating-increases trypsin in female Drosophila hemolymph. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 38:320-330.
- Ping Y, Hahm ET, Waro G, Song Q, Vo-Ba DA, Licursi A, Bao H, Ganoe L, Finch K, Tsunoda S (2015) Linking abeta42-induced hyperexcitability to neurodegeneration, learning and motor deficits, and a shorter lifespan in an Alzheimer's model. PLoS Genet 11:e1005025.
- Popugaeva E, Pchitskaya E, Speshilova A, Alexandrov S, Zhang H, Vlasova O, Bezprozvanny I (2015) STIM2 protects hippocampal mushroom spines from amyloid synaptotoxicity. Mol Neurodegener 10:37.
- Porzig R, Singer D, Hoffmann R (2007) Epitope mapping of mAbs AT8 and Tau5 directed against hyperphosphorylated regions of the human tau protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 358:644-649.
- Prasher VP, Farrer MJ, Kessling AM, Fisher EM, West RJ, Barber PC, Butler AC (1998) Molecular mapping of Alzheimer-type dementia in Down's syndrome. Ann Neurol 43:380-383.
- Price JL, Morris JC (1999) Tangles and plaques in nondemented aging and "preclinical" Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 45:358-368.
- Prussing K, Voigt A, Schulz JB (2013) Drosophila melanogaster as a model organism for Alzheimer's disease. Mol Neurodegener 8:35.

- Puig KL, Combs CK (2013) Expression and function of APP and its metabolites outside the central nervous system. Exp Gerontol 48:608-611.
- Raina P, Santaguida P, Ismaila A, Patterson C, Cowan D, Levine M, Booker L, Oremus M (2008) Effectiveness of cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine for treating dementia: evidence review for a clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med 148:379-397.
- Ramirez-Bermudez J (2012) Alzheimer's disease: critical notes on the history of a medical concept. Arch Med Res 43:595-599.
- Ray M, Lakhotia SC (2015) The commonly used eye-specific sev-GAL4 and GMR-GAL4 drivers in Drosophila melanogaster are expressed in tissues other than eyes also. J Genet 94:407-416.
- Ready DF, Hanson TE, Benzer S (1976) Development of the Drosophila retina, a neurocrystalline lattice. Dev Biol 53:217-240.
- Reiman EM, Langbaum JB, Fleisher AS, Caselli RJ, Chen K, Ayutyanont N, Quiroz YT, Kosik KS, Lopera F, Tariot PN (2011) Alzheimer's Prevention Initiative: a plan to accelerate the evaluation of presymptomatic treatments. J Alzheimers Dis 26 Suppl 3:321-329.
- Richards JG, Higgins GA, Ouagazzal AM, Ozmen L, Kew JN, Bohrmann B, Malherbe P, Brockhaus M, Loetscher H, Czech C, Huber G, Bluethmann H, Jacobsen H, Kemp JA (2003) PS2APP transgenic mice, coexpressing hPS2mut and hAPPswe, show age-related cognitive deficits associated with discrete brain amyloid deposition and inflammation. J Neurosci 23:8989-9003.
- Rinne JO, Brooks DJ, Rossor MN, Fox NC, Bullock R, Klunk WE, Mathis CA, Blennow K, Barakos J, Okello AA, Rodriguez Martinez de Liano S, Liu E, Koller M, Gregg KM, Schenk D, Black R, Grundman M (2010) 11C-PiB PET assessment of change in fibrillar amyloid-beta load in patients with Alzheimer's disease treated with bapineuzumab: a phase 2, double-blind, placebo-controlled, ascending-dose study. Lancet Neurol 9:363-372.
- Roberson ED, Halabisky B, Yoo JW, Yao J, Chin J, Yan F, Wu T, Hamto P, Devidze N, Yu GQ, Palop JJ, Noebels JL, Mucke L (2011) Amyloid-beta/Fyn-induced synaptic, network, and cognitive impairments depend on tau levels in multiple mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 31:700-711.
- Robinow S, White K (1988) The locus elav of Drosophila melanogaster is expressed in neurons at all developmental stages. Dev Biol 126:294-303.
- Robinow S, White K (1991) Characterization and spatial distribution of the ELAV protein during Drosophila melanogaster development. J Neurobiol 22:443-461.
- Rooke J, Pan D, Xu T, Rubin GM (1996) KUZ, a conserved metalloprotease-disintegrin protein with two roles in Drosophila neurogenesis. Science 273:1227-1231.

- Rovelet-Lecrux A, Hannequin D, Raux G, Le Meur N, Laquerriere A, Vital A, Dumanchin C, Feuillette S, Brice A, Vercelletto M, Dubas F, Frebourg T, Campion D (2006) APP locus duplication causes autosomal dominant early-onset Alzheimer disease with cerebral amyloid angiopathy. Nat Genet 38:24-26.
- Rubin GM, Spradling AC (1982) Genetic transformation of Drosophila with transposable element vectors. Science 218:348-353.
- Sadek MM, Barlow N, Leung EWW, Williams-Noonan BJ, Yap BK, Shariff FM, Caradoc-Davies TT, Nicholson SE, Chalmers DK, Thompson PE, Law RHP, Norton RS (2018) A Cyclic Peptide Inhibitor of the iNOS-SPSB Protein-Protein Interaction as a Potential Anti-Infective Agent. ACS Chem Biol 13:2930-2938.
- Salahuddin P, Fatima MT, Abdelhameed AS, Nusrat S, Khan RH (2016) Structure of amyloid oligomers and their mechanisms of toxicities: Targeting amyloid oligomers using novel therapeutic approaches. Eur J Med Chem 114:41-58.
- Salloway S, Sperling R, Gilman S, Fox NC, Blennow K, Raskind M, Sabbagh M, Honig LS, Doody R, van Dyck CH, Mulnard R, Barakos J, Gregg KM, Liu E, Lieberburg I, Schenk D, Black R, Grundman M, Bapineuzumab 201 Clinical Trial I (2009) A phase 2 multiple ascending dose trial of bapineuzumab in mild to moderate Alzheimer disease. Neurology 73:2061-2070.
- Salloway S et al. (2014) Two phase 3 trials of bapineuzumab in mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 370:322-333.
- Sarkar A, Gogia N, Glenn N, Singh A, Jones G, Powers N, Srivastava A, Kango-Singh M, Singh A (2018) A soy protein Lunasin can ameliorate amyloid-beta 42 mediated neurodegeneration in Drosophila eye. Sci Rep 8:13545.
- Sato T, Kienlen-Campard P, Ahmed M, Liu W, Li H, Elliott JI, Aimoto S, Constantinescu SN, Octave JN, Smith SO (2006) Inhibitors of amyloid toxicity based on beta-sheet packing of Abeta40 and Abeta42. Biochemistry 45:5503-5516.
- Savage MJ, Trusko SP, Howland DS, Pinsker LR, Mistretta S, Reaume AG, Greenberg BD, Siman R, Scott RW (1998) Turnover of amyloid beta-protein in mouse brain and acute reduction of its level by phorbol ester. J Neurosci 18:1743-1752.
- Sayre MH, Tschochner H, Kornberg RD (1992) Reconstitution of transcription with five purified initiation factors and RNA polymerase II from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 267:23376-23382.
- Scheuner D et al. (1996) Secreted amyloid beta-protein similar to that in the senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease is increased in vivo by the presenilin 1 and 2 and APP mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. Nat Med 2:864-870.
- Schliebs R, Arendt T (2006) The significance of the cholinergic system in the brain during aging and in Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm (Vienna) 113:1625-1644.

Schneider LS (2004) AD2000: donepezil in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 363:2100-2101.

- Schreiber SL, Preiss A, Nagel AC, Wech I, Maier D (2002) Genetic screen for modifiers of the rough eye phenotype resulting from overexpression of the Notch antagonist hairless in Drosophila. Genesis 33:141-152.
- Sciarretta KL, Gordon DJ, Meredith SC (2006) Peptide-based inhibitors of amyloid assembly. Methods Enzymol 413:273-312.
- Seino Y, Kawarabayashi T, Wakasaya Y, Watanabe M, Takamura A, Yamamoto-Watanabe Y, Kurata T, Abe K, Ikeda M, Westaway D, Murakami T, Hyslop PS, Matsubara E, Shoji M (2010) Amyloid beta accelerates phosphorylation of tau and neurofibrillary tangle formation in an amyloid precursor protein and tau double-transgenic mouse model. J Neurosci Res 88:3547-3554.
- Selkoe DJ (2001) Alzheimer's disease: genes, proteins, and therapy. Physiol Rev 81:741-766.
- Selkoe DJ, Hardy J (2016) The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. EMBO Mol Med 8:595-608.
- Serrano-Pozo A, Frosch MP, Masliah E, Hyman BT (2011) Neuropathological alterations in Alzheimer disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 1:a006189.
- Sevigny J et al. (2016) The antibody aducanumab reduces Abeta plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Nature 537:50-56.
- Shankar GM, Li S, Mehta TH, Garcia-Munoz A, Shepardson NE, Smith I, Brett FM, Farrell MA, Rowan MJ, Lemere CA, Regan CM, Walsh DM, Sabatini BL, Selkoe DJ (2008) Amyloid-beta protein dimers isolated directly from Alzheimer's brains impair synaptic plasticity and memory. Nat Med 14:837-842.
- Shepherd C, McCann H, Halliday GM (2009) Variations in the neuropathology of familial Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol 118:37-52.
- Shiwany NA, Xie J, Guo Q (2009) Cortical neurons transgenic for human Abeta40 or Abeta42 have similar vulnerability to apoptosis despite their different amyloidogenic properties. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2:339-352.
- Sohal RS (2002) Oxidative stress hypothesis of aging. Free Radic Biol Med 33:573-574.
- Soldin OP, Mattison DR (2009) Sex differences in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Clin Pharmacokinet 48:143-157.
- Soldin OP, Chung SH, Mattison DR (2011) Sex differences in drug disposition. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011:187103.

- Song W, Onishi M, Jan LY, Jan YN (2007) Peripheral multidendritic sensory neurons are necessary for rhythmic locomotion behavior in Drosophila larvae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:5199-5204.
- Soto C, Kindy MS, Baumann M, Frangione B (1996) Inhibition of Alzheimer's amyloidosis by peptides that prevent beta-sheet conformation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 226:672-680.
- Speretta E, Jahn TR, Tartaglia GG, Favrin G, Barros TP, Imarisio S, Lomas DA, Luheshi LM, Crowther DC, Dobson CM (2012) Expression in drosophila of tandem amyloid beta peptides provides insights into links between aggregation and neurotoxicity. J Biol Chem 287:20748-20754.
- Sperling RA, Jack CR, Jr., Black SE, Frosch MP, Greenberg SM, Hyman BT, Scheltens P, Carrillo MC, Thies W, Bednar MM, Black RS, Brashear HR, Grundman M, Siemers ER, Feldman HH, Schindler RJ (2011) Amyloid-related imaging abnormalities in amyloidmodifying therapeutic trials: recommendations from the Alzheimer's Association Research Roundtable Workgroup. Alzheimers Dement 7:367-385.
- Stochmanski SJ, Therrien M, Laganiere J, Rochefort D, Laurent S, Karemera L, Gaudet R, Vyboh K, Van Meyel DJ, Di Cristo G, Dion PA, Gaspar C, Rouleau GA (2012) Expanded ATXN3 frameshifting events are toxic in Drosophila and mammalian neuron models. Hum Mol Genet 21:2211-2218.
- Stork T, Engelen D, Krudewig A, Silies M, Bainton RJ, Klambt C (2008) Organization and function of the blood-brain barrier in Drosophila. J Neurosci 28:587-597.
- Stozicka Z, Zilka N, Novak M (2007) Risk and protective factors for sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Acta Virol 51:205-222.
- Strand AD, Aragaki AK, Baquet ZC, Hodges A, Cunningham P, Holmans P, Jones KR, Jones L, Kooperberg C, Olson JM (2007) Conservation of regional gene expression in mouse and human brain. PLoS Genet 3:e59.
- Tamaoka A, Odaka A, Ishibashi Y, Usami M, Sahara N, Suzuki N, Nukina N, Mizusawa H, Shoji S, Kanazawa I, et al. (1994) APP717 missense mutation affects the ratio of amyloid beta protein species (A beta 1-42/43 and a beta 1-40) in familial Alzheimer's disease brain. J Biol Chem 269:32721-32724.
- Tan L, Schedl P, Song HJ, Garza D, Konsolaki M (2008) The Toll-->NFkappaB signaling pathway mediates the neuropathological effects of the human Alzheimer's Abeta42 polypeptide in Drosophila. PLoS One 3:e3966.
- Tannenbaum C, Day D, Matera A (2017) Age and sex in drug development and testing for adults. Pharmacol Res 121:83-93.
- Tanzi RE, Bertram L (2005) Twenty years of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid hypothesis: a genetic perspective. Cell 120:545-555.

- Taveggia C, Zanazzi G, Petrylak A, Yano H, Rosenbluth J, Einheber S, Xu X, Esper RM, Loeb JA, Shrager P, Chao MV, Falls DL, Role L, Salzer JL (2005) Neuregulin-1 type III determines the ensheathment fate of axons. Neuron 47:681-694.
- Tesson L, Cozzi J, Menoret S, Remy S, Usal C, Fraichard A, Anegon I (2005) Transgenic modifications of the rat genome. Transgenic Res 14:531-546.
- The Lancet N (2017) Solanezumab: too late in mild Alzheimer's disease? Lancet Neurol 16:97.
- Tjernberg LO, Naslund J, Lindqvist F, Johansson J, Karlstrom AR, Thyberg J, Terenius L, Nordstedt C (1996) Arrest of beta-amyloid fibril formation by a pentapeptide ligand. J Biol Chem 271:8545-8548.
- Tom SE, Hubbard RA, Crane PK, Haneuse SJ, Bowen J, McCormick WC, McCurry S, Larson EB (2015) Characterization of dementia and Alzheimer's disease in an older population: updated incidence and life expectancy with and without dementia. Am J Public Health 105:408-413.
- Tomic JL, Pensalfini A, Head E, Glabe CG (2009) Soluble fibrillar oligomer levels are elevated in Alzheimer's disease brain and correlate with cognitive dysfunction. Neurobiol Dis 35:352-358.
- Tomiyama T, Nagata T, Shimada H, Teraoka R, Fukushima A, Kanemitsu H, Takuma H, Kuwano R, Imagawa M, Ataka S, Wada Y, Yoshioka E, Nishizaki T, Watanabe Y, Mori H (2008) A new amyloid beta variant favoring oligomerization in Alzheimer's-type dementia. Ann Neurol 63:377-387.
- Tomlinson IM (2004) Next-generation protein drugs. Nat Biotechnol 22:521-522.
- Tower J, Landis GN, Shen J, Choi R, Fan Y, Lee D, Song J (2017) Mifepristone/RU486 acts in Drosophila melanogaster females to counteract the life span-shortening and proinflammatory effects of male Sex Peptide. Biogerontology 18:413-427.
- Treusch S et al. (2011) Functional links between Abeta toxicity, endocytic trafficking, and Alzheimer's disease risk factors in yeast. Science 334:1241-1245.
- Trinh NH, Hoblyn J, Mohanty S, Yaffe K (2003) Efficacy of cholinesterase inhibitors in the treatment of neuropsychiatric symptoms and functional impairment in Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis. JAMA 289:210-216.
- Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM (1995) Phosphorylation of paired helical filament tau in Alzheimer's disease neurofibrillary lesions: focusing on phosphatases. FASEB J 9:1570-1576.
- Tsomaia N (2015) Peptide therapeutics: targeting the undruggable space. Eur J Med Chem 94:459-470.

- Tsubuki S, Takaki Y, Saido TC (2003) Dutch, Flemish, Italian, and Arctic mutations of APP and resistance of Abeta to physiologically relevant proteolytic degradation. Lancet 361:1957-1958.
- Tucker S, Moller C, Tegerstedt K, Lord A, Laudon H, Sjodahl J, Soderberg L, Spens E, Sahlin C, Waara ER, Satlin A, Gellerfors P, Osswald G, Lannfelt L (2015) The murine version of BAN2401 (mAb158) selectively reduces amyloid-beta protofibrils in brain and cerebrospinal fluid of tg-ArcSwe mice. J Alzheimers Dis 43:575-588.
- Tugyi R, Uray K, Ivan D, Fellinger E, Perkins A, Hudecz F (2005) Partial D-amino acid substitution: Improved enzymatic stability and preserved Ab recognition of a MUC2 epitope peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:413-418.
- Ultsch M, Li B, Maurer T, Mathieu M, Adolfsson O, Muhs A, Pfeifer A, Pihlgren M, Bainbridge TW, Reichelt M, Ernst JA, Eigenbrot C, Fuh G, Atwal JK, Watts RJ, Wang W (2016) Structure of Crenezumab Complex with Abeta Shows Loss of beta-Hairpin. Sci Rep 6:39374.
- Ungureanu AA, Benilova I, Krylychkina O, Braeken D, De Strooper B, Van Haesendonck C, Dotti CG, Bartic C (2016) Amyloid beta oligomers induce neuronal elasticity changes in age-dependent manner: a force spectroscopy study on living hippocampal neurons. Sci Rep 6:25841.
- Van Cauwenberghe C, Van Broeckhoven C, Sleegers K (2016) The genetic landscape of Alzheimer disease: clinical implications and perspectives. Genet Med 18:421-430.
- van Dyck CH (2018) Anti-Amyloid-beta Monoclonal Antibodies for Alzheimer's Disease: Pitfalls and Promise. Biol Psychiatry 83:311-319.
- Verghese PB, Castellano JM, Holtzman DM (2011) Apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease and other neurological disorders. Lancet Neurol 10:241-252.
- Vlieghe P, Lisowski V, Martinez J, Khrestchatisky M (2010) Synthetic therapeutic peptides: science and market. Drug Discov Today 15:40-56.
- Voytyuk I, De Strooper B, Chavez-Gutierrez L (2018) Modulation of gamma- and beta-Secretases as Early Prevention Against Alzheimer's Disease. Biol Psychiatry 83:320-327.
- Walsh DM, Klyubin I, Fadeeva JV, Cullen WK, Anwyl R, Wolfe MS, Rowan MJ, Selkoe DJ (2002) Naturally secreted oligomers of amyloid beta protein potently inhibit hippocampal long-term potentiation in vivo. Nature 416:535-539.
- Wang J, Gu BJ, Masters CL, Wang YJ (2017) A systemic view of Alzheimer disease insights from amyloid-beta metabolism beyond the brain. Nat Rev Neurol 13:703.
- Wang JZ, Xia YY, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K (2013) Abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau: sites, regulation, and molecular mechanism of neurofibrillary degeneration. J Alzheimers Dis 33 Suppl 1:S123-139.

- Wang JZ, Wu Q, Smith A, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K (1998) Tau is phosphorylated by GSK-3 at several sites found in Alzheimer disease and its biological activity markedly inhibited only after it is prephosphorylated by A-kinase. FEBS Lett 436:28-34.
- Wangler MF, Yamamoto S, Bellen HJ (2015) Fruit flies in biomedical research. Genetics 199:639-653.
- Webster SJ, Bachstetter AD, Nelson PT, Schmitt FA, Van Eldik LJ (2014) Using mice to model Alzheimer's dementia: an overview of the clinical disease and the preclinical behavioral changes in 10 mouse models. Front Genet 5:88.
- West MJ, Coleman PD, Flood DG, Troncoso JC (1994) Differences in the pattern of hippocampal neuronal loss in normal ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 344:769-772.
- Whitehouse PJ, Price DL, Clark AW, Coyle JT, DeLong MR (1981) Alzheimer disease: evidence for selective loss of cholinergic neurons in the nucleus basalis. Ann Neurol 10:122-126.
- Whitehouse PJ, Price DL, Struble RG, Clark AW, Coyle JT, Delon MR (1982) Alzheimer's disease and senile dementia: loss of neurons in the basal forebrain. Science 215:1237-1239.
- Winblad B et al. (2016) Defeating Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a priority for European science and society. Lancet Neurol 15:455-532.
- Wisniewski HM, Narang HK, Terry RD (1976) Neurofibrillary tangles of paired helical filaments. J Neurol Sci 27:173-181.
- Wojcik P, Berlicki L (2016) Peptide-based inhibitors of protein-protein interactions. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 26:707-713.
- Wolbold R, Klein K, Burk O, Nussler AK, Neuhaus P, Eichelbaum M, Schwab M, Zanger UM (2003) Sex is a major determinant of CYP3A4 expression in human liver. Hepatology 38:978-988.
- Wong TP, Debeir T, Duff K, Cuello AC (1999) Reorganization of cholinergic terminals in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus in transgenic mice carrying mutated presenilin-1 and amyloid precursor protein transgenes. J Neurosci 19:2706-2716.
- Xiang Y, Bu XL, Liu YH, Zhu C, Shen LL, Jiao SS, Zhu XY, Giunta B, Tan J, Song WH, Zhou HD, Zhou XF, Wang YJ (2015) Physiological amyloid-beta clearance in the periphery and its therapeutic potential for Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol 130:487-499.
- Yamada R, Deshpande SA, Keebaugh ES, Ehrlich MR, Soto Obando A, Ja WW (2017) Mifepristone Reduces Food Palatability and Affects Drosophila Feeding and Lifespan. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 72:173-180.

- Yapici N, Kim YJ, Ribeiro C, Dickson BJ (2008) A receptor that mediates the post-mating switch in Drosophila reproductive behaviour. Nature 451:33-37.
- Yoshida S, Hasegawa T, Suzuki M, Sugeno N, Kobayashi J, Ueyama M, Fukuda M, Ido-Fujibayashi A, Sekiguchi K, Ezura M, Kikuchi A, Baba T, Takeda A, Mochizuki H, Nagai Y, Aoki M (2018) Parkinson's disease-linked DNAJC13 mutation aggravates alpha-synuclein-induced neurotoxicity through perturbation of endosomal trafficking. Hum Mol Genet 27:823-836.
- Zars T, Wolf R, Davis R, Heisenberg M (2000) Tissue-specific expression of a type I adenylyl cyclase rescues the rutabaga mutant memory defect: in search of the engram. Learn Mem 7:18-31.
- Zeidler MP, Tan C, Bellaiche Y, Cherry S, Hader S, Gayko U, Perrimon N (2004) Temperaturesensitive control of protein activity by conditionally splicing inteins. Nat Biotechnol 22:871-876.
- Zhang X, Li Y, Xu H, Zhang YW (2014) The gamma-secretase complex: from structure to function. Front Cell Neurosci 8:427.
- Zhang Y, Li P, Feng J, Wu M (2016) Dysfunction of NMDA receptors in Alzheimer's disease. Neurol Sci 37:1039-1047.
- Zhao LN, Long H, Mu Y, Chew LY (2012) The toxicity of amyloid beta oligomers. Int J Mol Sci 13:7303-7327.
- Zheng H, Koo EH (2006) The amyloid precursor protein: beyond amyloid. Mol Neurodegener 1:5.
- Zheng-Bradley X, Rung J, Parkinson H, Brazma A (2010) Large scale comparison of global gene expression patterns in human and mouse. Genome Biol 11:R124.

ABBREVIATIONS

α-CTF	α C-terminal fragment
AD	Alzheimer's disease
Acp70A	accessory gland peptide 70A
AICD	APP intracellular domain
AIP	Aβ42-oligomer interacting peptide
ANOVA	analysis of variance
APH-1	anterior pharynx defective-1
ApoE4	apolipoprotein E4
APP	amyloid precursor protein
ARIA	amyloid-related imaging abnormalities
Αβ	amyloid-β
Αβ40	A β peptide with 40 amino acid residues
Αβ42	A β peptide with 42 amino acid residues
BACE1	β -site APP cleaving enzyme
BBB	blood-brain barrier
β-CTF	β C-terminal fragment
CAA	cerebral amyloid angiopathy
cdk5	cell division protein kinase 5
CNS	central nervous system
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
СҮР	cytochrome P450
D-AIP	AIP composed of D-amino acids
D-amino acids	dextrorotatory amino acids
dAPPl	Drosophila APP-like
DHB	2,5-dihydroxybenzoic acid
DIAN	Dominantly Inherited Alzheimer Network
dTau	Drosophila tau
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
elav	embryonic lethal, abnormal vision
ERG	electroretinography
FAD	familial AD
GMR	Glass Multimer Reporter
GnHCl	guanidinium hydrochloride
GSK-3β	glycogen synthase kinase-3β
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
ITO	indium titanium oxide
K _D	overall equilibrium dissociation constant
<i>k</i> _d	dissociation rate constant
L-AIP	AIP composed of L-amino acids

L-amino acids	levorotatory amino acids
LTP	long-term potentiation
mAbs	monoclonal antibodies
MALDI-MSI	matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry imaging
MALDI-TOF	matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry
MAP	microtubule-associated protein
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
NFT	neurofibrillary tangle
NHP	non-human primates
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PEN-2	presenilin enhancer-2
PHF	paired helical filaments
PSEN1/2	presenilin-1 or -2
RING	rapid iterative negative geotaxis assay
RU-486	mifepristone
sAPPβ	soluble APPβ
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEM	Standard Error of Mean
SP	sex peptide
SPR	surface plasmon resonance
T _p	preferred temperature
UAS	upstream-activating sequence
WCE	whole cell extract buffer